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2017 2016 2015 2014

Incoming orders (EUR million) 78.0 82.5 87.0 73.1

Revenue (EUR million) 78.7 80.4 82.3 74.5

EBIT (operating) (EUR million) 1.1 6.7 7.1 5.2

EBITDA (IFRS) (EUR million) 6.8 12.3 10.8 10.1

EBIT (IFRS) (EUR million) 2.3 7.2 5.5 5.9

Consolidated profit (IFRS) (EUR million) 0.7 5.7 4.5 3.8

Earnings per share (IFRS) (EUR) 0.10 0.82 0.65 0.58

Non-current assets (EUR million) 45.9 48.9 47.1 44.5

Current assets (EUR million) 34.8 34.0 35.4 32.5

Equity (EUR million) 52.3 47.6 42.3 37.0

Equity ratio 65 % 57 % 51 % 48 %

Cash and cash equivalents (EUR million) 10.3 10.9 9.2 8.8

Number of employees (annual average) 415 430 429 411

Consolidated Key Figures
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Dear ShareholDerS, employeeS, 
partnerS anD FrienDS oF SoFting,

2017 was a year of contrasting emotions for all of 
us, with both negative and positive surprises along 
the way. Our two segments performed as expected 
in the first nine months of the past financial year. 
The Industrial segment delivered strong growth in 
both revenue and earnings. The Automotive seg-
ment’s revenue was weaker year-on-year, and 
earnings were negative. Overall, revenue remained 
at the previous year’s level, leading to a decline in 
earnings (EBIT). 
In the fourth quarter, a major customer who had 
expressed the intention to acquire the product 

rights for a proprietary product that Softing AG finished developing at the beginning of the year postponed 
its acquisition. After making an initial payment in the second quarter of 2017, the customer was expected 
to acquire the remaining rights in the fourth quarter of last year and make a final payment of approxi-
mately EUR 2 million. Projections indicated that we could not offset the delay of such a large EBIT contri-
bution in the fourth quarter of 2017, especially since exchange rate movements in the euro/US dollar pair 
put further pressure on our financials.
Reducing our guidance for the 2017 financial year and announcing this immediately by ad hoc release was 
extremely disappointing for us, particularly as all significant developments to date have been moving in 
the right direction. Overall, Softing was unable to compensate for weaker sales in the German market in 
the 2017 financial year despite significant growth in the business in the USA and Asia. The generated reve-
nue of EUR 78.7 million (previous year: EUR 80.4 million) remained slightly below the level of the previous 
year and missed the target of EUR 82.0 million. EBITDA during the reporting year totaled EUR 6.8 million 
(previous year: EUR 12.3 million), which corresponds to an EBITDA margin of 9 % (previous year: 15 %). In 
2017, this resulted in EBIT of EUR 2.3 million (previous year: EUR 7.2 million, including the one-time effect 
of lowering the variable purchase price of EUR 4.1 million for OLDI), and in consolidated net profit for the 
year of EUR 0.7 million after EUR 5.7 million in the previous year.
The IT Networks segment was still part of the Industrial segment in 2016. In 2017, the IT Networks seg-
ment achieved double-digit revenue growth and, in light of the continued positive business outlook, satis-
fied the criteria necessary to become a separate segment that we are reporting in a modified form for the 
first time in this annual report.
The Company clearly turned a corner in early December when our US subsidiary Online Development Inc.  
(OLDI), headquartered in Knoxville, Tennessee, received the largest order in its history, worth almost 
USD 3 million, to develop and exclusively supply electronics and software for controlling and monitoring 
electric drive systems. Once development is complete and production begins, additional annual product 
revenue of up to USD 2 million is expected over a period of more than four years. This is yet another con-
firmation that our acquisition of OLDI has created a sustainable foundation for the business of the Indus-
trial segment.
With further incoming orders totaling more than EUR 2 million in the Industrial segment from the process 
industry, particularly the oil and gas sector, we have secured a substantial part of our planned annual rev-
enue for 2018 since January of this year. However, due to third-party supplies and complex manufacturing 
processes, this revenue will not be realized until the fourth quarter.
In early February, we established Softing Technology Shanghai together with our long-term auto motive 
sales partner Windhill to take account of the sharp rise in demand for the development of complex 
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technologies for semi-autonomous driving as well as for hybrid and electric vehicles and appropriate 
adapted solutions in the development and diagnostics of control units in China. Our new company can 
now directly offer these services locally, which creates growth opportunities we would not be able to lever-
age in the same way from Europe. 
We reached a significant milestone in mid-March 2018 in the field of “over the air” connectivity between 
vehicles, machinery and a dedicated cloud as well as the user groups this cloud serves by adding Global-
matix AG to the Softing Group. Globalmatix AG is a provider of integrated mobile virtual network opera-
tor (MVNO) services that uses its cellular telephony network license to operate its own telecommunica-
tions and telematics platform. Inexpensive and secure access to data from mobile units is currently one of 
the key competencies required for developing the world’s fastest-growing markets and enables us to offer 
worldwide mobile data communications for vehicles and machinery in Machine-to-Machine (M2M) and 
Internet of Things (IoT) applications.
Typical use cases with strong revenue potential include connected car services such as in-vehicle access to 
diagnostic data, fleet management for large companies and leasing businesses, anti-theft surveillance, GIS 
data, car sharing, and operational profiles for delivery and service vehicles. The cellular network license 
also gives us full access to the forthcoming 5G networks that will be needed for autonomous (or as cur-
rently, semi-autonomous) driving. Initial applications are already available, with more to be developed 
over the course of the year. We expect to see significant new, subscription-based revenue from this acqui-
sition by early 2019. This will enable our customers to implement completely new business models such 
as pay per use. 
I am more convinced than ever that Softing will reach further crucial milestones during the current finan-
cial year that will reinforce our medium to long-term growth strategy and lay a foundation for profitable 
revenue growth in both 2018 and especially in the years from 2019 onwards. 
We are aiming to increase incoming orders, revenue and earnings in 2018. We are assuming that capital-
ization of development costs will remain stable due to consistently high levels of investment in new prod-
ucts, including the adaptation of our software to the cellular interface following the takeover of Global-
matix. Furthermore, we expect one-off charges of just under EUR 1 million resulting from transaction costs 
and from expenses which will be directly recognized as costs in 2018. This stands in contrast to opportu-
nities for income in the existing business but also economic risks in individual sales markets. For the full 
financial year, we expect a moderate increase in revenue and incoming orders to EUR 80 million. Taking all 
these effects into account, we anticipate earnings (EBIT) of approximately EUR 4 million. We expect a slight 
increase in revenue, EBIT and operating EBIT in both the Industrial and IT Networks segments. We antici-
pate EBIT and operating EBIT in the Automotive segment to improve considerably as a result of the cost 
reduction measures introduced. Both revenue and EBIT will benefit disproportionately towards the end of 
the year from product innovations in the Industrial segment and the launch of new, high-margin products 
in the IT Networks and Automotive segments. From mid-year, we will provide quarterly information with 
more detail on these figures.
Dear friends of Softing, my wish for this year is that we can celebrate achieving our aforementioned tar-
gets and reaching further milestones, and that our operating success will also be reflected in further share 
price rises. We hope you will remain committed to us and our company, and look forward to an exciting 
and groundbreaking year in 2018! 

Sincerely yours, 

Dr. Wolfgang Trier
(Chief Executive Officer)



Softing Shares

Share perFormance
The Deutsche Aktienindex (DAX) started 2017 at 
11,598 points and stood at 12,312 points at the 
end of the first quarter. In the first three months, 
the index therefore grew 6 % and, for the first time 
in its history, broke through the 12,000-point bar-
rier. By mid-June 2017, the DAX had risen to 12,889 
points, or 11 %, and then closed out the first half of 
the year at 12,325 points as of June 30 – another 
gain of 6 % since the beginning of the year. On 
October 12, 2017, the DAX passed the 13,000-
point mark for the first time and reached a his-
toric high of 13,525 points on November 7, 2017, 
a rise of almost 17 % compared to the start of the 
year. The DAX ended the year on 12,918 points, up 
more than 11 % on the start of the year. The SDAX 

increased more than twice as much – by around 
25 % – in 2017, while the TecDAX posted the most 
impressive performance with a rise of almost 40 % 
in the year under review.

Softing started the year at a share price of 
EUR 12.85, reaching its high for the year to date 
of EUR 14.30 on January 10. By mid-March, it had 
dropped to EUR 12.50 and then briefly fell to a 
low of EUR 9.71 on April 19, 2017, after publica-
tion of the 2016 annual financial statements on 
March 23, 2017. Just as quickly, the share price 
recovered. In early June, it again topped EUR 12.00 
following the successful capital increase, rising to 
an interim high of EUR 12.84 in mid-June (June 19). 
During the uneventful summer months, the price 

ShARe

ISIN / WKN DE0005178008 / 517800
Sector Industrial
Subsector Advanced Industrial Equipment
Ticker symbol SYT
Bloomberg / Reuters SYT GR / SYTG
Trading segment Prime Standard, Official Trading, EU-regulated market
Stock exchanges XETRA, Frankfurt, Stuttgart, Munich, Hamburg, Düsseldorf,  

Berlin-Bremen, Tradegate
Initial listing (IPO) May 16, 2000
Indices Prime All Share Performance Index
Share class No-par bearer ordinary share with a notional value of EUR 1.00  

per share
Share capital EUR 7,655,381
Authorized Capital EUR 2,783,776 until May 5, 2020
Contingent Capital EUR 3,221,256 until May 6, 2018
Designated sponsors ICF Bank AG Wertpapierhandelsbank

M.M. Warburg & CO (AG & CO.) KGaA
Research coverage Warburg Research

Key Data oF SoFting ShareS
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pushed steadily upwards despite volatile upward 
and downward movements to EUR 10.60 by the 
end of August. Almost two weeks later, the price 
began to rise sharply again after an investor con-
ference on September 12 to reach a temporary 
high of EUR 12.95 on September 21. The ad hoc 
release on October 27 on the postponement of 
revenue and earnings for an already-agreed con-
tract in the USA totaling around EUR 2.0 million, as 
well as potential negative currency effects until the 
end of 2017, halved the previous earnings fore-
cast. This also had a negative impact on the pub-
lication of the nine-month report on November 2 
and sent the share price into a downward trend for 
several weeks that bottomed out at EUR 7.70 on 
November 9, 2017. The positive announcement on 
December 12 that the Company won the largest 

US contract in its history, worth several million 
US dollars over several years, resulted in a trading 
volume on XETRA equivalent to one-tenth of the 
entire annual volume on XETRA in just five days. 
The share price recovered from EUR 7.85 and con-
tinued climbing to EUR 9.75 by the end of the year. 
Ultimately, it has to be said with regret, though, 
that the performance of the Softing share in 2017 
was below average. 

At the end of 2017, the market capitalization of 
Softing AG was EUR 74.6 million, well below the 
previous year’s figure of EUR 89.4 million. As a 
result of the successful capital increase in June 
2017, the share capital of Softing AG increased 
from EUR 6,959,438 to EUR 7,655,381 at the end 
of 2017, divided into the same number of no-par 
shares. 



ShARe

traDing Volume
The average daily trading volume of Softing shares 
on XETRA almost tripled in 2017 to 21,393 shares, 
compared to the previous year’s figure of 7,774 
shares. On selected exceptional days, between 
70,000 and 90,000 shares were traded on XETRA 
alone, reaching a peak of 135,000 shares. In the 
reporting year, around 5.4 million shares were 

traded on XETRA, compared with 1.9 million shares 
in the previous year. The total trading volume 
(XETRA, Frankfurt and other stock exchanges) was 
around EUR 57.5 million (previous year: EUR 36 
million). Softing supports the liquidity of its shares 
by using two designated sponsors, ICF Bank AG 
Wertpapierhandelsbank and M.M. Warburg & CO 
(AG & CO.) KGaA. 

earningS per Share
Earnings per share (EPS) were EUR 0.10 in 2017, 
compared with EUR 0.82 in the previous year. 
 Softing AG calculates earnings per share in accord-
ance with IAS 33 on the basis of the average num-
ber of shares outstanding. It has to be noted in this 
context that the capital increase carried out in June 
2017 has resulted in a dilutive effect.

ShareholDer Structure
As far as the Company knows, Helm Trust Com pany  
Limited, St. Helier, Jersey, UK, remains the single 
largest investor in Softing’s 7,655,381 shares. As 
of the reporting date, Softing AG was not aware 
of any notifications stating that the sharehold-
er’s equity investment had exceeded or fallen 
below any thresholds compared with the originally 
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reported share of 26.69 % in the Company’s share 
capital. In addition to this investor, there are a 
number of institutional investors and several pri-
vate anchor investors. The remaining shares are in 
free float. 

analySt recommenDationS
Warburg Research has analyzed the Softing share 
regularly for years in research reports and last year 
published five studies and updates on the share. In 
all its analyses, the bank issued a strong buy rec-
ommendation, stating a target price of EUR 12.00 
in its most recent study of the year on Decem-
ber 13, 2017. 

Information about analysts’ reports on  Softing 
shares is available at www.softing.com under 
Investor, News & Publications, Research. The Press 
& Interviews section contains information about 
the growth prospects of the Softing Group pub-
lished in a variety of financial newspapers and 
magazines such as Focus, Euro am Sonntag, Frank-
furter Tagesdienst and others. 

capital marKet communicationS
Investor relations are a key concern of the Group. 
In 2017, the Investor Relations team helped to 
raise awareness of the Company and enhance 
its attractiveness on the capital markets, particu-
larly by hosting various roadshows and numerous 
investor and analyst events during intensive prepa-
rations for the successful capital increase. Softing 
also participated in selected investor conferences, 
such as the German Equity Forum held in Frank-
furt am Main in November or the Munich Capital 
Market Conference (MKK). Our objective in 2018 
is to ensure ongoing professional support for exist-
ing and newly acquired investors by increasing our 
presence and visibility.

The activities in financial communications were 
complemented by numerous meetings with insti-
tutional and private investors as well as repre-
sentatives of the press. On the Company’s web-
site, investors can find relevant information on the 
Softing shares (Investor section) and about the 
Company. 



CoRPoRAte SoCIAl ReSPoNSIBIlIty

Accepting and Bearing Responsibility –  
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) at Softing

Maintaining and expanding our partnership with 
our customers and the technological leadership 
that we have attained is both our duty and our 
source of motivation for our daily work. We want 
customers and partners to see Softing as the right 
choice for demanding solutions in the fields of 
industrial automation, automotive electronics and 
network technology. Solutions created by  Softing 
employees with their expertise, creativity and 
dedi cation each and every day.

Our employees are our main assets. Making the 
effort to create an environment for our employ-
ees in which they enjoy their work and have social 
safeguards as well is a moral imperative, and it also 
makes business sense. Competitive salaries in com-
bination with a high degree of job security provide 
the safety required by our employees and their 
families. Technically and organizationally challeng-
ing tasks, relaxed interactions and fair treatment 
even in cases of conflict create a positive working 
atmosphere at Softing. In summary, this results in 
low fluctuation and the continual growth of our 
individual and collective knowledge.

Softing supports students by cooperating with uni-
versities to offer individual programs for the best 
students in each class and by providing a gener-
ous number of internships. All of the technical 
departments offer topics and jobs for bachelor’s 
and master’s theses in coordination with university 
institutes. A high double-digit number of students 
take advantage of this each year. For several of our 
employees, this was their route into Softing.

Our company’s favorable working conditions and 
maximum flexibility are increasingly bringing 
female employees on board. There is no question 
that we offer equal pay to men and women with 
the same experience for the same job. As a result 
of our company policy, the proportion of female 
employees at Softing has risen considerably in 
recent years. 

None of our human resources decisions are based 
on the age of the candidate. What counts is only 
the individual’s potential, skills, and personal com-
mitment. If these factors are a fit, we also offer 
more mature applicants the opportunity to play a 
role at Softing. We regularly hire employees who 
are older than 50. Longtime employees are offered 
the chance to work beyond retirement age if this 
seems reasonable in individual cases. Some of our 
employees are over 70, fit and highly motivated, 
and continue working professionally. Our company 
benefits greatly from their professional and life 
experience.

Softing is a global company with headquarters in 
Haar. Every single day, we experience a closely net-
worked world. Although a company of our size 
must focus its contributions primarily on its local 
environment, we take our global responsibility seri-
ously as well. In all of our commitments, it is impor-
tant to us to be very confident that our donations 
will be allocated effectively. In the past year, we 
mainly supported local projects of subsidiaries in 
Germany and abroad with high four-digit amounts.

As a sustainable and healthy company, we have the 
financial freedom to share our success with the 
community in which we do business. And we take 
advantage of it.



9

Combined Management Report of Softing AG  
and the Group for the 2017 Financial year

FunDamental inFormation about the 
group

buSineSS moDel
The Group’s Business Model
Softing is an established international software 
and systems house in three segments: Industrial, 
Automotive and IT Networks. The Company devel-
ops complex, high-quality software, hardware and 
complete system solutions. Hardware prototypes 
are developed by Softing itself; production takes 
place externally.

Through its Industrial segment, Softing is a lead-
ing provider worldwide of industrial communica-
tions solutions and products for the manufacturing 
and process industry. The products are tailored to 
the requirements of system and device manufac-
turers, machinery and plant engineers as well as 
end users, and they are known for being extremely 
user-friendly and offering functional advantages. It 
focuses on components and tools for fieldbus sys-
tems and industrial control systems, as well as on 
solutions for production automation.

Diagnostics, measurement and testing, the core 
topics covered by Softing’s Automotive segment, 
represent key technologies in automotive elec-
tronics as well as such closely related areas in elec-
tronics as the commercial vehicle or agricultural 
machinery industry. The Company’s range of prod-
ucts and services encompasses hardware and soft-
ware, customized solutions as well as on-site con-
sulting and engineering. Softing specializes in the 
entire life cycle of electronic control units and sys-
tems – from development to production all the 
way to services. Development work in Automotive 
is focused on standardization. Softing is an active 
member in the major standards bodies for auto-
motive electronics such as ASAM and ISO.

The IT Networks segment is dedicated to test-
ing, qualifying and certifying cabling in IT systems 
based on worldwide technological standards. Cus-
tomers use IT Networks’ measuring devices for 
copper and fiber optic networks to optimize their 
daily work processes and create security in data 
exchange.
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ebitDa
(in EUR million)
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Consulting, analyses, studies and training round 
out the range of services offered by all three oper-
ating segments. Softing primarily offers its services 
and products to the European and North Ameri-
can markets. But the Asian markets such as China, 
Japan and Korea are becoming more and more 
important.

Presentation of the Segments
Segmentation of the Softing Group is based on its 
internal reporting and organizational structure, 
taking into account the different risks and income 
structures of each individual division. Segmenta-
tion by divisions entails allocating Softing’s activi-
ties to the Automotive, Industrial and IT Networks 
segments. Please see the section on segment 
reporting in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements for further details as well as quantita-
tive disclosures on the Softing Group’s segments.

Softing AG 
Softing AG is the Group’s central management 
holding company.

industrial Segment
Industrial Automation Gmbh
Softing Industrial Automation GmbH is a leading 
provider worldwide of industrial communications 
solutions and products for the manufacturing and 
the process industry. The products are tailored 

to the requirements of system and device manu-
facturers, machinery and plant engineers or end 
users, and they are known for being user-friendly 
and offering functional advantages.

Softing Italia s.r.l.
Softing Italia is a subsidiary of Softing Industrial 
Automation GmbH. Softing Italia is based in Milan 
and serves customers in Italy locally. In 2017, this 
company once again made a positive contribution 
to the overall earnings of the Softing Group.

online Development Inc. (olDI) und Softing Inc. 
Online Development Inc. (OLDI) and Softing Inc. 
(both domiciled in Knoxville, TN), and the sales 
office Softing Inc. (Newburyport, MA) are orga-
nizationally subsidiaries of Softing North Amer-
ica Holding Inc. An Original Design Manufacturer 
(ODM) for almost 30 years, OLDI offers a portfolio 
of hardware and software products that supports a 
large number of industrial market segments. Major 
brand manufacturers use OLDI’s wealth of exper-
tise in industrial data processing and communica-
tion to enhance the market launch of both inno-
vative and proven technologies. Serving the North 
American market, Softing Inc. handles project work 
with its internal resources while providing local 
support to product business. In 2017, both Ameri-
can companies together made a positive contribu-
tion to the overall success of the Softing Group.

EBIT (Operating)
(in EUR million)
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Buxbaum Automation Gmbh
The sales office Buxbaum Automation GmbH, 
Eisenstadt serves customers in Austria locally. The 
company again made a positive contribution to the 
overall earnings of the Softing Group in 2017 with 
it sales in the Industrial and IT Networks segments.

it networks Segment
Softing It Networks Gmbh, Softing Singapore 
Pte. ltd. and Shanghai Softing Software Co., ltd., 
China 
Softing IT Networks GmbH, domiciled in Haar, near 
Munich, Germany, provides IT network diagnostic 
equipment, which is used in industrial automation, 
office installations, and data centers. Softing Singa-
pore, domiciled in Singapore, supplies test and 
measuring devices for copper and glass fiber data 
networks. This includes both the development and 
manufacture of ultra-high performance products 
in this field and accessories to support sales activi-
ties. Shanghai Softing Software Co., Ltd., domiciled 
in Shanghai, China, was formed in 2016 to mar-
ket Softing Singapore’s product range in mainland 
China. Apart from sales and distribution, the com-
pany provides technical support and calibration 
services for the products offered. The three  Softing 
IT Networks companies make a positive contribu-
tion to the Group’s international success with a 
growing product portfolio that consists of both in-
house and third-party products.

Automotive Segment
Softing Automotive electronics Gmbh
Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH, domiciled 
in Haar, Germany, offers products and services for 
diagnostics and test automation. The comprehen-
sive process-based approach of the Softing solu-
tions enhances quality and reliability in control unit 
communications. With over 80,000 installations, 
Softing holds a leading position in the growth mar-
ket for diagnostic and test systems in the field of 
automotive electronics. Automobile manufactur-
ers and system and control unit suppliers around 
the world rely on Softing’s proven hardware and 
software tools and solutions. 

Softing Messen & testen Gmbh 
Softing Messen & Testen GmbH, domiciled in Kir-
chen tellinsfurt, Germany, is organizationally a sub-
sidiary of Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH. 
Softing has successfully engaged in the field of 
automotive test solutions for more than 20 years 
and offers extensive expert knowledge on every 
aspect of automated testing of automotive elec-
tronics. The Company has already implemented 
functional tests and test designs for many control 
units used in motor vehicles. SMT (Softing Mess-
Technik) also covers the entire field of mobile and 
stationary data logging systems.
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Softing Project Services Gmbh
Softing Project Services GmbH, domiciled in Haar, 
Germany, organizationally is a subsidiary of Softing 
Automotive Electronics GmbH. To offer the best 
possible support, Softing Project Services GmbH 
provides high-quality services directly on custom-
ers’ premises. Competent consulting and engi-
neering services focused on the Company’s core 
competence – diagnostics, measurement and test-
ing – are rendered to customers. Its well-trained 
staff in some cases work directly on site. Establish-
ing close links between all important participants 
is a hallmark of the approach of Softing Project 
 Services GmbH and plays a decisive role in the suc-
cess of its projects.

Softing Automotive electronics Services Gmbh
Softing Automotive Electronics Services GmbH, 
domiciled in Kirchentellinsfurt, Germany, is a com-
pany that was founded in 2016 by Softing Auto-
motive Electronics GmbH. It functions as an inter-
nal development company in the Automotive 
segment.

Softing Services GmbH
Softing Services GmbH, domiciled in Haar, Ger-
many, provides services for Softing AG’s operating 
companies.

SoftingRom s.r.l.
The subsidiary SoftingROM s.r.l. (SoftingROM), 
which is domiciled in Cluj, Romania, is a subsidiary 
of Softing Services GmbH. SoftingROM forms an 
important pool of IT specialists for complex devel-
opment tasks within the Softing Group and is a 
strategically important part of the Softing Group.

Softing S.A.R.L
Softing S.A.R.L, domiciled in Paris, France, was 
founded in 2015 by Softing Services GmbH. It pro-
vides the legal and organizational framework for 
the sales and marketing activities of the Softing 
Group in France.

Business Model of Softing AG
Softing AG acts as a management holding com-
pany for the Softing Group. It generates revenue 
from invoicing for management services, legal 
assistance and quality management services pro-
vided to the subsidiaries. Beyond this, the business 
model is limited to the management of the equity 
investments. 

These consolidated financial statements were pre-
pared in accordance with Section 315e para 1 Ger-
man Commercial Code subject to application of 
the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as applicable within the European Union.
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internal management SyStem
The Softing Group uses key performance indicators 
(KPIs) to manage its business; these KPIs include 
consolidated revenue; earnings before interest and 
taxes (EBIT) and operating EBIT, which is derived 
from EBIT; EBIT adjusted for capitalized develop-
ment services and their amortization as well as the 
effects of purchase price allocation. Working capi-
tal is also managed via selected KPIs. Working capi-
tal mainly comprises inventories as well as trade 
receivables and trade payables.

Inventories are analyzed on an ongoing basis, and 
any need for writedowns is determined based on 
inventory coverage. Short-term sales forecasts are 
used to manage orders for new goods based on 
inventory availability. The aim is to have delivery 
capacity at all times so that our customers can also 
be supplied with products at short notice.

Trade receivables are periodically monitored based 
on their aging structure and tested for impairment. 
Customers are usually subject to internal credit lim-
its. There is strict follow-up of past-due receivables.

Trade payables are mostly settled using available 
cash discounts.

On account of its business model, internal man-
agement at Softing AG is based mainly on the prof-
its or losses under profit transfer agreements and 
dividends of Group companies. By managing the 
subsidiaries as explained above, Softing AG also 
manages the profits or losses under profit transfer 
agreements in the parent company itself.

Research and Product Development
For years, the Softing Group has invested a large 
portion of the cash generated by its revenue 
in research and development. In total,  Softing 
invested EUR 23.2 million (previous year: EUR 24.0 
million) in the development of new products and 
the enhancement of existing ones in connection 
with customer projects. This corresponds to an 
investment ratio (ratio of development costs to 
revenue) of 29 % (previous year: 30 %).

In the past financial year, amortization of capital-
ized development costs amounted to EUR 2.1 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 2.7 million).

At year-end, 251 employees were engaged in 
research and development (previous year: 267). 
Softing AG itself is not engaged in any research and 
development activities. These take place exclu-
sively at the operating entities. 
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In 2017, Softing Industrial Automation invested 
around EUR 8.2 million in the development of new 
products and the refinement of existing ones. Key 
developments in the reporting year are summa-
rized below.

The gateway product range for the process indus-
try has been expanded: the products pnGate PA 
and mbGate PA now enable PROFIBUS PA devices 
to be connected to PROFINET and Modbus TCP 
controllers. This allows straightforward integration 
of PROFIBUS PA devices with Siemens and Schnei-
der Electric controllers. The new mobiLink product 
combines access to HART, Foundation Fieldbus and 
PROFIBUS PA devices into a single mobile interface. 
mobiLink uses Bluetooth or USB to connect to a PC 
that is used to run the applications that communi-
cate with the devices. 

Turning to technology integration products, the 
3rd generation of the embedded communication 
modules for Foundation Fieldbus and PROFIBUS 
PA is now complete. This now permits manufac-
turers to develop Foundation Fieldbus and PRO-
FIBUS PA devices without programming. The cus-
tomer simply sets parameters in the firmware 
from  Softing to ensure devices are mapped appro-
priately. The dataFEED UA gateways introduced in 
2016 have been expanded to include other proto-
cols such as Modbus. In addition, a protocol has 

been implemented in the dataFEED middleware 
that permits access to the optimized components 
of an S7 1500. 

With the OPC-UA Toolkits for .NET, Softing now 
supports an advanced solution that permits com-
panies to develop their own OPC-UA products, 
which are available both on Microsoft Windows 
and other operating systems such as Linux. The 
OPC-UA Toolkit portfolio has also been expanded 
to include the uaToolkit Embedded, which allows 
the implementation of an OPC UA server and 
publisher in one field device. This rounds off the  
OPC-UA range, which now offers solutions at all 
levels of the automation pyramid.

Softing IT Networks GmbH was able to further 
demonstrate its leadership role in measurement 
technology for structured building cabling and 
data centers in 2017 by substantially expanding 
its Xpert product series. Alongside measurement 
technology for copper cable meeting or exceed-
ing the recently published Category 8 standard, 
 Softing IT Networks also offers measurement tech-
nology for fiber optic cable and Wi-Fi planning. In 
the reporting year, the groundwork was also laid for 
other products developed in-house. Following the 
publication of the Category 8 cabling standard in 
2016, Softing Singapore Pte. Ltd. observed strong 
activity among cable and component suppliers in 
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2017, as they launched their Category 8 solutions 
on the market. Softing works continuously with 
these providers on the field testing of these inno-
vative solutions. While Category 8 is expected to 
remain a niche product, this collaboration helps to 
bolster Softing’s reputation with these manufac-
turers, thereby contributing towards the mainte-
nance and expansion of business across all cabling 
categories.

Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH has con-
solidated the market positioning of its standards-
based diagnostic tools while also delivering the 
new communications solutions to the first major 
customer. In regional terms, support for inter-
national standards is starting to become increas-
ingly significant not just in Europe and the USA but 
also in Asia. Alongside the tools from the Diagnos-
tic Tool Set (DTS) product family, which have been 
deployed in large numbers at several customers for 
many years, the new machine shop system Softing 
TDX is also attracting increasing customer interest 
and could go into production use at some custom-
ers. The smartphone app CAR ASYST (CA), which is 
also used in a machine shop environment, is now 
being deployed in larger numbers. This app has 
now been provided with an expert tool, CA ANA-
LYTICS, for carrying out more in-depth fault anal-
ysis in specialized training centers and therefore 
now offers an even more efficient way to deploy 
the CA app. A development release of the  Softing 
VCF (Vehicle Communication Framework) – an 
interface that enables access to physical parame-
ters and the simulation of control units in devel-
opment and production – has been shipped out 
for initial customer evaluation. Deployment in test 
systems and test benches with the new VIN|ING 
family VCIs holds the promise of access to new 
customer segments, and synergy effects between 
diagnostic solutions on the same VCI platform.

In 2017, Softing Messen und Testen GmbH suc-
cessfully launched a number of new development 
projects oriented on new requirements in vehicle 
development work. This includes completion of a 
new SMT module for the CAN FD vehicle bus by 
mid-2018. An upswing has also been confirmed in 

the field of testing. The functional mockup units 
(FMUs) for 1 : 1 vehicle models announced in 2016, 
which include all electrical components in an alu-
minum section format, successfully established a 
new market presence. Another new development 
was the construction of a complete test bench for 
electric motors. From a model developed with 
the customer, Softing supplied a turnkey system 
with automated testing and reporting procedures. 
The LTW-1 transmission tester was optimized and 
posted record sales in 2017. This instrument tests 
plastic control unit housings for qualitative charac-
teristics in production. This approach is intended 
to avoid leakages and product recalls that result 
from these defects.

report on economic poSition

MACROECONOMIC AND SECTOR-SPECIFIC 
enVironment
Global Economy Expands Further in 2017
The expansion of the global economy acceler-
ated considerably in 2017. According to the Insti-
tute for the Global Economy (IfW) in Kiel, Germany, 
the global economy continued to gain momentum 
in 2017 after bottoming out during 2016. Over 
the summer period, global production experi-
enced its most dynamic expansion in a six-month 
period since 2010, growing by just over 2 %. The 
IfW indicator for global economic activity, calcu-
lated based on sentiment indicators from 42 coun-
tries, indicated further economic stabilization in 
the fourth quarter of 2017, with economic activ-
ity picking up in almost all major economies simul-
taneously. In advanced economies, the IfW indica-
tor has since reached a comparatively high level. 
By contrast, although the economic mood con-
tinued to be relatively subdued in emerging mar-
kets, it also improved considerably. Global pro-
duction developed significantly better compared 
to the IfW forecast a year earlier (3.5 %), growing 
by 3.8 % in 2017. After only moderate expansion 
at the start of the year, gross domestic product in 
the USA rose by 0.8 % in both the second and third 
quarter. This underlying economic trend was pri-
marily driven by growth in investments, while the 
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longstanding strong private household demand 
remained robust. In the fourth quarter, short-term 
forecast models once again signaled clear growth 
in US gross domestic product, albeit at a lower 
rate compared to the previous quarter. In Japan, 
economic momentum weakened only slightly in 
the third quarter, although domestic consump-
tion increased only marginally after very power-
ful growth in the previous quarter. Gross domestic 
product still grew by 0.6 % due to a significant rise in 
exports, thus posting a considerably stronger per-
formance than production potential. By contrast, 
economic growth in the eurozone remains primar-
ily driven by domestic forces. In the third quarter, 
gross domestic product grew at a slightly lower 
rate compared to the previous quarter of 0.6 %, 
and rose by 2.6 % year-on-year. While investments 
experienced particularly strong growth, private 
consumption also expanded significantly in light 
of rising employment and more attractive wages. 
It is noteworthy that the economies of all euro-
zone countries are currently on an upward trend. 
Production is currently increasing at a compara-
tively moderate rate in the United Kingdom where, 
at 0.4 %, the pace of expansion in the third quar-
ter was only slightly higher than in the first half of 
the year. The fact that purchasing power has only 
increased slightly continued to have a dampening 
effect. (Source: IfW, Kiel Economic Report No. 37, 
2017/Q4)

Mechanical and Plant Engineering:  
Upturn Continues in 2017
After a successful year, mechanical and plant 
engineering in Germany is entering the next few 
months confidently and with momentum. With 
revenue in the mechanical engineering indus-
try passing the EUR 220 billion mark for the first 
time, 2017 can be considered a year of expansion. 
The German Engineering Federation (Verband 
Deutscher Maschinen- und Anlagenbau – VDMA) 
expects momentum to remain unchanged in 2018, 
with production growth of 3 %. While the indus-
try will have to face many uncertainties, both in 
Germany and abroad, which could prevent a high 
growth rate, there is justified hope in Germany 

that the investment backlog that has built up over 
many years will gradually dissipate. Many of the 
older machinery and equipment in the market will 
be unable to cope sufficiently with increasing digi-
talization. This is an encouraging sign that domes-
tic orders will also pick up once again. Exports 
also were a reason for the success of German 
mechanical engineering during the year under 
review. Overall, goods totaling EUR 124.4 billion 
were delivered abroad in the first nine months of 
the year – a year-on-year increase of 6.2 % in real 
terms. Three out of four machines were intended 
for export, with the EU remaining by far the larg-
est sales region. 46.5 % of all exports were sent to 
the 27 partner countries of the European Union. 
Although the USA remained the largest individual 
export market during this period, China recorded 
significantly stronger growth, with exports rising 
by 24 % in the first nine months of the year. How-
ever, the growth of exports to China is expected to 
slow somewhat in 2018 due to the level already 
achieved. Mechanical engineering companies are 
monitoring the developments surrounding Brexit 
with concern. In the first nine months of 2017, 
exports to the United Kingdom – the fourth-larg-
est individual export market – fell by 4.5 % year-
on-year. If the British leave the customs union, 
VDMA calculations estimate that German mechan-
ical engineers will be threatened with additional 
export costs of more than EUR 180 million a year. 
There would also be additional costs for importing 
machinery from United Kingdom of EUR 44 million 
a year, plus additional expenses for importing com-
ponents. (Source: VDMA, article dated Dec. 12, 
2017 www.vdma.org)

Electrical Industry: Dynamic Trend Continues
According to the German Electrical and Electronic 
Manufacturers’ Association (Zentralverband Elek-
trotechnik- und Elektronikindustrie e. V. – ZVEI), the 
German electrical industry accepted 9.1 % more 
orders in October 2017 than in the previous year. 
As a result, the dynamic development of orders 
continued unabated into the start of the fourth 
quarter. Domestic orders jumped up by 7.7 % in 
October, while foreign orders increased even more 
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sharply by 10.4 %. Orders from eurozone custom-
ers rose by 12.3 % and those from partners in coun-
tries outside the eurozone climbed by more than 
9.2 % compared to the previous year. In the first ten 
months of 2017, orders were 10.2 % higher than 
in the corresponding prior-year period. Domestic 
orders rose by 9.5 % during this period, while those 
from abroad were up 10.8 %. Demand from the 
eurozone increased by 12.4 %, and customers from 
countries outside the eurozone placed 9.8 % more 
orders. Sector revenue totaled EUR 15.5 billion in 
October, up 8.0 % on the previous year. As a result, 
the rate of expansion recently increased even fur-
ther. In October, domestic revenue rose by 7.3 % to 
EUR 7.6 billion and foreign revenue was up 8.6 % 
to EUR 7.9 billion. Revenue from business with 
eurozone customers was 7.5 % higher than a year 
earlier at EUR 2.9 billion. Sales from transactions 
outside the eurozone climbed 9.2 % to EUR 5.0 
billion. Between January and October 2017, aggre-
gated electrical revenue totaled EUR 156.3 bil-
lion, up 7.1 % on its prior-year figure. Domestic 
revenue rose 5.1 % to EUR 74.6 billion, while for-
eign revenue climbed even more sharply by 8.9 % 
to EUR 81.7 billion. Business with the eurozone 
was up 8.1 % to EUR 29.6 billion, while business 
with countries outside the eurozone rose by 9.4 % 
to EUR 52.1 billion. (Source: ZVEI economic baro
meter, December 2017)

Automotive Industry: High Investments  
in Research and Development 
According to information from the German Auto-
motive Industry Association (VDA), the auto motive 
industry once again increased its research and 
development (R&D) spending. Figures provided by 
the European Commission indicate that worldwide 
expenditure rose to EUR 40.2 billion in 2016, up 
7 % on the previous year. The German automotive 
industry accounted for more than a third of total 
global R&D spending in the automotive sector. In 
addition to the continuous improvement of com-
bustion engines and investment in connected and 
automated driving, R&D efforts primarily focused 
on the development of alternative drive systems. 
The German automotive industry is seeking to 

spend EUR 40 billion on alternative drive systems 
by 2020. Over the next five to eight years, German 
manufacturers will launch more than 150 new 
models with electric motors. Electric motors will be 
present in all segments – from the compact class to 
SUVs – by 2020, with ranges of more than 500 kilo-
meters on one battery charge. Approximately one-
third of all worldwide patents in the area of elec-
tromobility and hybrid propulsion come from Ger-
many. The commercial vehicle segment is currently 
in the midst of a tremendous technological shift 
progressing even more quickly than that of the 
passenger car market. Efficiency and profitability 
are at the heart of all considerations, with digita-
lization, automation and alternative drive systems 
the main cutting-edge fields that every company 
is keeping an eye on and gearing their business 
model towards. Connecting commercial vehicles 
to each other and their environment can, in partic-
ular, contribute to improving the efficiency of road 
transport and utilizing capacity even more effec-
tively. Digitalization and automation will also have 
a positive impact on road safety and significantly 
reduce the number of accidents and collisions. In 
addition to digitalization and automation, the Ger-
man commercial vehicle industry is also conduct-
ing further research into traditional and alternative 
drive systems in order to make combustion engines 
even more efficient while at the same time focus-
ing all their efforts on refining alternative drive sys-
tems. (Source: VDM, press releases dated Dec. 1, 
2017 and Dec. 11, 2017, www.vda.de)

courSe oF buSineSS
In 2017, Softing was unable to compensate for 
weaker sales in the German market despite signifi-
cant growth in the business in the USA and Asia. Rev-
enue in 2017 was slightly lower than the previous 
year at EUR 78.7 million (previous year: EUR 80.4 
million). The target of EUR 82.0 million was missed 
due to weakness in the German market and the 
unexpectedly strong US dollar. EBITDA amounted 
to EUR 6.8 million in the year under review (previ-
ous year: EUR 12.3 million), and the EBITDA margin 
was 9 % (previous year: 15 %). The operating EBIT 
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of EUR 1.1 million was primarily impacted by prod-
uct development delays and the associated lack of 
orders in the Automotive segment. At one subsid-
iary that works for a major international automa-
tion electronics manufacturer, revenue recognition 
of just under EUR 2 million for the use of a com-
pleted Softing product development expected in 
2017 was delayed beyond the end of the year. Fur-
thermore, the considerable currency translation 
effects seen in the balance sheet because of the 
development of the euro-US dollar exchange rate 
had a negative impact on earnings for the year. As 
a result, the EUR 5.0 million forecast was missed. 
In 2017, EBIT reached EUR 2.3 million (previous 
year: EUR 7.2 million, including the one-time effect 
of lowering the variable purchase price of EUR 4.1 
million for OLDI). 

The IT Networks segment remained part of the 
Industrial segment due to its secondary impor-
tant in 2016. The IT Networks segment reached 
the threshold for becoming a separate segment in 
2017 as a result of good revenue performance. For 
comparability, please see the presentation in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Industrial segment generated revenue of 
EUR 50.9 million (previous year: EUR 57.6 million). 
EBITDA totaled EUR 6.3 million (previous year: 
EUR 7.6 million). EBIT of EUR 3.8 million (previous 
year: EUR 4.2 million) was impacted by the elimi-
nation of the one-time effect of lowering the vari-
able purchase price of OLDI in 2016.

Revenue from the Automotive segment remained 
below expectations at EUR 17.4 million (previ-
ous year: EUR 22.8 million), resulting in EBITDA of 
EUR 0.2 million after EUR 4.3 million in the previ-
ous year. As a result, EBIT fell from EUR 3.0 million 
to EUR – 1.0 million. 

The new IT Networks segment posted revenue 
of EUR 10.4 million and generated a break-even 
EBITDA of EUR 0.0 million and EBIT of EUR – 0.5 
million. 

This resulted in consolidated net profit for the year 
of EUR 0.7 million (previous year: EUR 5.7 million).

Net profit for the year of Softing AG, the Group’s 
parent company, fell by EUR 6.1 million from 
EUR 2.9 million in 2016 to EUR – 3.2 million year-
on-year in 2017 due to a lower profit transfer and 
first-time expenses from absorbing losses.

earningS
Results of Operations of the Group
The financial key performance indicators are rev-
enue, operating EBIT and EBIT. 

In the past financial year, consolidated revenue 
decreased by 2.1 % to EUR 78.7 million. Own work 
capitalized (product developments) was EUR 4.6 
million, EUR 0.1 million above the previous year’s 
level (EUR 4.5 million); the share of own work 
capitalized in consolidated revenue increased in 

the expense items developed as follows: 2017
EUR (in thsds.)

2016
EUR (in thsds.)

Cost of materials 32,247 31,353

employee benefits costs 33,031 35,122

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 4,494  5,100

other operating expenses 12,064 11,538

Operating expenses 81,836 83,113
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the 2017 financial year. Other operating income 
of EUR 0.9 million was significantly impacted by 
income from exchange differences of EUR 0.5 mil-
lion. Other operating income in the previous year 
totaled EUR 5.3 million. This includes income from 
the reduction of the variable purchase price of 
EUR 4.1 million for OLDI and one-time insurance 
payments of EUR 0.6 million related to the fire at 
the subsidiary Messen und Testen GmbH.

The cost of materials increased by EUR 0.9 million 
or 2.9 %. This was due to considerable growth in 
the US business, particularly in the hardware sec-
tor, which led to cost increases and higher cost of 
materials compared to the previous year. All told, 
the cost of materials ratio (cost of materials rela-
tive to revenue) was 41 % (previous year: 39 %), 
and gross profit (revenue less cost of materi-
als) decreased from EUR 49.1 million to EUR 46.5 
million.

Staff costs fell by 6 % to 33.0 million EUR, mainly 
due to lower variable remuneration and a reduc-
tion in the workforce. As of the reporting date, 
the Softing Group had 411 employees (previous 
year: 435).

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 
on intangible assets and property, plant, and equip-
ment decreased from EUR 5.1 million to EUR 4.5 
million, due to the decrease in write-downs of 
internally generated intangible assets.

Other operating expenses rose slightly by EUR 0.5 
million to EUR 12.1 million.

A key parameter for evaluating and managing 
results of operations is earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) and the operating EBIT derived 
from it (EUR 1,116 thousand; previous year: 
EUR 6,697 thousand), adjusted for capitalized 
development costs of EUR 4,600 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 4,512 thousand) and their amor-
tization of EUR 2,149 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 2,699 thousand).

EBIT fell from EUR 7.2 million to EUR 2.3 million, 
after 2016 EBIT was boosted by the positive one-
off effect from the reduction in the variable pur-
chase price for OLDI totaling EUR 4.1 million.

The interest result remained at EUR – 0.2 million 
and in 2017 was once again dominated by interest 
expense on the loans taken out to finance the pur-
chase price for OLDI. 

After accounting for taxes on income, consolidated 
profit amounted to EUR 0.7 million (previous year: 
EUR 5.7 million).

Results of Operations of Softing AG
As a management holding company, Softing AG 
only generated revenue from performing ser-
vices for its subsidiaries. These services princi-
pally entailed active corporate management of the 
subsidiaries as well as legal assistance and quality 
management services. Fixed portions of the costs 
incurred for these services were charged to the 
subsidiaries. the costs for general controlling activ-
ities were not allocated to the subsidiaries.

Softing AG does not itself operate directly in the 
market, instead receiving income from equity 
investments and from profit transfer agreements. 

Profit and loss transfer agreements are in place 
with the following subsidiaries:

Directly:
• Softing Industrial Automation GmbH
• Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH
• Softing Services GmbH
• Softing IT Networks GmbH

Indirectly (via Softing Automotive Electronics 
GmbH):
• Softing Messen & Testen GmbH 
• Softing Project Services GmbH
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Income from profit transfer is a key control param-
eter for Softing AG and constitutes the financial key 
performance indicator. This changed from EUR 4.2 
million to EUR – 5.6 million in the past financial 
year. The guidance for the income from profit 
transfer for the 2017 financial year was EUR 3.5 – 
4.0 million. This forecast was missed, primarily due 
to the absorption of losses in Softing Automotive 
Electronics GmbH and Softing Messen & Testen 
GmbH. 

Staff costs declined from EUR 3.0 million to EUR 2.0 
million due to lower variable remuneration. 

Other operating expenses rose overall by EUR 0.5 
million to EUR 0.7 million.

Due to lower costs related to the management of 
subsidiaries, revenue from affiliated companies in 
2017 fell from EUR 3.7 million to EUR 3.0 million.

No tax provisions were formed for liabilities arising 
from corporation and trade tax in the current finan-
cial year (previous year: approximately EUR 2.0 
million); instead, a reclaimed payment of EUR 0.9 
million for the years 2015 and 2016 was included 
in other assets. This reclaimed payment resulted 
from adjustments to earnings in the HGB financial 
statements of subsidiaries with project business, 
and from a corporation tax loss carryback. 

The net loss for the year was EUR 3.2 million (previ-
ous year: net profit for the year of EUR 2.9 million).

Financial poSition oF the group
Financial Management
As part of the Group’s financial management, the 
German subsidiaries are included in a cash pooling 
system managed by Softing AG. Where deemed 
necessary, the cash flows of companies doing busi-
ness in foreign currencies are hedged using con-
ventional forwards. No forward contracts were 
entered into in the past financial year.

Capital Structure
The equity of the Softing Group at the end of 2017 
rose to EUR 52.3 million (previous year: EUR 47.6 
million). Based on the authorization granted by the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting on May 6, 2015, 
the share capital of EUR 6,959,438 was increased 
by EUR 695,943 upon entry in the commercial reg-
ister on June 12, 2017. The cash inflow from the 
capital increase amounted to EUR 7.8 million. The 
equity ratio in the financial year was 65 %, after 
57 % in the previous year.

Non-current liabilities decreased from EUR 13.7 
million to EUR 11.1 million due to loan repayments 
and reclassifications to current liabilities.

Current liabilities fell by EUR 4.3 million to EUR 17.3 
million due mainly to the payment of the remain-
ing variable purchase price portion for OLDI, which 
was due for payment in 2017.

Capital expenditure
In the financial year ended, the Softing Group 
invested EUR 4.6 million in internally generated 
intangible assets. Investments in other non-cur-
rent assets amounted to EUR 0.8 million in 2017 
(previous year: EUR 1.1 million). Please refer to 
the Research and Development section for infor-
mation on investments in the specific segments.

liquidity
The cash flow from operating activities fell by 
EUR 5.9 million, from EUR 9.5 million to EUR 3.6 
million, primarily due to lower earnings.
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Funds used for investing activities amounted to 
EUR 9.8 million (previous year: EUR 6.5 million), 
comprising mainly investments in new product 
development and payment of the variable por-
tion of the purchase price for OLDI Online Devel-
opment Inc.

The cash flow from financing activities amounted 
to EUR 6.0 million and was impacted by the net 
proceeds from the capital increase on the one 
hand, and from the repayment of loans in the 
amount of EUR 0.3 million and the dividend pay-
ment of EUR 1.4 million, on the other.

The cash available to the Group amounted to 
EUR 10.3 million at year-end (previous year: 
EUR 10.9 million).

Financial Position of Softing AG
Capital Structure
Equity increased from EUR 33.8 million to EUR 37.0 
million as of December 31, 2017. The change is 
due to the payment of the dividend in the amount 
of EUR – 1.4 million, the net loss for the year in 
the amount of EUR – 3.2 million, and the capital 
increase of EUR 7.8 million. 

The equity ratios was 66.4 % (previous year: 70.0 %)

The decrease in provisions from EUR 4.0 million to 
EUR 1.7 million is principally the result of changes 
in provisions for variable remuneration and lower 
tax provisions.

Other liabilities increased from EUR 1.2 million to 
EUR 1.7 million due to non-payment of variable 
remuneration entitlements.

Liabilities to banks declined slightly by EUR 0.2 mil-
lion to regular repayments of the loans taken out in 
2014 in the amount of EUR 1.2 million and the off-
setting effect of taking out a short-term operating 
loan of EUR 1.0 million.

liquidity
The subsidiaries obtained financing almost exclu-
sively from Softing AG’s cash pooling system and its 
own cash contributions to the operations of sub-
sidiaries not participating in the cash pooling sys-
tem. Separate bank loans were taken out by sub-
sidiaries only to a minor extent. The fixed purchase 
price of OLDI was financed through EUR 11.0 mil-
lion in total loans obtained by Softing AG from two 
commercial banks in Germany. These amounted to 
EUR 6.5 million as of December 31, 2016.

Funds at year’s end were EUR 7.1 million (previous 
year: EUR 3.0 million).

net aSSetS
Net Assets of the Softing Group
Non-current assets comprise items including intan-
gible assets, goodwill, property, plant, and equip-
ment, and deferred tax assets and at the end of 
2017 represented 56.9 % of total assets (previous 
year: 59.0 %). This was offset by equity and non-
current liabilities representing 78.6 % (previous 
year: 74.0 %).

Non-current assets fell by EUR 3.0 million to 
EUR 45.9 million. This was due mainly to the 
decrease in goodwill resulting from the change 
in the USD exchange rate (EUR 1.0 million), a cur-
rency-adjusted reduction in other intangible assets 
(EUR 1.0 million) and a decrease in deferred tax 
assets (EUR 0.8 million).

Current assets comprise inventories, trade receiv-
ables, and cash and cash equivalents. This figure 
rose from EUR 34.0 million to EUR 34.8 million 
mainly due to an increase in trade receivables and 
current tax assets of EUR 1.7 million. The decrease 
in cash and cash equivalents had an offsetting 
effect of EUR 0.6 million.

Total assets in the reporting year fell to EUR 80.7 
million (previous year: EUR 82.9 million).
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Net Assets of Softing AG
The total assets of Softing AG rose by EUR 7.5 mil-
lion year-on-year to EUR 55.8 million (previous 
year: EUR 48.3 million).

Short-term loans of EUR 1.0 million were taken 
out in the 2017 financial year. In 2017, Softing AG 
received funds totaling EUR 7.8 million from the 
capital increase.

Loans to affiliated companies decreased by 
EUR 0.4 million to EUR 14.8 million due to repay-
ments. Cash and cash equivalents increased to 
EUR 7.1 million as a result of the capital increase.

Receivables from affiliated companies were up 
from EUR 12.7 million to EUR 15.4 million as a 
result of increased receivables from cash pooling.

 
OVERALL ASSESSMENT OF THE GROUP’S 
AND THE PARENT COMPANy’S POSITION
While the financial position and net assets of both 
the Group and Softing AG continue to be very solid, 
the results of operations deteriorated in the past 
financial year due to losses in some subsidiaries.

Apart from the events reported in the course of 
the year, there were no other risks to the Com-
pany that would have deviated from the Executive 
Board’s earlier assessments.

REPORT ON POST-BALANCE SHEET DATE 
eVentS
There are no events after the balance sheet date 
to report. 

report on opportunitieS, riSKS anD 
ForecaStS 

report on opportunitieS
The information provided applies to the Group 
and to Softing AG in equal measure. The opportu-
nities and risks arise in the individual subsidiaries 
of  Softing AG. Through the profit and loss transfer 
agreements concluded, these also have a direct 
effect, possibly with a time lag for the IFRS account-
ing, on the single-entity financial statements of 
Softing AG.

Softing Industrial GmbH
In 2018, Softing Industrial GmbH will accommo-
date market requirements by further focusing its 
activities and bundling the various topics into two 
business units. The Data Networks business unit 
will focus on manufacturing, and specifically the 
field of information networking and diagnosis at 
the production level of process automation. The 
Data Intelligence business unit will in turn concen-
trate on networking in enterprise communications, 
and the interfacing of information technology (IT) 
with operational technology (OT) and real-time 
data analytics. 

Building on the results of repositioning Softing as a 
corporate brand in the 2016 financial year,  Softing 
Industrial developed an underlying brand architec-
ture specific to each business unit at the level of 
the product programs. This architecture has two 
key objectives: first, to present the service/product 
portfolio in the context of the long-term trends of 
IoT and Industry 4.0 in a way that is easily under-
stood by the market; and second, to use the recog-
nition factors of consistent brand terminology and 
imagery to systematically raise this portfolio’s pro-
file for manufacturing.
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Softing IT Networks GmbH, Softing Singapore 
Pte. Ltd. and Shanghai Softing Software Co., Ltd., 
China 
At Softing IT Networks GmbH, the broader 
approach adopted by Sales and the expansion of 
the Marketing team were already achieving posi-
tive effects last year, fully offsetting negative exter-
nal factors. The new developments initiated by 
Softing IT Networks GmbH in 2017 have laid the 
foundations for extending the Company’s technol-
ogy and trend leadership to other fields in 2018, 
faithful to the “Softing First” slogan. A majority of 
these new development projects will mature in 
2018 and open up new markets. By expanding its 
work with international standardization  bodies, IT 
Networks has already made an impact that also 
had a positive effect on the enhancement and 
development of its own products. In 2018,  Softing 
Singapore Pte. Ltd. plans further improvements 
to its “WireXpert” product line, including wireless 
data transfer to remote file servers, which repre-
sents a significant customer benefit. This capabil-
ity, fully integrated into the existing “eXport” data 
management software, will be of particular value 
to larger customers with centralized project man-
agement functions. In 2018, more extensive mar-
ket entry can be expected from the joint venture 
between Shanghai Softing Software Co., Ltd. and 
established Chinese sales partner Wind Hill Tech-
nologies Inc.

Online Development Inc. (OLDI)
As a leading Original Design Manufacturer (ODM) 
with a broad-based portfolio of hardware and 
software products, OLDI supports a wide range 
of brand manufacturers and market segments in 
the industry. Corporate customers utilize OLDI’s 
deep knowledge of industry-specific ITC in order to 
shorten their time-to-market in both new and well-
established technologies. OLDI is continuing to 
expand its business to new customers, technolo-
gies and projects. These new projects involve wire-
less technology, functional safety and analysis soft-
ware. Business opportunities in 2018 and beyond 
are expected from the expertise established by 
these projects.

Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH
The product and service portfolio of Automotive 
Electronics was refined further in 2017 and inte-
gration of the new product portfolio successfully 
completed. Automotive Electronics has therefore 
commenced the market launch of new products 
in the VC (Vehicle Communication) portfolio unit. 
Migration to new products has been prepared at 
larger customers in particular. In addition, Softing 
Electronics has also started DTS 9 development in 
its Application Software portfolio unit. This is des-
tined to become a key driver for long-term growth.

Softing Messen & Testen GmbH
A significant upswing is expected in the measure-
ment technology industry in 2018. The invest-
ments put on ice by several customers in 2017 
have largely been reactivated for 2018/2019. A 
strategic partnership is also being pursued with a 
renowned development services provider. In the 
field of testing, Softing is also in the process of 
signing a sizable contract for a testing methodol-
ogy. Here, Softing will provide networking model 
support for a future control system architecture. A 
general agreement for collaboration in the field of 
mechatronics testing over the next three years has 
also been drawn up with a premium manufacturer.

SoftingROM
Softing continually develops new products and 
technologies in order to address the transition to 
new technologies, as well as to tap new markets 
and opportunities for growth. The Romanian sub-
sidiary SoftingROM has the task of boosting the 
required development services. Cluj in Romania is 
an ideal location for Softing since it can be reached 
relatively quickly and inexpensively from Munich. 
There are also many well-educated engineers and 
computer scientists in the region.
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riSK report
The information provided applies to the Group and 
to Softing AG in equal measure. The risks arise in 
the individual subsidiaries of Softing AG. Through 
the profit and loss transfer agreements concluded, 
these also have a direct effect, possibly with a time 
lag for the IFRS accounting, on the single-entity 
financial statements of Softing AG. The risks pre-
sented affect all segments. 

Softing is an internationally operating company 
involved in industrial automation technology, 
automotive electronics and network communica-
tion. The Company is exposed to a number of risks 
that are inextricably linked to its entrepreneurial 
activities. 

In particular, this concerns risks resulting from mar-
ket development, the positioning of products and 
services, contractual and non-contractual liability, 
and business processes. The Group’s business pol-
icy is to best exploit existing business opportuni-
ties. It is the task of risk policy to carefully weigh 
the risks associated with this. Risk management 
is therefore an integral component of all business 
processes and company decisions. The risk man-
agement system of the Group and of Softing AG 
comprises both risks and opportunities in equal 
measure.

Risk principles are defined by the Executive Board. 
They include statements on risk strategy, the 
willingness to take risks and the scope of these 
principles.

Risk analysis entails assessing identified risks in 
terms of the probability of their occurring (quan-
titative dimension) and the potential loss (dimen-
sion of intensity). Risk assessment is subject to 
practical limits, however – especially in the area of 
operating risks – because the number of potential 
risks is high but, more often than not, the available 
risk data is incomplete. As a result, subjective risk 
assessments must be made in many areas exposed 
to risk because the expenditure for risk manage-
ment should be reasonable.

To be able to assess the risks, they have been 
divided into several categories. Multiplying the 
probability of occurrence by the extent of loss 
gives rise to the following levels of risk:

a. Minor risks are insignificant for the Company 
and no action needs to be taken to mitigate 
the risk.

b. The extent of loss in moderate risks is limited 
and there is a moderate probability of occur-
rence. There is no immediate need for action. 
Efficient, effective measures are sufficient to 
reduce moderate risks or to manage them rap-
idly in the event of an emergency.

c. Major risks cause greater loss and/or have a 
higher probability of occurrence than mod-
erate risks. These risks should be reduced 
through appropriate controls or process opti-
mization. Where possible, appropriate meas-
ures should be taken to reduce the major 
gross risk to the moderate or minor level of 
risk.

d. Going-concern risks could jeopardize the con-
tinued existence of an organizational unit or 
the Softing Group as a whole. Measures must 
be taken immediately to reduce the gross risk.

The Group uses a number of control systems to 
monitor and control its risks. These include a cen-
tralized company planning process, among other 
things. Softing regularly monitor the achievement 
of its business goals and the risks that are con-
nected to this.

The risks involved in individual business processes 
were periodically recorded, analyzed and eval-
uated in the reporting period. The Group also 
assessed whether individual risks which are of 
minor importance when viewed in isolation could 
develop into a risk threatening the Company’s exis-
tence when combined.
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The risk factors mentioned below could have a 
strong negative impact on the Company’s business 
performance, cash flows and profit or loss. Risks 
that are believed to be of little relevance to the 
Group’s business at this time are not mentioned.

External Risks
The constant expansion of business with custom-
ers in the United States and other dollar countries 
has increased the significance of assessing cur-
rency risks. Every year, Softing checks if the cur-
rency risks in connection with the ongoing busi-
ness with its subsidiaries in the United States and 
Singapore should be hedged. If it appears neces-
sary, Softing uses conventional forward exchange 
deals as hedges. Overall, this risk is classified as a 
moderate risk.

performance risks
In 2017, revenue decreased slightly compared to 
2016. There is always a general risk both of under-
utilization of capacities and sustaining pressure on 
realizable revenues. Softing addresses these risks 
with stricter cost management measures and flex-
ible working hour models so that it can quickly 
adapt to any changes in demand. Overall, this risk 
is classified as a large risk.

The situation on the market is characterized by a 
rapid change of the employed technologies. This 
means that there is a danger that acquired know-
how may prematurely lose value due to an unex-
pected market development. Softing address this 
risk by actively participating in a large number of 
national and international working groups, which 
enables it to recognize technological trends early 
on and help actively shape them. Overall, this risk 
is classified as a large risk.

In certain areas of the Group’s business, both in the 
Industrial and the Automotive segment,  Softing is 
involved in the complex development projects of 
customers. These projects entail a certain realiza-
tion risk regarding the planned budgets and time 
frames. Any deviations could lead to a deterio-
ration of profit and claims for damages. Softing 
addresses with this risk by planning such projects 
in accordance with a process model defined by its 
quality management system, and by carefully mon-
itoring project progress with an alarm controlling 
system. The Group makes continual investments to 
further improve its already high quality standard. 
Overall, this risk is classified as a moderate risk.

When manufacturing products – particularly hard-
ware products – the Group makes considerable use 
of supplies from external companies. The inclu-
sion of third parties in its own value chain naturally 
reduces the level of influence Softing has on qual-
ity, costs and adherence to schedules. Unexpected 
price increases can affect the result considerably. 
Softing counteracts this risk through long-term 
supplier contracts wherever possible. Supplier 
failures can lead to delivery bottlenecks. Softing 
reduces the risk by regularly auditing its suppli-
ers and consistently limiting the share of deliveries 
from individual suppliers. Overall, this risk is classi-
fied as a moderate risk.

The Group’s products and services are used in the 
production of industrial goods. Downtime or mal-
function can result in significant damage to per-
sons and property. Softing reduces this risk by fol-
lowing a careful development process which is 
tailored to the specific scope of application. Signifi-
cant residual risks are covered through insurance 
policies. Overall, this risk is classified as a moder-
ate risk.
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Financial risks
Credit risks have not played a significant role in 
the past. The Group’s restrictive credit manage-
ment process allows it to identify imminent insol-
vencies faster and thus to counteract them in due 
time. Together, all of these measures again helped 
to forestall major defaults on receivables in 2017. 
Overall, this risk is classified as a minor risk.

Other Risks
As in all companies, the smooth functioning of 
business processes depends on the availability of 
the IT infrastructure. Attacks from the Internet, as 
well as other IT failures or damage to the IT infra-
structure, pose a serious threat to the Company’s 
ability to function. Softing implemented IT security 
measures which so far prevented damage caused 
by computer viruses and sabotage. This is why the 
Group believes that the probability of a threat to 
the security of its data inventories or information 
systems is manageable. Overall, this risk is classi-
fied as a moderate risk. 

The financial success of the Softing Group is rooted 
to a large extent in the skills and qualifications of 
its employees. For this reason, all employees are 
trained on an ongoing basis to ensure that the 
quality of their performance corresponds to the 
requirements of customers.

There is keen competition for highly qualified pro-
fessionals and executives in the labor market at 
this time. Qualified staff are a material prerequi-
site for boosting the Company’s shareholder value. 
Hence Softing always seeks to recruit new, very 
well trained personnel; integrate them as best as 
possible; promote them and establish a long-term 
collaboration with them. In addition to attractive 
employment conditions, Softing also offers its staff 
targeted training and continued education. But 
there is the potential risk that suitable profession-
als or executives cannot be recruited in the mar-
ket in due time, and that this might have a nega-
tive effect on the Company’s results of operations, 
financial position and net assets. Overall, this risk is 
classified as a large risk.

Even though not a single compliance case has so 
far arisen at Softing, the Executive Board and the 
legal department continue to take the issue of 
compliance very seriously. Through workshop par-
ticipation and a series of presentations, the Group 
ensures that current trends and issues are taken 
on board and adapted to the situation at Softing. 
Overall, this risk is classified as a small risk.

In management’s view, there are no acute risks 
that would jeopardize the Company’s  existence as 
a going concern or negatively impact its develop-
ment. 

Based on the risk policy and the current assess-
ment of the risks, the risk exposure of both the 
Group and Softing AG is regarded as manageable. 
On account of the strong financial position and 
net assets, and improving results of operations in 
2018, the Executive Board believes that the Group 
will be able to bear the residual risks not covered 
by insurance even in the event of unfavorable 
developments.

report on expecteD DeVelopmentS
Good Global Economic Growth Expected until 
2021
Economists from the Institute for the Global Econ-
omy (IfW) expect gross domestic product in Ger-
many to increase by an average of 1.8 % between 
2018 and 2021. Corporate investments will expand 
at a lower rate but over a longer period. The IfW 
anticipates 2.1 % growth in the eurozone for 
2018, weakening to 1.7 % by 2021. Global GDP is 
expected to grow by 3.8 % in 2018, before slowing 
to 3.6 % in 2019 and 3.1 % in the following years. In 
2018, the IfW predicts GDP growth of 2.3 % in the 
USA, 1.2 % in Japan, 6.4 % in China, 7.3 % in India 
and 5.0 % in the rest of Asia. (Source: IfW, Kiel Eco
nomic Report No. 36, 2017/Q3)
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Softing Industrial Well-positioned for 2018 with 
Outstanding Technology Portfolio
Analysts continue to forecast positive growth for 
the international advanced automation technol-
ogy markets, and the process/production auto-
mation market segment relevant for Softing 
Industrial. 

Softing’s acquisitions in 2014 further improved the 
breadth of its product mix while also strengthen-
ing its technological expertise. As a result, Softing 
Industrial is ideally positioned to benefit both from 
positive developments across the industry, and 
growth in its primary markets – Europe and the 
United States.

In 2018, Industrial Automation will continue to 
integrate and expand its product portfolio. Tar-
gets here include expanding the Gateway family 
and the diagnostics portfolio for Industrial Ether-
net while further enhancing the communications 
solutions. As in the past, a core driver here will be 
the synergy effects generated by the companies 
and product groups for the technologies and their 
marketing.

Softing Automotive
In the next year, Softing Automotive will once 
again focus on continued marketing of the stand-
ard products of DTS-8 and DTS-9, OTX Studio, inter-
faces of the HS family, measurement technology 
(SMT, µ series), and Softing TDX. In 2018, the Auto-
motive segment will proceed with the marketing of 
its newly development VIN|ING VCI family. There 
are also plans to expand customer presence in 
the emerging markets; further promising contacts 
in Asia were made with the aim of winning over 
customers with the VCIs in combination with the 
 Softing software tool chain. Activities in the area of 
test bench applications based on the HSX VCI prod-
uct family will continue to be expanded. The Auto-
motive segment will increase marketing efforts 
for its expanded range of measurement technol-
ogy products. A number of customers are already 
satisfied users of this sophisticated system; based 
on this success, the marketing approach will be 
extended to other OEMs and tier 1 suppliers.

Softing IT Networks
The broader focus of sales activities and intensified 
marketing efforts had a positive effect in the year 
under review, fully offsetting negative external fac-
tors. The new product developments initiated in 
2017 mean Softing IT Networks can remain true 
to its “Softing First” motto and serve as a techno-
logical pioneer and trendsetter in additional areas 
in the current year. A majority of these new devel-
opment projects will mature in 2018 and open up 
new markets. By expanding its work with inter-
national standardization bodies, IT Networks has 
already made an impact that also had a positive 
effect on the enhancement and development of 
its own products.

Outlook for the 2018 Financial year for 
Softing AG
It is the clear objective of Softing AG to system-
atically strengthen its own activities and expand 
its worldwide presence through targeted partner-
ships.

Thanks to a combination of its modern product 
portfolio, close proximity to customers and good 
financial reserves, Softing is in a better position 
than many competitors and thus will be able to 
benefit from opportunities in the market in the 
near term. 

The Company’s future development hinges largely 
on the continued positive development of the 
global economy. This is why the Company’s actual 
performance might deviate from the Executive 
Board’s expectations.

Based on projected earnings, the parent company 
is forecasting income from profit and loss transfer 
agreements of EUR 1.5 million to EUR 2.0 million 
for the 2018 financial year
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Outlook for the 2018 Financial year for the 
 Softing Group
The declared goal remains to grow the Group 
into a dynamic global company on the strength of 
regional expansion and focused market penetra-
tion. Softing is firmly committed to continuing the 
pursuit of this goal in 2018. Based on the Group’s 
positioning and customer feedback, Softing sees 
opportunities to increase incoming orders, reve-
nue and earnings in 2018. However, Softing faces 
a natural uncertainty regarding economic develop-
ments in Europe as well as in Asia and North Amer-
ica. Softing would not be able to avoid the impact 
of downturns in the demand markets. These exter-
nal risks are taken into account in the forecast as a 
dampening factor.

As a leading technology group, Softing must and 
will work to actively shape technical change. The 
speed of change continues to increase substan-
tially in all segments. For this reason, Softing plans 
to use the expertise that its current portfolio and 
acquisitions provide for the extensive development 
of new products and the extensive refinement of 
existing ones in 2018. For 2018, Softing is generally 
assuming that capitalization of development costs 
will remain largely stable due to increased invest-
ment in new products. Investment in some prod-
uct lines will decline due to completions, while 
new trends will receive a kick-start. This is in con-
trast to opportunities for above-average returns in 
the existing business. In the process industry, for 
example, particularly in the oil and gas sector, the 
expected economic recovery is a good indicator 
for data communication products. The aforemen-
tioned economic risks and uncertainties still exist. 
Overall, the Group expects a moderate increase in 
revenue and incoming orders to EUR 80 million. 
Given the current uncertainty, we cautiously antici-
pate EBIT of EUR 4.0 million and operating EBIT 
of EUR 3.7 million. At segment level, we expect a 
slight increase in revenue, EBIT and operating EBIT 
in the Industrial and IT Networks segments. We 
expect EBIT and operating EBIT in the Automotive 
segment to improve considerably as a result of the 
cost reduction measures introduced. We believe 

that new automotive products will have a discern-
ible impact on revenue from the middle of the 
year. We will provide quarterly reports with more 
details on these figures.

internal control SyStem anD riSK 
management SyStem releVant For the 
conSoliDateD Financial reporting 
proceSS

Definitions and Elements of the Softing Group’s 
internal control and risk management System
The Softing Group’s internal control system com-
prises all principles, procedures and actions 
required for ensuring the effectiveness, economy 
and propriety of the Company’s financial report-
ing as well as compliance with material legal 
requirements.

The internal control system of the Softing Group 
comprises an internal management and monitor-
ing system. 

Monitoring mechanisms that are process-inte-
grated or uninvolved in business processes consti-
tute the elements of the Softing Group’s internal 
monitoring system. Hence automated IT process 
controls besides manual process controls – such 
as the two-person integrity (TPI) principle – are an 
integral part of all process-integrated activities.

As part of the internal control system, those 
aspects of the risk management system that con-
cern financial reporting are focused on the risk 
of misstatements in the Group’s bookkeeping as 
well as its external reporting system. Besides risk 
management at the operating level – which also 
includes risk transfer to insurance companies 
through insurance policies serving to limit the risk 
of loss or liability as well as through suitable hedg-
ing transactions serving to limit foreign currency 
risks – the Softing Group’s risk management sys-
tem also comprises early detection as well as man-
agement and monitoring of risks, systematically 
and groupwide. The Softing Group has established 
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a monitoring system pursuant to Section 91 para 2 
German Stock Corporation Act that is aimed at 
early detection of risks that might jeopardize the 
Company’s existence in order to ensure systematic 
early detection of risk throughout the Group. For 
additional disclosures on the risk management sys-
tem, please see the section entitled, “Risk Report.”

As part of the risk reporting system, the Execu-
tive Board is regularly informed about risks. Risks 
are identified at an early stage and assessed. Risks 
are reported across all companies, with the risks 
recorded being listed and evaluated. The Executive 
Board is responsible for defining appropriate risk 
management measures. Significant individual risks 
are recorded independently of the regular cycle 
and reported without delay.

use of it Systems
Accounting transactions are recorded in the single-
entity financial statements of the German com-
panies’ subsidiaries using IFS’s bookkeeping sys-
tem. Our foreign subsidiaries utilize local providers 
of bookkeeping systems. All subsidiaries supple-
ment their separate financial statements by addi-
tional information using standardized reporting 
packages that are entered into Softing AG’s consol-
idation system in connection with the preparation 
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
The system from software manufacturer Lucanet is 
used as the consolidation system. All consolidation 
processes required to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements of Softing AG – e. g. acquisi-
tion accounting, asset and liability accounting, or 
elimination of expenses and earnings – are gener-
ated and documented in the consolidation system.

Specific Risks Related to the Financial Reporting 
process
Specific risks related to the Group’s financial report-
ing process may arise from unusual or complex 
transactions that could be treated erroneously in 
the accounting systems. Transactions that are not 
routinely processed also entail inherent risks. Addi-
tional risks related to the financial reporting pro-
cess arise from the latitude that employees must 

be given in regards to the recognition and meas-
urement of assets and liabilities. 

Material Control and Monitoring Activities 
Aimed at Assuring the Propriety and Reliability 
of the Financial Reporting Process 
All facets of the internal control system that serve 
to provide a proper and reliable financial report-
ing process ensure complete and timely recording 
of all transactions in compliance with all require-
ments under the law and the Company’s Articles of 
Incorporation. It also assures that inventories are 
taken in proper fashion and that both assets and 
liabilities are accurately recognized, measured and 
shown in the consolidated financial statements. 
These control activities also serve to ensure that 
the bookkeeping records provide reliable and plau-
sible information. If errors occur and are identified 
despite these activities, these are corrected with-
out delay.

The monitoring activities serving to ensure that 
the financial reporting is proper and reliable also 
comprise the analysis of transactions and develop-
ments using specific analyses of key indicators. The 
separation of functions related to administration, 
execution, accounting and approval – as well as 
their perception as such by a variety of individuals 
– limits the possibilities for engaging in intentional 
acts. For example, this also ensures that bookkeep-
ing processes are carried out both in the proper 
period and in full even if the IT systems that the 
Group companies use for the underlying account-
ing are changed. 

The internal control system also serves to make 
sure that changes in the Softing Group’s economic 
or legal environment are duly presented and that 
new or amended statutory requirements concern-
ing the financial reporting process are applied. 

The International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) represent the uniform accounting policies 
applied by the domestic and foreign entities included 
in Softing’s consolidated financial statements. 
Besides general accounting policies, in particular,  
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this concerns requirements related to the state-
ment of financial position, the income statement, 
the notes, the management report, the statement 
of cash flows, the statement of comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and 
segment reporting, taking requirements under EU 
law into account.

Softing’s accounting standards also govern con-
crete formal requirements that the consolidated 
financial statements must fulfill. They not only 
determine which companies to include in consoli-
dation, they also fix the components of the report-
ing packages that the Group companies must pre-
pare in detail. Among other things, these formal 
requirements serve to ensure the binding utiliza-
tion of a standardized and complete set of forms. 
Softing’s accounting standards also contain specific 
requirements regarding the treatment and settle-
ment of intra-group transactions and the reconcili-
ation of accounts based thereon. 

At the Group level, the specific elements of con-
trol designed to ensure the propriety and reliability 
of Group accounting principles comprise analyses 
and possibly revisions of Group companies’ sepa-
rate financial statements. The centralized execu-
tion of impairment tests for the cash generating 
units from the Group’s perspective assures that 
uniform and standardized measurement crite-
ria are applied. Furthermore, additional data are 
processed and aggregated at the Group level in 
regards to external information in both the notes 
and the management report, including informa-
tion related to events after the reporting period.

caveats
The internal control and risk management system 
makes it possible to record, process and measure 
all transactions pertaining to the Group as well as 
their appropriate presentation through the finan-
cial reporting process thanks to the Softing Group’s 
organizational, control and monitoring structures.

However, personal discretion, defective controls, 
criminal acts or other circumstances cannot be 
precluded by the very nature of the matter at hand 
and, as a result, may limit the effectiveness and 
reliability of the internal control and risk manage-
ment system such that even groupwide applica-
tion of the systems utilized cannot guarantee with 
absolute certainty complete, accurate and timely 
recording of transactions as part of the financial 
reporting process.

DISCLOSURES IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
SECTIONS 289(4) AND 315(4) HGB AND 
explanatory report

1. In 2017, the share capital of Softing AG was 
EUR 7,655,381 denominated in the same 
number of no-par shares, all granting the 
same rights, specifically voting rights. No 
shareholder or shareholder group has special 
rights.

2. Sareholders’ voting rights are not restricted 
by law or the Company’s Articles of Incorpora-
tion. The voting rights are not limited to a spe-
cific number of shares or votes. The Executive 
Board is not aware of any limitations regarding 
the voting rights. 

The shareholders of Softing AG are not lim-
ited by law or the Company’s Articles of Incor-
poration in their decision to purchase or sell 
shares. To be effective, the purchase or sale 
of shares does not require the approval of the 
Company’s boards. The Executive Board is not 
aware of any limitations regarding the assign-
ability of shares.
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3. We have been notified of the following direct 
or indirect equity interests that exceed 10 % of 
the voting rights: 

Helm Trust Company Limited, St. Helier, Jersey, 
Great Britain, notified us in accordance with 
Section 21 para 1 German Securities Trad-
ing Act that its voting shares in our Company 
exceeded the threshold of 25 % on Decem-
ber 5, 2011, and were 26.69 % on that date 
(1,504,720 voting shares). 

Of this amount, 26.69 % (1,504,720 voting 
shares) must be allocated to it in accordance 
with Section 22 para 1 sentence 1 no. 1. 

Attributed voting shares are held by the fol-
lowing companies it controls and whose inter-
est in the voting shares of Softing AG is 3 % or 
more in each case:
- Trier Familienstiftung
- Trier Asset Management GmbH
- Trier Vermögensverwaltung GmbH & Co. KG

4. The Company has not issued any shares with 
special rights conferring powers of control.

5. No employees may directly exercise their 
control rights in connection with their equity 
interests.

6. In accordance with § 7 of the Articles of Incor-
poration of Softing AG, the Executive Board of 
Softing AG comprises one or more persons. 
Even if the Company’s share capital exceeds 
EUR 3,000,000, the Executive Board may com-
prise just one person. Deputy members of the 
Executive Board may be appointed. The Super-
visory Board appoints the members of the 
Executive Board and determines the number 
of persons serving on the Executive Board. The 
Supervisory Board may appoint a chairman of 
the Executive Board and a deputy chairman of 
the Executive Board. 

The Supervisory Board is authorized to make 
amendments to the Articles of Incorpora-
tion insofar as they concern only the wording 
thereof. More comprehensive amendments to 
the Articles of Incorporation are subject to the 
requirements of Sections 133 and 179 Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act.

An average of 7,342,683 shares were out-
standing in the reporting year. 

In May 2015, the General Shareholders’ Meet-
ing authorized the Executive Board of  Softing 
AG to increase the Company’s share capital 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board by 
a total of EUR 3,479,719.00 on one or seve-
ral occasions up to May 5, 2020 by issuing 
new no-par bearer shares against contribu-
tions in cash and/or in kind (Authorized Capi-
tal 2015). Based on the authorization granted 
by the General Shareholders’ Meeting on May 
6, 2015, the share capital of EUR 6,959,438 
was increased by EUR 695,943 upon entry 
in the commercial register on June 12, 2017. 
The cash inflow from the capital increase 
amounted to EUR 7.8 million.

The authorized capital as of December 31, 
2017, was EUR 2,783,776.

7. The share capital is increased by up to 
EUR 3,221,256.00 by issuing up to 3,221,256 
new no-par bearer shares against contribu-
tions in cash and/or in kind (Contingent Capi-
tal 2013). The contingent capital increase will 
serve the granting of option rights or obliga-
tions to the holders of warrants arising from 
bonds with warrants under the terms of the 
respective options or the granting of conver-
sion rights or obligations to the holders of con-
vertible bonds under the terms of the respec-
tive convertible bonds issued by the Company 
up to May 6, 2018 in accordance with the res-
olution of the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
on May 7, 2013. The new shares will be issued 
at the respective option or conversion price to 
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be determined in accordance with the above-
mentioned authorization resolution. The con-
tingent capital increase will be implemented 
only in the event that bonds with warrants or 
convertible bonds are issued and only to the 
extent that the holders of the bonds with war-
rants or the convertible bonds make use of 
their option or conversion right or the holders 
of bonds obligated to convert or to exercise the 
option fulfill this obligation and the contingent 
capital is needed in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the bond with warrants or 
the convertible bond. The new shares issued 
on the basis of the exercise of the option or 
conversion right or the fulfillment of the con-
version or option obligation have a share in 
the profit from the beginning of the financial 
year in which they arise. The Executive Board 
is authorized, with the approval of the Super-
visory Board, to stipulate the further details of 
the implementation of the contingent capital 
increase. Said authority was not exercised to 
date.

On May 4, 2016, the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting authorized the Executive Board to 
purchase own shares until May 3, 2021, pro-
vided that such purchase is not made for the 
purpose of trading in treasury shares, and pro-
vided that the purchase price of said shares is 
not more than 10 % above or below the share’s 
average closing price at the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange during the last ten days preceding 
the purchase (share repurchase). The clos-
ing price shall be determined as the share’s 
closing auction price in electronic trading on 
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (XETRA trading) 
or a system succeeding XETRA trading. The 
authorization may be exercised once or seve-
ral times, in whole or in part. It is limited to 
purchasing shares representing no more than 
a total of 10 % of the Company’s share capi-
tal. Any treasury shares acquired under this 
authorization – together with other treasury 
shares that the Company has already acquired 
and still holds – may not exceed 10 % of the 
Company’s share capital. 

The repurchase serves to create an acquisition 
currency that is required in the medium term 
and that is available at a price which the Com-
pany believes to be considerably below fair 
value. The Company held no treasury shares 
as of 31 December 2017.

8. There are no material agreements entered 
into by the parent company that provide for a 
change of control following a takeover bid.

9. An agreement with one member of the Execu-
tive Board gives him the right to terminate his 
employment for cause if at least one outside 
shareholder or one shareholder group acting 
in concert reaches 1.4 million voting shares 
through possession or attribution. If this 
Execu tive Board member exercises this right 
to terminate his employment for cause, he is 
entitled to compensation equaling approxi-
mately two annual salaries.

baSic inFormation on the 
remuneration SyStemS For memberS 
oF corporate boDieS

Remuneration of the Executive Board is divided 
into a fixed salary component and a perfor-
mance-based, i. e. variable component. The per-
formance-based components are contingent on 
consolidated profit. Likewise, the performance of 
 Softing’s shares is key to the variable component 
of executive remuneration as well. Members of 
 Softing AG’s Executive Board are also entitled to a 
company car agreement. There is no stock option 
plan in place. For more details regarding the Execu-
tive Board’s remuneration, please see the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Pension provisions for former members and one 
current member of the Executive Board were rec-
ognized as of December 31, 2016. For details, 
please see the disclosures on pension provisions in 
the notes. 
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The Executive Board’s director’s contracts run until 
2021 and 2023, respectively. 

Each member of the Supervisory Board receives 
a fixed remuneration of EUR 10,000 for each full 
financial year of service on the Supervisory Board. 
In addition, they also receive a variable remuner-
ation equaling 0.5 % of consolidated EBIT before 
taking into account the Supervisory Board’s vari-
able remuneration. The chairman receives 200 % 
of the fixed and variable amount, the deputy chair-
man 150 %. The remuneration for the entire Super-
visory Board is limited to a total of EUR 200,000 
per financial year. 

Statement on corporate goVernance

The Executive Board of Softing AG reports on 
issues of corporate governance in this statement 
– also on behalf of the Supervisory Board – pur-
suant to both Section 3.10 of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code and Section 289a (1) of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB). The statement 
applies both to Softing AG as the parent and to the 

Group in equal measure. For the contents of the 
statement, please see this link on our website at 
www.softing.com: http://investor.softing.com/en/
corporate-governance/erklaerung-289-a-hgb

reSponSibility Statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance 
with the applicable reporting principles, the con-
solidated financial statements and the annual 
financial statements of Softing AG give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and profit or loss of the Group and of Softing AG, 
and the combined management report includes a 
fair review of the development and performance 
of the business and the position of the Group and 
of Softing AG, together with a description of the 
material opportunities and risks associated with 
the expected development of the Group and of 
Softing AG.

Haar, Germany, March 15, 2018
Softing AG

The Executive Board

Dr. Wolfgang Trier Ernst Homolka
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016

 

Assets Note
Dec. 31, 2017

eUR (in thsds.)
Dec. 31, 2016

eUR (in thsds.)

non-current assets

Goodwill C1/C2 14,540 15,494

Intangible assets C3/C4 27,268 28,262

 41,808 43,756

Property, plant and equipment C5 2,022 2,257

 43,830 46,013

Deferred tax assets D9 2,071 2,864

non-current assets, total 45,901 48,877

current assets

Inventories C7 9,067 9,214

trade receivables C8 12,067 11,742

Receivables from customer-specific construction contracts C9 760 848

12,827 12,590

Other current assets C10 656 712

Current income tax assets C11 1,991 626

Cash and cash equivalents C12 10,276 10,869

current assets, total 34,817 34,011

total assets 80,718 82,888
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equity and liabilities Note
Dec. 31, 2017

eUR (in thsds.)
Dec. 31, 2016

eUR (in thsds.)

equity

Subscribed capital C13 7,655 6,959

Capital reserves C13 19,214 12,270

Retained earnings C13 25,436 28,355

equity (Group share) C13 52,305 47,584

 

Minority interests C13 –33 –17

equity, total 52,272 47,567

Non-current liabilities

Pensions and similar obligations C14 2,181 2,237

long-term borrowings C15 4,153 6,596

other non-current liabilities C15 57 57

Deferred taxes D9 4,748 4,859

Non-current liabilities, total 11,139 13,749

Current liabilities

trade payables C16 4,574 4,856

Payables from customer-specific construction contracts C9 952 1,027

Provisions and accrued liabilities C17 163 287

Income tax liabilities C18 598 2,166

Short-term borrowings C19 4,788 2,660

Current non-financial liabilities C20 2,663 2,965

Current financial liabilities C21 3,569 7,611

Current liabilities, total 17,307 21,572

Total equity and liabilities 80,718 82,888
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2017

Note
Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2017

eUR (in thsds.)
Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2016

eUR (in thsds.)

revenue D1 78,708 80,424

other own work capitalized D2 4,600 4,512

other operating income D3 873 5,339

Operating income 84,181 90,275

Cost of materials D4 –32,247 –31,353

Staff costs D5 –33,031 –35,122

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses D6 –4,494 –5,100

     thereof depreciation/amortization due to purchase price allocation –1,223 –1,248

other operating expenses D7 –12,064 –11,538

Operating expenses –81,836 –83,113

Profit/loss from operations (EBIT) 2,345 7,162

Interest income D8 47 63

Interest expense D8 –235 –248

expenses from internal financing D8 –1,027 0

Earnings before income taxes 1,130 6,977

Income taxes D9 –404 –1,262

Consolidated profit 726 5,715

Attributable to: 

owners of the parent e4 742 5,702

Minority interests e4 –16 13

Consolidated profit 726 5,715

earnings per share (basic = diluted) 0.10 0.82

Average number of shares outstanding (basic) 7,342,683 6,959,438
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2017

Note
Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2017

eUR (in thsds.)
Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Consolidated profit 726 5,715

Items that will not be reclassified to consolidated profit or loss

Remeasurements C13 51 –397

tax effect –14 111

remeasurements 37 –286

Items that will be reclassified to consolidated profit or loss:

Currency translation differences   

Changes in unrealized gains/losses –1,161 1,018

tax effect 325 –171

Currency translation –836 847

Consolidated total comprehensive income –799 561

Total comprehensive income for the period –73 6,276

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:

owners of the parent –57 6,263

Minority interests –16 13

Total comprehensive income for the period –73 6,276

earnings per share (basic = diluted) 0.00 0.87

Average number of shares outstanding (basic) 7,342,683 6,959,438
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in equity
for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2017

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserves Retained earnings

Attributable 
to share-

holders of 
Softing AG

Non- 
controlling 

interests

Total  
equity

Capital

Net 
retained 

profits and 
other

Remeasure-
ments

Currency 
translation Total Interests Interests

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

as of January 1, 2017 6,959 12,270 25,342 –1,358 4,370 28,355 47,584 –17 47,567

Dividend payment –1,392 –1,392 –1,392 –1,392

Capital increase 696 6,944  0 7,640 7,640

Remeasurements  51 51 51 51

Deconsolidation effect 36  36 36 36

tax effect –14 403 389 389 389

Currency translation  –2,745 –2,745 –2,745 –2,745

Net profit for 2017 742 742 742 –16 726

Balance as of December 31, 2017 7,655 19,214 24,728 –1,321 2,028 25,436 52,305 –33 52,272

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserves Retained earnings

Attributable 
to share-

holders of 
Softing AG

Non- 
controlling 

interests

Total  
equity

Capital

Net 
retained 

profits and 
other

Remeasure-
ments

Currency 
translation Total Interests Interests

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

as of January 1, 2016 6,959 12,270 20,684 –1,072 3,523 23,136 42,365 –30 42,335

Dividend payment –1,044 –1,044 –1,044 –1,044

Remeasurements  –397 –397 –397 –397

tax effect 111 –171 –60 –60 –60

Currency translation  1,018 1,018 1,018 1,018

Net profit for 2016 5,702 5,702 5,702 13 5,715

Balance as of December 31, 2016 6,959 12,270 25,342 –1,358 4,370 28,355 47,584 –17 47,567
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2017

Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Jan. 1 – Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit (before tax) 1,129 6,977

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses on fixed assets 4,494 5,100

other non-cash transactions 1,194 –84

Cash flows for the period 6,817 11,993

Interest income –47 –63

Interest expense 235 248

Change in other provisions and accrued liabilities –124 –396

Change in inventories 147 99

Change in trade receivables –237 2,818

Change in financial receivables and other assets –516 –364

Change in trade payables –282 –842

Change in financial and non-financial liabilities and other liabilities –974 –3,685

Interest received 0 3

Income taxes paid –1,463 –289

Cash flows from operating activities 3,556 9,522

Investments in fixed assets –970 –1,096

Cash paid for investments in internally generated intangible assets –4,600 –4,511

Cash paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries / variable purchase prices –4,209 –914

Cash flows from investing activities –9,779 –6,521

Cash paid for dividends –1,392 –1,044

Cash received from short-term bank line 1,000 1,000

Repayment of bank loans –1,307 –1,241

Cash received from capital increase 7,864 0

Interest paid –147 –150

Cash flows from financing activities 6,018 –1,435

Net change in funds –205 1,566

effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents –388 117

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 10,869 9,186

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 10,276 10,869

For further information, please see item e3 of the Notes.
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Changes in Intangible Assets and 
Property, Plant and equipment

In the 2017 financial year

In the 2016 financial year

Cost

Jan. 1, 2017 Additions Currency  
differences

Disposals Dec. 31, 2017

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

Intangible assets

Goodwill 15,789 0 –953 0 14,836

Internally generated intangible assets 24,293 4,600 0 0 28,893

other intangible assets 23,067 126 –2,495 397 20,301

63,149 4,726 –3,448 397 64,030

Property, plant and equipment

other equipment, furniture and fixtures and office equipment 4,622 844 –69 1,261 4,136

67,771 5,570 –3,517 1,658 68,166

Cost

Jan. 1, 2016 Additions Currency  
differences

Disposals Dec. 31, 2016

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

eUR  
(in thsds.)

Intangible assets

Goodwill 15,539 0 250 0 15,789

Internally generated intangible assets 20,775 4,836 0 1,318 24,293

other intangible assets 22,088 564 660 245 23,067

58,402 5,400 910 1,563 63,149

Property, plant and equipment

other equipment, furniture and fixtures and office equipment 4,594 1,145 17 1,134 4,622

62,995 6,545 927 2,697 67,771
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Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment losses Carrying amounts

Jan. 1, 2017 Currency  
differences

Depreciation,  
amortization and 

impairment losses in 
the financial year

Disposals Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016

eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.)

296 0 0 0 296 14,540 15,493

14,220 0 2,149 0 16,369 12,524 10,073

4,877 –487 1,562 395 5,557 14,744 18,190

19,393 –487 3,711 395 22,222 41,808 43,756

2,365 –33 783 1,001 2,114 2,022 2,257

21,758 –520 4,494 1,396 24,336 43,830 46,013

Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment losses Carrying amounts

Jan. 1, 2016 Currency  
differences

Depreciation,  
amortization and 

impairment losses in 
the financial year

Disposals Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.) eUR (in thsds.)

296 0 0 0 296 15,493 15,243

12,514 0 2,699 993 14,220 10,073 8,261

3,222 136 1,571 52 4,877 18,190 18,866

16,032 136 4,270 1,045 19,393 43,756 42,370

2,231 9 830 705 2,365 2,257 2,361

18,264 145 5,100 1,750 21,758 46,013 44,731
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the 2017 Financial year

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

1. BASIS

The consolidated financial statements of Softing 
AG were prepared in accordance with all Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
that were applicable on the balance sheet date 
and all Interpretations of the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards Interpretations Com-
mittee (IFRIC) that were binding for the financial 
year ended and applicable in the European Union 
in accordance with Regulation No. 1606/2002 of 
the European Parliament and of the Council on 
the application of international accounting stan-
dards. The term IFRS also includes the applicable 
Inter national Accounting Standards (IASs). Fur-
thermore, the provisions applicable under German 
Commercial law as defined in Section 315a para 1 
German Commercial Code (HGB) were also taken 
into account.

The consolidated income statement is drawn 
up using the nature of expense format. The con-
solidated financial statements are structured 
in accord ance with the provisions of IAS 1. The 
presentation in the consolidated statement of 

financial position differentiates between current 
and non-current assets. Assets are classified as 
current if they become due within one year. The 
consolidated statement of financial position also 
differentiates between current and non-current 
liabilities. Liabilities are classified as current if they 
become due within one year.

The reporting currency is the euro (EUR). All 
amounts are stated in thousands of euros 
(EUR thousand) unless indicated otherwise. These 
financial statements cover the 2017 financial year 
based on the reporting period from January 1 to 
December 31 of that same year.

The consolidated financial statements and the 
Group management report are published in the 
electronic Federal Gazette.

The Executive Board of Softing AG released the 
consolidated financial statements to the Super-
visory Board on March 15, 2018. It is the task of 
the Supervisory Board to examine the consoli-
dated financial statements and declare whether it 
approves them.

2. PURPOSE OF THE GROUP

Softing AG, headquartered in Haar near Munich, 
Germany, is the Group’s parent company. Softing 
AG is a stock corporation under German law. It is 
registered at Munich Local Court with the address 
“Richard-Reitzner-Allee 6, 85540 Haar.” 

The purpose of Softing AG and its subsidiaries 
is to provide analysis, consulting, development 
and implementation services in the context of IT 

projects as well as business studies, expert opin-
ions and training, especially in the areas of process 
automation and production data acquisition, sys-
tem and user software for micro- and minicom-
puter systems, long-distance data transmission, 
computer networks and commercial IT applica-
tions. The results of these activities are incorpo-
rated into the products marketed by the Softing 
Group.
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3. NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

Annual Improvements to IFRSs –  
2013–2015 Cycle
The IASB officially included the 2013–2015 cycle 
of annual improvements in its work program 
in December 2013 but discontinued this in July 
2014. A draft was originally expected in the third 
quarter of 2014, but due to the lack of items the 
IASB proposed that the single item identified 
be addressed as part of the 2014–2016 cycle of 
annual improvements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs –  
2014–2016 Cycle
On this page we summarize the developments in 
the 2014–2016 cycle. This was officially taken onto 
the IASB’s agenda in July 2014. The 2014–2016 
cycle also includes one proposed amendment 
from the 2013–2015 cycle, which was discontin-
ued in July 2014 due to a lack of issues to address.

Current project status
This project has been completed. The IASB pub-
lished Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2014–2016 
Cycle on December 8, 2016 and amended the fol-
lowing standards:

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards: Deleted the short-
term exemptions in paragraphs E3 – E7 of IFRS 1, 
because they have now served their intended pur-
pose (first-time application 2018).

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: 
Clarified the scope of the standard by specifying 
that the disclosure requirements in the standard, 
except for those in paragraphs B10–B16, apply to 
an entity’s interests listed in paragraph 5 that are 
classified as held for sale, as held for distribution 
or as discontinued operations in accordance with 
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Dis-
continued Operations (first-time application 2017).

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ven-
tures: Clarified that the election to measure at fair 
value through profit or loss an investment in an 
associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity 
that is a venture capital organization, or other qual-
ifying entity, is available for each investment in an 
associate or joint venture on an investment-by-
investment basis, upon initial recognition (first-
time application 2018).

Application of these amendments does not materi-
ally affect the disclosures in the notes. The amend-
ments were applied for the first time in 2017.

The following revised Standards do not have any 
material effects on the consolidated financial 
statements:

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes – Recognition 
of Deferred Taxes for Unrealized Losses (first-time 
application 2019).

Amendments to IAS 7 Statements of Cash Flow – 
Disclosure Initiative (first-time application 2017).

Standards and Interpretations not Applied Early
A number of new Standards and amendments to 
Standards and Interpretations can be applied for 
financial years beginning after January 1, 2018, 
They have not been applied early in these con-
solidated financial statements. None of these is 
expected to have a significant effect on the con-
solidated financial statements of the Group, except 
the following set out below:

IFRS 9 (first-time application 2018), Financial Instru-
ments, addresses the classification, measurement 
and recognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities. It replaces the parts of IAS 39, Finan-
cial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
that relate to the classification and meas urement 
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of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial 
assets to be classified into three meas urement 
categories: those measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income or profit and loss, 
and those measured at amortized cost. The deter-
mination is made at initial recognition. The classi-
fication depends on the Group’s business model 
for managing its financial instruments and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instru-
ment. For financial liabilities, the Standard retains 
most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change 
is that, in cases where the fair value option is 
taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair 
value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is 
recorded in other comprehensive income rather 
than the income statement, unless this creates an 
accounting mismatch. The Group will adopt IFRS 9 
prospectively in the financial year beginning on 
January 1, 2018. The Group will also consider the 
impact of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when 
completed by the IASB. The Group is currently ana-
lyzing the effects of the standard on its net assets, 
financial position and results of operations. 

The simplified approach to impairment is used to 
analyze the risk exposure of trade receivables. In 
this approach, provisions for risk in the amount 
of the expected losses must be recognized over 
the remaining term of all instruments regardless 
of their credit quality. When applying the new 
impairment model in the simplified approach for 
earlier recognition of expected losses on trade 
receivables, as of December 31, 2017 the Group 
therefore forecasts only a minor increase in the 
expected losses of EUR 36 thousand on portfolios 
of unimpaired receivables in 2018. 

A provision matrix can be used to simplify the cal-
culation of expected credit losses under the sim-
plified approach. The provision matrix is based 
on observed historical provision rates and will be 
adjusted to reflect forward-looking estimates.

IFRS 15 (first-time application 2018) provides com-
prehensive guidance on whether, when, and in 
what amount reporters must recognize revenue. It 
replaces existing standards addressing the recogni-
tion of revenue, including IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11 
Construction Contracts, and IFRIC 13 Customer 
Loyalty Programmes. IFRS 15 must be applied for 
the first time in reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018. In 2017, the Group analyzed 
the effects of the standard on its net assets, finan-
cial position and results of operations. Based on its 
completed assessment, the Group does not expect 
IFRS 15 to affect its net assets, financial position 
and results of operations.

On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued the final 
version of the new leasing standard, IFRS 16. The 
new rules must also be applied to existing leases. 
The amendments relate to accounting for (nearly 
all) leases which must be recognized at the lessee 
according to the “right of use” approach. Accord-
ing to this model, the lessee recognizes an asset 
for the right of use of the leased object during 
the lease period and a liability for the lease pay-
ments. The distinction to date between finance 
and operating leases was not retained. Instead, 
with only a few exceptions, all material leases will 
be recognized in the balance sheet of the lessee 
in the future. Simplification options are provided 
for short-term lease agreements with a term of no 
more than 12 months and lease agreements cov-
ering low-value assets.
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IFRS 16 (first-time application 2019) must be 
applied for the first time for financial years begin-
ning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application 
is not envisaged. The Group is currently analyzing 
the effects of the standard on its net assets, finan-
cial position and results of operations. The analy-
sis is expected to be completed in the first quar-
ter of 2018. According to an initial assessment, no 
extraordinary material impact is expected on the 
net assets, financial position and results of opera-
tions due to the Group’s limited use of leases.

The following revised Standards do not have any 
material effects on the consolidated financial 
statements: 

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – 
Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions

IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2015–2017 Cycle

• IFRS 3 Business Combinations  
(first-time application 2019) 

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements  
(first-time application 2019) 

• IAS 12 Income Taxes  
(first-time application 2019) 

• IAS 23 Borrowing Costs  
(first-time application 2019)
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B. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of Softing AG and its 
domestic and international subsidiaries have been 
prepared using uniform accounting policies. The 

1. RECOGNITION OF REVENUE

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the con-
sideration received or rendered. The following 
details apply to the recognition of revenue:

revenue
Revenue from the sale of products is recognized 
when ownership or risk has been transferred to 
the customer, if a price has been agreed or can 
be determined and if payment of such price can 
be expected. Revenue is shown net of discounts, 
including volume discounts, rebates and bonuses.

accounting policies were applied consistently for 
all periods presented in the consolidated financial 
statements.

revenue from Services
Revenue from services (= customer-specific con-
struction contracts) is recognized using the per-
centage-of-completion method. Recognition must 
be reliable as stipulated in IAS 18.14. Product sales 
which are directly related to a service are also 
recognized using the percentage-of-completion 
method in line with IAS 11.9. Revenue from other 
services are recognized as soon as the service has 
been rendered.

interest income
Interest is recognized using the effective interest 
method. Interest income from bank balances and 
other financial assets is recognized as income only 
if the Company is likely to partake of the economic 
benefit and if the amount of income can be reliably 
determined.
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2. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements as of Decem-
ber 31, 2017 include Softing AG and the following 

subsidiaries, over which Softing AG directly or indi-
rectly exercises control:

Softing Group as of 12/31/2017 Capital share

2017
 %

2016
 %

Softing AG, haar/Germany

Softing Automotive electronics Gmbh, haar/Germany 100 100

Softing Services Gmbh, haar/Germany 100 100

Softing Project Services Gmbh, haar/Germany 100 100

Softing Messen und testen Gmbh, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 100 100

Softing Industrial Automation Gmbh, haar/Germany 100 100

Softing Italia s.r.l., Cesano Boscone/Italy 100 100

SoftingRoM s.r.l., Cluj-Napoca/Romania 100 100

Buxbaum Automation Gmbh, eisenstadt/Austria 65 65

Softing Inc., Newburyport/USA 100 100

Softing North America holding Inc., Delaware/USA 100 100

olDI online Development Inc., Knoxville/USA 100 100

Softing It Networks Gmbh, haar/Germany 100 100

Softing Singapore Pte. ltd., Singapore 100 100

Softing S.A.R.l., Paris/France 100 100

Shanghai Softing software Co., ltd., Shanghai/China 100 100

Softing Automotive electronics Services Gmbh, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 100 100

As of December 31, 2017, the following changes 
occurred in the basis of consolidation of Softing AG 
compared to December 31, 2016: 

Merger of Samtec automotive software electron-
ics GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany into Auto-
motive Communications Kirchentellinsfurt GmbH, 
Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany.

Automotive Communications Kirchentellinsfurt 
GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany was sold effec-
tive December 29, 2017 and is no longer part of 
the Group. The sale has not resulted in any mate-
rial effects because it did not concern an operat-
ing business.

The following subsidiaries avail themselves of 
exemp tion pursuant to Section 264 para. 3  German 
Commercial Code:

• Softing Industrial Automation GmbH (Haar)
• Softing Automotive Electronics GmbH (Haar)
• Softing Services GmbH (Haar)
• Softing Project Services GmbH (Haar)
• Softing Messen & Testen GmbH 

(Kirchentellinsfurt)
• Softing IT Networks GmbH (Haar)
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3. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries are all companies that the Group con-
trols in terms of financial and operating policies. 
The consolidation of an entity is contingent on the 
possibility of control. According to IFRS 10, a con-
trol relationship requires power over an investee, 
returns, and the ability to affect those returns 
through this power. Power is defined as a situa-
tion in which the parent has the ability to direct 
the rele vant activities of the investee which signifi-
cantly affect the investee’s returns. Power can be 
demonstrated by way of voting rights or other con-
tractual rights. A combination of both is also pos-
sible. Power is exerted if an entity holds more than 
50 % of the voting rights in an investee, and no 
other contradictory agreements or circumstances 
exist. In assessing control, potential voting rights, 
economic dependence, the interest held com-
pared with that of the other shareholders, and 
voting patterns at shareholder meetings must be 
taken into consideration.

Subsidiaries acquired are accounted for using the 
purchase method. The consideration for the acqui-
sition is equal to the fair value of the transferred 
assets, the equity instruments issued by the Group 
and the liabilities assumed from the previous own-
ers of the acquired subsidiary as of the acquisition 
date. In addition, the consideration paid includes 
the fair value of any recognized assets or liabili-
ties arising from agreed contingent consideration. 
Acquired assets identifiable in the course of a busi-
ness combination along with liabilities and con-
tingent liabilities assumed are recognized when 
they are acquired at their fair value at the time of 
acquisition. For each acquisition of an entity, the 
Group decides on a case-by-case basis whether the 
non-controlling interests in the entities acquired 
are recognized at fair value or in the amount of 
their proportional share of the net assets of the 
acquired entity. 

Any contingent consideration to be paid by the 
Group is recognized at fair value at the time of 
acquisition. Future adjustments to the fair value of 
contingent consideration classified as an asset or 
a liability are measured in accordance with IAS 39 
and either recognized in profit or loss or in other 
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not remeasured and, 
when settled later, is accounted for in equity.

Transactions involving non-controlling interests 
without a loss of control are reported as trans-
actions with the owners of the Group acting in 
their capacity as owners. Any difference between 
the fair value of the consideration paid and the 
acquired interest in the carrying amount of the net 
assets of the subsidiary arising from the acquisition 
of a non-controlling interest is recognized in equity. 
Gains and losses arising from the sale to non-con-
trolling interests are also recognized in equity.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date on which control begins and until 
the date on which control ends.

Intragroup sales, expenses and income, receivables 
and payables as well as the results of intragroup 
transactions (intercompany profits) are eliminated 
during consolidation.
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets comprise goodwill resulting from 
acquisition accounting as well as other intangible 
assets and capitalized development costs. With 

5. DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Development costs for developing new products 
and for materially refining a product or process 
are capitalized if the product or process is techni-
cally and financially feasible; if there is an intention 
to complete it; if the development is marketable; 
if the costs can be reliably determined; and if the 
Group possesses sufficient resources to complete 
the development project. All other development 
costs are immediately recognized as expenses in 
the income statement. Capitalized development 
costs for completed projects are reported at cost 
net of accumulated amortization and impairment. 
In that connection, the costs also include allocable 

material and production overheads besides the 
costs of material and direct production. Adminis-
trative costs are capitalized only if there is a direct 
relationship to production. The Softing Group 
amortizes the development costs for new product 
lines and product versions over their respective 
useful life using the straight-line method; amor-
tization in the year the product lines or versions 
are completed is recognized on a pro-rata basis. In 
accordance with IAS 38, research costs cannot be 
capitalized and are immediately recognized as an 
expense in the income statement.

the exception of goodwill resulting from acquisi-
tion accounting, all intangible assets have a finite 
useful life.

6. GOODWILL

Goodwill arises in conjunction with the acquisi-
tion of subsidiaries and equals the total of the con-
sideration paid, the amount of all non-controlling 
interests in the acquired entity, and the fair value 
of previously held equity interests in the acquired 
entity, less the fair value of the net assets acquired. 
If the fair value of the net assets acquired exceeds 
the total of the consideration paid, the amount of 
all non-controlling interests, and the fair value of 
the previously held equity interests, the difference 
is recognized directly in profit or loss.

According to IFRS 3, goodwill is not amortized but 
subjected to an annual impairment test pursuant 
to IAS 36 if there is an indication of impairment. 

For the purpose of this impairment test, goodwill is 
allocated to a cash generating unit (CGU).

At Softing, the cash generating units correspond to 
the individual entities unless an entity’s business 
activity covers more than one segment. In this 
case, goodwill is allocated based on segments. The 
relevant cash generating units for goodwill are:

• Softing Messen und Testen GmbH, 
Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany 

• Softing Industrial Automation GmbH, Haar/
Germany

• OLDI Online Development Inc., Knoxville/USA
• Softing IT Networks GmbH, Haar/Germany  

(formerly Psiber Data GmbH) & Softing Singa-
pore Pte. Ltd., Singapore (formerly Psiber Data 
Pte.Ltd.)
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An impairment loss is recognized if the carry-
ing amount of the cash generating unit to which 
the goodwill is allocated is higher over the long 
term than the recoverable amount. The recover-
able amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. If the carrying amount of 
the CGU is higher than its recoverable amount, 
the difference is directly recognized as an impair-
ment charge in profit or loss. As the fair value less 
costs to sell cannot be determined with reasonable 
effort, the value in use is recognized.

The value in use of the cash generating unit was 
determined as follows: Based on the bottom-
up planning for the next four financial years as 
approved by the management of Softing AG, the 
future cash flows (before interest and taxes) of the 
cash generating unit were determined. The plan-
ning is based on historical data and the best pos-
sible estimates of management regarding future 
developments. In order to carry out the impair-
ment test, the management estimated the cash 

generated beyond the planning period, assum-
ing that growth of 1.5 % (previous year: 1.5 %) is 
recorded in future years. The value in use of the 
underlying cash generating unit was determined 
by applying the discounted cash flow method. The 
discount rate used is a pre-tax rate and reflects the 
specific risks of the Group company in question. In 
each case, it is calculated using the capital asset 
pricing model (CAPM), 

under which the costs of capital are comprised of 
the risk-free interest rate and a risk premium cal-
culated as the difference of the average market 
return and the risk-free interest rate multiplied by 
the company-specific risk (beta factor). The beta 
factor for this is derived from a group of compa-
rable companies. When determining the value in 
use, discount rates before taxes are taken as a basis 
for each cash-generating unit. 

An impairment loss recognized on goodwill is not 
reversed in future periods.

7. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired for consideration are 
carried at amortized cost. They are amortized in 
accordance with their respective useful life using 
the straight-line method. 

Software and technology is amortized over a 
period of three to seven years in accordance with 
its respective useful life using the straight-line 
method. Rights and business relations are amor-
tized over a period of five to twenty years.
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8. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost, 
less accumulated depreciation, usage-based accu-
mulated deprecation and usage-based accumu-
lated impairment losses. 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated 
using the straight-line method in accordance with 
its useful life. Hardware is depreciated over three 
years; furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 
five to seven years, and new equipment installed is 
depreciated over the remaining term of the lease. 
If fixed assets are disposed, cost and accumulated 
depreciation are derecognized; income/loss from 

the disposal of fixed assets is recognized in the 
income statement under other operating income/
expenses.

Costs related to repairs and maintenance work 
are recognized as expenses at the time they are 
incurred. Significant renovations and improve-
ments are only allocated to the carrying amount 
of the original asset or capitalized as a separate 
asset if it is probable that economic benefits will 
flow to the Group in connection with that asset in 
the future, and these benefits can be estimated 
reliably.

9. IMPAIRMENT

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of intan-
gible assets and property, plant and equipment at 
each reporting date for indications of impairment. 
In this case, the recoverable amount of the rele-
vant asset is determined for the purpose of deter-
mining the scope of the potential impairment loss. 

The recoverable amount corresponds to the fair 
value less costs to sell or the value in use, which-
ever is higher. The value in use corresponds to the 
present value of the estimated cash flows. An inter-
est rate before taxes that corresponds to market 
rates is used as the discount rate. If no recoverable 
amount can be determined for an individual asset, 
the recoverable amount for the smallest identifi-
able class of assets (cash generating unit – CGU), 

to which the respective asset can be allocated, is 
determined. Goodwill resulting from acquisitions 
are allocated to the CGUs that are to reap the ben-
efits from the synergies arising from the acquisi-
tion. Such cash generating units represent the low-
est reporting level in the Group at which manage-
ment monitors the goodwill for internal control 
purposes. The recoverable amount of a CGU that 
contains goodwill is tested for impairment at least 
once a year. An impairment loss is recognized for 
an asset immediately if its recoverable amount is 
lower than its carrying amount. If the recoverable 
amount of the asset or the CGU is determined to 
be higher after an impairment loss has been rec-
ognized, the write-down of the asset or the CGU 
is not reversed.

10. LEASES

The Company has only entered into operating 
leases. The lease payments are recognized over 

the relevant term on a straight-line basis. There are 
no finance lease agreements.
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11. INVENTORIES

Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value. As a rule, production supplies 
and goods for resale/finished merchandise are rec-
ognized at the weighted average.

Production costs comprise material and produc-
tion costs overheads directly attributable to the 
production process as well as reasonable amounts 
of the production-related overheads. Produc-
tion costs do not include selling costs and general 

administration costs. If the net realizable value at 
the balance sheet date is below cost, for instance 
because of long periods of storage, damage or 
reduced marketability, inventories are written 
down to the lower value. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price of the item in the course 
of ordinary business less estimated costs incurred 
until completion and less estimated necessary sell-
ing costs.

12. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are only recognized if Softing is 
a party to the agreement governing the financial 
assets. Financial assets are derecognized when the 
rights to cash flows from a financial asset expire 
or are transferred to a third party. When transfer-
ring rights, the criteria of IAS 39 with regard to the 
transfer of rewards and risks connected to owning 
the financial assets must be taken into account.

At Softing, financial assets are categorized as fol-
lows: (a) financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss; (b) loans and receivables; and (c) avail-
able-for-sale financial assets. The categorization 
depends on the purpose for which the financial 
assets were acquired. Management determines 
the categorization of financial assets upon initial 
recognition.

a. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss
Assets classified as at fair value through profit 
or loss are financial assets held for trading pur-
poses. A financial asset is assigned to this cat-
egory if it was as a rule acquired for the pur-
pose of being a short-term purchase. Assets 
in this category are reported as current assets 
if the sale of these assets is expected within 
12 months. All other assets are classified as 
non-current assets.

b. loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed and determinable 
payments that are not quoted on an active 
market. They are classified as current assets as 
long as they are not due more than 12 months 
after the reporting date. If this 12-month 
period is exceeded, they are reported as non-
current assets. Loans and receivables are 
reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position under “Trade receivables 
and other receivables” and “Cash and cash 
equivalents.”
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c. Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivative assets that were either assigned to 
this category or none of the other categories 
presented here. They are classified as non-cur-
rent assets, if management does not intend to 
sell them within 12 months after the report-
ing date, and the asset is not due within this 
period.

Financial assets that are not classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss are initially measured 
at their fair value plus transaction costs. Financial 
assets belonging to this category are initially mea-
sured at their fair value; associated transaction 
costs are recognized in profit or loss. For subse-
quent measurement, financial assets are allocated 
to the categories listed above. 

The following applies to subsequent measurement:

Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.

Financial assets held for sale are recognized at 
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses from 
exchange rate changes being shown in other 
comprehensive income until realization. If there 
is objective evidence that the financial asset is 
impaired, the cumulative loss that had been rec-
ognized other comprehensive income is removed 
from equity and recognized in profit or loss. The 
Company includes all available information such 
as market conditions and prices, factors specific to 
the given investment as well as duration and scope 
of the decline in the fair value below the cost to 
assess whether the financial assets available for 
sale are impaired. Softing considers any decline 
that exceeds 20 % of the cost or continues for 
more than six months as an objective indication of 
impairment. Softing reverses an impairment loss in 
subsequent periods if the reasons for the impair-
ment no longer exist.

If there is objective evidence of impairment, an 
allowance equaling the difference between the 
carrying amount and present value of estimated 
future cash flows is recognized. Objective indica-
tions include, for example, a considerable or long-
term decline in the fair value of a financial asset 
to a level lower than the carrying amount, a high 
probability of insolvency or other types of restruc-
turing, or a breach of contract by the issuer such as 
considerable payment delays.

Financial assets of all categories are recognized as 
of their settlement date. Financial assets comprise 
the statement of financial position items cash and 
cash equivalents, trade receivables, securities and 
other financial receivables.

Trade Receivables and Other Financial 
Receivables
Both trade receivables and other financial receiv-
ables are classified as “loans and receivables” and 
measured accordingly.

Securities, Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Securities are classified as available-for-sale finan-
cial assets and accounted for at their fair value. 
Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other 
comprehensive income as part of the revalua-
tion surplus, allowing for deferred taxes. In case of 
impairment, the revaluation surplus is adjusted by 
the amount of the impairment, and the respective 
amount is recognized in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise all liquid 
assets with remaining maturities of less than three 
months on the date of acquisition or investment. 
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at their 
nominal value.
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classes of Financial instruments Measurement categories of financial instruments

Non-current financial assets

other non-current financial assets loans and receivables

other financial receivables (> 1 year) loans and receivables

Current financial assets

trade receivables loans and receivables

Receivables from customer-specific construction contracts loans and receivables

Current financial assets loans and receivables

Financial receivables (< 1 year) loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents loans and receivables

Non-current liabilities 

other long-term borrowings (> 1 years) Measured at amortized cost or at fair value

Current financial liabilities

trade payables Measured at amortized cost

Current financial liabilities Measured at amortized cost or at fair value

categories of Financial instruments

13. CUSTOMER-SPECIFIC 
conStruction contractS

Customer-specific construction contracts (soft-
ware development for customers) are recog-
nized according to the percentage-of-completion 
method under IAS 11, which stipulates that rev-
enue must be recognized in accordance with the 
stage of completion. The stage of completion is 
the proportion that contract costs incurred for 
work performed to date bear to the total contract 
costs (cost-to-cost method). Recognition must 
be reliable as stipulated in IAS 18.14. Advances 

received are offset against the degree of comple-
tion of the construction contracts. Contract work 
is recognized under receivables arising from cus-
tomer-specific construction contracts to the extent 
that in individual cases the degree of completion 
exceeds the advances received”. Any negative bal-
ance remaining after deduction of the advances is 
recognized under liabilities arising from customer-
specific construction contracts.



55

14. OTHER ASSETS

The other assets comprise non-financial assets. 
They are initially measured at fair value and then 
are recognized at depreciated or amortized cost.

15. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES

The tax expense for the period comprises current 
and deferred taxes.

Taxes are recognized in the income statement 
unless they relate to an item that was recog-
nized directly in equity or in other comprehensive 
income. In this case, the taxes are also recognized 
in equity or in other comprehensive income.

The current tax expense is measured based on the 
tax regulations of the countries in which  Softing 
and its subsidiaries do business and generate tax-
able income that are applicable on the reporting 
date (or applicable in the near future). Manage-
ment regularly reviews tax returns, particularly 
with regard to circumstances open to interpreta-
tion and, where appropriate, recognizes provisions 
in the amounts the Company is expected to have to 
pay to the tax authorities. Income taxes are deter-
mined using the balance sheet liability method. 

As a rule, deferred tax assets and deferred tax lia-
bilities are recognized for all temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of an asset or liabil-
ity and its fair value determined for tax purposes. 
Deferred tax assets are also recognized for tax loss 
carryforwards and tax credits.

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards must 
be recognized to the extent that the future use 
of these tax loss carryforwards is probable. All 
deferred tax assets on tax losses were therefore 
recognized taking their realizability into account.

Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the 
tax rates which, based on the current legal situa-
tion, apply at the time of realization or which are 
expected to apply in the individual countries. The 
effect of changes in tax rates on deferred taxes is 
recognized in profit or loss, or in equity, at the time 
the legal changes become effective.

Deferred tax assets are only recognized in the 
amount in which it is probable that taxable income 
will be available against which temporary differ-
ences can be applied.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets, which arise 
through temporary differences in the context of 
investments in subsidiaries are recognized, unless 
the Group can determine when the temporary dif-
ferences reverse and it is probable that the tempo-
rary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future as a result of this effect.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or dif-
ferent taxable entities where there is an intention 
to settle the balances on a net basis.
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16. PENSION PROVISIONS

Provisions for defined benefit pension plans are 
measured in accordance with IAS 19 using the 
projected unit credit method. This method takes 
into account not only the pensions and bene-
fits accrued but also expected future pension 
increases based on a prudent assessment of rel-
evant factors. Calculation is based on actuarial 
expert opinions taking into consideration biometri-
cal assumptions and a discount rate derived from 
the yield of high-quality corporate bonds with 

matching maturities. The amount of the provision 
for defined benefit plans recognized in the state-
ment of financial position corresponds to the pres-
ent value of the defined benefit obligation on the 
balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan 
assets. The present value is calculated by discount-
ing the expected future cash flows at an interest 
rate applicable to high-quality corporate bonds. 
Actuarial remeasurements are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

17. PROVISIONS AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

The other provisions are recognized for all other 
contingent liabilities and risks of the Softing Group 
toward third parties. They are recognized only if 
the current obligation (factually or legally) arises 
from a past event, if utilization is probable, and if 

the amount of the obligation can be estimated reli-
ably. The amount recognized comprises the pres-
ent value of the expected expenditure, including 
interest cost, if any, on non-current provisions, 
required to settle the present obligation at the bal-
ance sheet date.

18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are only recognized if Softing 
is a party to the agreement governing the finan-
cial liabilities. Financial liabilities are removed from 
the statement of financial position when they have 
been extinguished, i. e. when the obligations speci-
fied in the contract are discharged or canceled or 
expire.

Upon initial recognition, general and specific bor-
rowings are measured at fair value after deduction 
of transaction costs. They are subsequently meas-
ured at amortized cost. Any difference between 
the disbursement amount (after deduction of 
transaction costs) and the repayment amount 
is amortized over the term of the loan using the 
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities comprise the statement of 
financial position items “Trade payables” and “Cur-
rent financial liabilities”.
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19. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings include current liabilities to 
banks. Short-term borrowings are initially recog-
nized at fair value.

20. OTHER LIABILITIES 

The other liabilities concern non-financial liabilities 
and are recognized at their repayment amount.

21. EXERCISE OF JUDGMENT AND 
eStimate uncertaintieS

The preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with the provisions of the IASB 
requires forward-looking assumptions to be made 
and estimates to be used that have an effect on the 
carrying amounts of recognized assets and liabil-
ities, income, expenses, and contingent liabilities. 
The forward-looking assumptions and estimates 
essentially relate to the uniform determination of 
useful lives throughout the Group, the recognition 
and measurement of provisions (in particular pen-
sion provisions), and the realizability of future tax 
benefits as well as the material exercise of judg-
ment with regard to the expected time of occur-
rence, the amount of the future taxable income, 
and future tax planning strategies (tax forecasts). 
As a rule, the forward-looking assumptions and 
estimates are based on experience and knowledge 
gained from the past; they also take into account 
macroeconomic factors which might be used as a 
reliable basis. Forecasts are intrinsically uncertain 
and difficult especially because they are forward-
looking. In individual cases, the actual values may 
deviate from the assumptions and estimates. The 
assumptions and estimates are reviewed regularly. 

Changes are recognized in profit or loss as of the 
time better knowledge is obtained, or in the period 
in which better knowledge is obtained, as well as 
in future periods if the changes comprise several 
periods.

The most important forward-looking assumptions 
and other material sources of estimate uncertain-
ties as of the closing date that could result in a con-
siderable risk of having to make significant adjust-
ments to the recognized assets and liabilities in the 
next financial year concern the measurement of 
pension provisions, and the possible impairment 
of goodwill. The weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC) and the tax rates are the material para-
meters for carrying out the annual impairment test 
of goodwill.
 
Recognizing sales based on the percentage-of-com-
pletion method entails recognizing them based on 
the stage of completion. This method requires 
careful assessment of the stage of completion. Fac-
tors such as contract revenue, total contract costs, 
costs yet to be incurred until completion and con-
tract risks are material to the estimate. 
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22. CURRENCy TRANSLATION

Foreign currencies are translated using the func-
tional currency method as defined in IAS 21. With 
the exception of Softing IT Networks in Singa-
pore, where the functional currency is the USD, 
the functional currency of all foreign subsidiaries 
is the respective local currency because the mate-
rial foreign companies that are included in the con-
solidated financial statements operate their busi-
nesses independently in financial, economic and 
organizational terms primarily in their respective 
economic environment. The exchange rate risk 
within the Softing Group is essentially restricted to 
USD and RON.

For Group companies which do not report in EUR, 
the assets and liabilities are translated into euros 
at the exchange rate applicable at the balance 

sheet date, and expenses and income are trans-
lated at the annual average exchange rate for the 
purpose of preparing consolidated financial state-
ments. Equity is translated at historical rates. Cur-
rency translation differences, including those aris-
ing from acquisition accounting, are recognized in 
other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising during 
an acquisition of a foreign entity are recognized as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and trans-
lated at the rate of exchange on the closing date. 
All resulting currency translation differences are 
recognized in other comprehensive income.

The euro exchange rates applicable for currency 
translation changed as follows:

USD / eUR RoN / eUR

2017 2016 2017 2016

Closing rate (Dec. 31) 1.20 1.05 4.66 4.54

Average exchange rate 1.13 1.11 4.57 4.49

Currency gains or losses resulting from foreign 
currency transactions (transaction in a currency 
other than a company’s functional currency) are 

reported as other operating income or other oper-
ating expenses in the individual financial state-
ments of the Group companies.

There is discretion in assessing the criteria relevant 
to the capitalization of development costs and the 
amount of the hourly rates for personnel used in 
the capitalization. The following assessments, in 
particular, are subject to our discretion: whether 

the given asset possesses technical and commer-
cial utility for sale or own use; whether we plan on 
and are capable of completing the intangible asset 
and either using or selling it; and whether the asset 
will generate a future economic benefit.
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C. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
Statement oF Financial poSition

1. CHANGES IN THE BASIS OF 
conSoliDation

As of December 31, 2017, the following changes 
occurred in the basis of consolidation of Softing AG 
compared to December 31, 2016: 

Merger of Samtec automotive software electron-
ics GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany into Auto-
motive Communications Kirchentellinsfurt GmbH, 
Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany.

Automotive Communications Kirchentellinsfurt 
GmbH, Kirchentellinsfurt/Germany was sold effec-
tive December 29, 2017 and is no longer part of 
the Group. The sale has not resulted in any mate-
rial effects because it did not concern an operat-
ing business.

Due to the change in the EUR/USD exchange rate, 
the goodwill of OLDI Online Development Inc. 
changed by EUR 954 thousand in 2017.

The entities’ goodwill was tested for impairment 
pursuant to IAS 36. The recoverable amount of the 
CGUs was determined based on a calculation of 
the entities’ value in use. The impairment test did 
not result in any need to write down the goodwill. 
The following parameters were used for the items 
of goodwill:

• Discount rates before taxes 8.4 % – 12.1 %  
(previous year: 7.7 % – 12.2 %)

• Risk-free interest rate: 1.22 % – 2.84 %  
(previous year: 1.00 % – 3.05 %)

• Market risk premium: 5.69 % – 6.50 %  
(previous year: 6.00 % – 6.50 %)

• Beta factor (weighted average of a group of 
comparable companies): 0.99 – 1.08  
(previous year: 0.93 – 1.02)

A change in the interest rate by 100 basis points 
would not lead to a write-down of goodwill, nei-
ther would a decrease in the planned gross reve-
nue by 5 %.

Dec. 31, 2017
EUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
EUR (in thsds.)

Softing Messen und testen Gmbh 2,055 2,055

Softing Industrial Automation Gmbh 384 384

Softing It Networks Gmbh (Psiber Data Gmbh) 5,181 5,181

olDI online Development Inc. 6,920 7,874

Goodwill 14,540 15,494

2. GOODWILL
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The material planning premises include, in par-
ticular, the expected development of the market 
in relation to the performance of Softing AG, the 
change in both sales and profits and the weighted 
average cost of capital. General market forecasts 
and current developments as well as historical 
experience are used to establish the assumptions. 
In particular, the long-term growth rates reflect cir-
cumstances specific to the business.

Besides sales, the margin is the material driver 
of value in the determination of the recoverable 
amount. The discount rate also has a significant 
impact on the measurement gain or loss.

The margin is adjusted to expected developments 
in the market during the budgetary period.

3. DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The change in capitalized development costs is 
shown in the changes in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment (appendix to the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Expenditures for research and development (with-
out capitalized development costs) in the financial 

year just ended totaled EUR 18,647 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 19,460 thousand).

No impairment losses were recognized in addition 
to amortization.

The following overview shows the total expendi-
tures for research and development:

4. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The development of other intangible assets is 
shown in the changes in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment (appendix to the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements). 
No impairment losses were recognized in addition 
to amortization.

5. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

The development of property, plant and equip-
ment is shown in the changes in intangible assets 

and property, plant and equipment. No impairment 
losses were recognized in addition to depreciation.

2017
eUR (in thsds.)

2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Capitalized development costs  4,600  4,512

expenses not qualifying for capitalization 18,647 19,460

23,247 23,972



61

6. LEASES

The other operating expenses contain rental and 
lease expenses for buildings and cars of EUR 1,576 
thousand (previous year: EUR 1,576 thousand).

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Raw materials and consumables 2,307 2,803

Finished goods 6,760 6,411

inventories 9,067 9,214

7. INVENTORIES

Valuation allowances recognized in 2017 total 
EUR 63 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand). 
As in the previous year, no reversals of impair-
ment losses were recognized in profit or loss. The 

purchased inventories are subject to reservation of 
title until the purchase price receivable has been 
settled.

8. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

trade receivables 12,067 11,742

Receivables from customer-specific construction contracts 760 848

12,827 12,590

Aging structure of financial instruments from trade 
receivables and other receivables

Carrying 
amount

of which neither past 
due nor impaired

of which not impaired and past due  
within the following time bands

Less than 
90 days

91 to 
180 days

181 to 
360 days

More than 
360 days

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)

trade receivables 12,067 7,476 4,590 1 0 0

Receivables from customer-specific 
construction contracts 760 760 0 0 0 0

12,827 8,236 4,590 1 0 0
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The maximum counterparty credit risk corre-
sponds to the receivables’ carrying amount. 

As of Jan. 1
EUR (in thsds.)

Use
EUR (in thsds.)

Reversal
EUR (in thsds.)

Addition
EUR (in thsds.)

As of Dec. 31
EUR (in thsds.)

2017 295 15 0 118 398

2016 294 38 0 39 295

9. RECEIVABLES AND PAyABLES FROM 
CUSTOMER-SPECIFIC CONSTRUCTION 
contractS

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Receivables from customer-specific construction contracts 760 848

Payables from customer-specific construction contracts 952 1,027

net amount –192 –179

Carrying 
amount

of which neither past 
due nor impaired

of which not impaired and past due  
within the following time bands

Less than 
90 days

91 to 
180 days

181 to 
360 days

More than 
360 days

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)
eUR  

(in  thsds.)

trade receivables 11,742 9,305 2,148 289 0 0

Receivables from customer-specific 
construction contracts 848 848 0 0 0 0

12,590 10,153 2,148 289 0 0

Impairment losses changed as follows:

10. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Receivables from employees 48 13

other financial receivables 192 81

Prepaid expenses/prepayments 335 317

Advances paid 35 44

Other assets 46 257

656 712
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11. CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS

The current income tax assets concern corporation 
tax receivables amounting to EUR 1,991 thousand 

(previous year: EUR 626 thousand). The Group’s 
taxes are described in detail in section D 9.

12. CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS, CASH AND 
CASH EqUIVALENTS

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Cash and cash equivalents 10,276 10,869

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and 
bank balances and are measured at their nomi-
nal value as of the balance sheet date. Bank bal-
ances comprise time deposits and current account 
funds; these time deposit can be liquidated within 

three months. Cash and cash equivalents are not 
impacted significantly by foreign currencies. The 
maximum counterparty credit risk corresponds to 
the carrying amounts.

13. EqUITy

Subscribed Capital
As of the balance sheet date, the fully paid-in share 
capital of the Company was EUR 7,655,381 (pre-
vious year: EUR 6,959,438 thousand). It is divided 
into 7,655,381 (previous year: 6,959,438) no-
par-value bearer shares with a notional value of 
EUR 1 each. An average of 7,342,683 shares were 
outstanding in the reporting year. Based on the 
authorization granted by the General Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting on May 6, 2015, the share capital 
of EUR 6,959,438 was increased by EUR 695,943 
upon entry in the commercial register on June 12, 
2017. The cash inflow from the capital increase 
amounted to EUR 7.8 million. All no-par shares 
grant identical rights, especially identical voting 
rights. No shareholder or shareholder group has 
special rights.

Shareholders’ voting rights are not restricted by 
law or the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. 
The voting rights are not limited to a specific num-
ber of shares or votes.

For more information, please see the disclosures 
under Section 315 para 4 German Commercial 
Code in the management report.

Authorized Capital
The Executive Board is authorized to increase the 
Company’s share capital with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board once or several times by up to 
EUR 3,479,719 by issuing up to 3,479,719 new no-
par bearer shares against contributions in cash 
and/or in kind (authorized capital) until May 5, 
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2020. The Executive Board is also authorized to 
disapply shareholders’ statutory pre-emptive right 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board

• as necessary for offsetting fractional shares;
• if the shares are issued against in-kind contribu-

tions for the purpose of acquiring companies or 
equity interests in companies or business units 
or for the purpose of acquiring receivables from 
the given entity;

• if a capital increase against cash contributions 
does not exceed 10 % of the share capital and 
the issue price of the new shares is not sub-
stantially lower than the share price pursuant 
to Section 186 para 3 sentence 4 German Stock 
Corporation Act. Disapplying shareholders’ pre-
emptive right under other authorizations pur-
suant to Section 186 para 3 sentence 4 Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act shall be considered 
in connection with any exercise of this authori-
zation under the aforementioned statute.

The Executive Board is authorized to fix all other 
details of the capital increase and its implementa-
tion. The Supervisory Board is authorized to amend 
the Articles of Incorporation such that they reflect 
the extent of each capital increase from authorized 
capital.

The authorized capital as of December 31, 2017, 
was EUR 2,783,776 (previous year: EUR 3,479,719).

Profits for the year eligible for distribution were 
determined based on the net retained profits of 
Softing AG pursuant to the German Commercial 
Code.

Contingent Capital
The share capital is increased by up to EUR 3,221,256 
by issuing up to 3,221,256 new no-par bearer 
shares against contributions in cash and/or in kind 
(Contingent Capital 2013). The contingent capital 
increase will serve the granting of option rights 
or obligations to the holders of warrants arising 

from bonds with warrants under the terms of 
the respective options or the granting of conver-
sion rights or obligations to the holders of con-
vertible bonds under the terms of the respective 
convertible bonds issued by the Company up to 
May 6, 2018 in accordance with the resolution 
of the General Shareholders’ Meeting on May 7, 
2013. The new shares will be issued at the respec-
tive option or conversion price to be determined 
in accordance with the above-mentioned authori-
zation resolution. The contingent capital increase 
will be implemented only in the event that bonds 
with warrants or convertible bonds are issued and 
only to the extent that the holders of the bonds 
with warrants or the convertible bonds make use 
of their option or conversion right or the holders 
of bonds obligated to convert or to exercise the 
option fulfill this obligation and the contingent 
capital is needed in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the bond with warrants or the con-
vertible bond. The new shares issued on the basis 
of the exercise of the option or conversion right or 
the fulfillment of the conversion or option obliga-
tion have a share in the profit from the beginning 
of the financial year in which they arise. The Execu-
tive Board is authorized, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to stipulate the further details 
of the implementation of the contingent capital 
increase. Said authority was not exercised to date.

Capital Reserves
The capital reserves contain the premium on the 
issue of shares less transaction costs. 

retained earnings
Retained earnings include the accumulated, undis-
tributed profits of the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Retained earnings also include the differences 
from the currency translation and the associated 
deferred taxes of transactions made by foreign 
subsidiaries, changes in the fair value of financial 
instruments not recognized through profit or loss, 
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and the remeasurements from pension obliga-
tions and their deferred tax effects not recognized 
through profit or loss.

The other comprehensive income is shown in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests in the amount of 
EUR – 33 thousand (previous year: EUR – 17 thou-
sand) concern other shareholders in Austria.

Treasury Shares
No treasury share transactions took place in 2017;

As of the reporting date, Softing AG did not hold 
any treasury shares. 

The changes in consolidated equity including 
the changes from acquisitions are presented in 
the table “Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Equity” 2017/2016.

14. PENSIONS AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS

This item concerns the partially reinsured and 
defined benefit pension commitments granted to 
the three former members and one current mem-
ber of the Executive Board, which provide for life-
long retirement and widow’s benefits, as well as 
orphans’ benefits in the event one or both par-
ents are lost. There is a variable commitment in 
addition to a fixed commitment. The amount of 
benefits is determined individually. The liabilities 
in connection with the pension plans are deter-
mined annually by independent experts in accor-
dance with the projected unit credit method. 
The capitalized value of the reinsurance cover of 
EUR 2,992 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,886 
thousand) was offset against pension provisions. 

Actuarial remeasurements were recognized 
immediately in retained earnings in accordance 
with IAS 19.120. The cumulative gains and losses 
reported in this item were EUR – 1,319 thousand as 
of December 31, 2017 (previous year: EUR – 1,358 
thousand).

The pensions under variable commitments 
increase or decrease in line with the change in the 
Consumer Price Index for Germany (2010=100); It 
rose from 108.0 points to 109.9 points on average 
between 2016 and 2017.

The actuarial assumptions on which the calculation 
is based are summarized in the following table:

Basis of calculation
Dec. 31, 2017

 %
Dec. 31, 2016

 %

Assumed interest rate 1.6 1.6

Salary trend 0.0 0.0

expected rate of pension increase 1.1 1.1

Anticipated employee turnover rate 0.0 0.0

Biometric basis of calculation Mortality Tables 2005 G / Prof. Dr. Heubeck
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Development of the obligation
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

DBo as of January 1 5,124 4,638

Service cost 144 125

Interest expense 80 98

Pension payments to pensioners –168 –168

Expected DBO as of December 31 5,180 4,693

Actual DBo as of December 31 5,174 5,124

Remeasurements, of which –6 431

effects from adjusting the assumed interest rate 0 408

effects from changes in trend assumptions 0 0

effects from experience adjustments –6 23

The average remaining life of the obligation is 
14.5 years (previous year: 15.5 years).

Calculation of annual income and annual expense
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Interest income 46 60

Interest expense 80 98

Service cost 144 125

Annual expense 178 163

Development of plan assets
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Plan assets as of January 1 2,886 2,777

Payment from plan assets –92 –93

Payments into the employer’s plan assets 107 107

Interest earned from plan assets 46 60

Adjustment of plan assets 45 35

Plan assets as of December 31 2,992 2,886

Only reinsurance policies not quoted on an active 
market are taken out to hedge obligations aris-
ing from pensions. Each of these policies relates 
directly to the underlying pension commitment. 

The expected contributions to plan assets amount 
to EUR 107 thousand in 2018 (previous year: 
EUR 107 thousand).
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Reconciliation with the statement of financial position
Dec. 31, 2017

eUR (in thsds.)
Dec. 31, 2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Present value of the defined benefit obligations (DBo) 5,174 5,124

Fair value of the external plan assets 2,993 2,887

provision 2,181 2,237

Development of the provision
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Provision as of January 1 2,237 1,860

Service cost 144 125

Net interest expense/income 34 38

Actuarial remeasurements, of which –7 431

  effects from adjusting the assumed interest rate 0 408

  effects from experience adjustments –7 23

Adjustment of plan assets –44 –35

Payments made –76 –74

Payments into plan assets –107 –107

Provisions as of December 31 2,181 2,237

The sensitivity of the overall pension obligation to 
changes in the weighted main assumptions is:

effect on the obligation

Change in the 
assumption – 

Change in the 
assumption +

Relative effect of interest rate change on DBo 2017
0.25 % 0.25 %

+4.3 % –4.0 %

Relative effect of interest rate change on DBo 2016
0.25 % 0.25 %

+4.3 % –4.1 %

effect on the obligation

Change in the  
assumption – 

Change in the  
assumption +

Relative effect of a change in the pension trend on DBo 2017
0.25 % 0.25 %

–1.7 % 1.8 %

Relative effect of a change in the pension trend on DBo 2016
0.25 % 0.25 %

–1.6 % +1.7 %
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No sensitivity analysis based on life expectancy 
was presented because participants in question 
include only three former beneficiaries and one 
active beneficiary.

The sensitivities were determined by changing 
one parameter while leaving all other parameters 
unchanged.

Pension payments of EUR 168 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 168 thousand) and interest income 
of EUR 48 thousand (previous year: EUR 46 thou-
sand) are expected for the 2018 financial year.

15. NON-CURRENT BORROWINGS AND 
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

The non-current portion of the loans used to 
finance the purchase price of OLDI Online Devel-
opment Inc. amounts to EUR 4,109 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 6,477 thousand); is it shown under 
other long-term borrowings. Short-term repay-
ment is also possible. In the course of obtaining 
these loans, Softing AG agreed to comply with 
financial covenants entailing an obligation to main-
tain certain financial ratios. The financial covenants 
require Softing to maintain a specified equity ratio 
and not exceed a maximum debt-to-equity ratio. 
During the financial year, Softing AG had no prob-
lem fulfilling the covenant regarding equity ratio. 
With respect to the difference in the maximum 
debt-to-equity ratio, agreements were reached 
with the financing banks because the long-term 
plans do not show a deterioration in the financial 
covenants.

As agreed, the variable portions of the purchase 
price for OLDI fell within a range from USD 0 thou-
sand to USD 9,000 thousand, depending on tar-
get attainment. The purchase price agreements 
stipulated a maximum cap for these amounts. 
Due to the revenue and earnings performance of 
OLDI during the prior-year period, the fair value 
was determined to be EUR 4,269 thousand and is 
based on the final revenue and EBIT in the under-
lying contractual agreements. In 2017, an amount 
of EUR 4,209 thousand (USD 4,500 thousand) was 
then paid out to the existing shareholders of OLDI 
as a variable purchase price. This payment fulfills 
all variable purchase price agreements under the 
OLDI purchase agreement. The Group made this 
payment from its own funds and did not borrow 
any funds, as originally planned.

16. TRADE PAyABLES AND PAyABLES FROM 
CUSTOMER-SPECIFIC CONSTRUCTION 
contractS

The trade payables of EUR 4,574 thousand (pre-
vious year: EUR 4,856 thousand) exclusively con-
cern current liabilities toward non-Group third-
parties for supplied goods and services. All trade 

payables are due and payable within one year. 
The payables from customer-specific construction 
contracts amount to EUR 952 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 1,027 thousand).
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17. PROVISIONS AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The other provisions are recognized for all other 
contingent liabilities and risks of the Softing Group 
toward third parties. They are recognized only 
if utilization is probable and the amount of the 

obligation can be estimated reliably. The amount 
recognized is the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the bal-
ance sheet date.

 
As of Jan. 1, 2017

eUR (in thsds.)

 
Use

eUR (in thsds.)

 
Reversal

eUR (in thsds.)

 
Addition

eUR (in thsds.)

 
As of Dec. 31, 2017

eUR (in thsds.)

Warranties 147 143 4 132 132

Other 140 0 140 31 31

total 287 143 144 163 163

This exclusively comprises current provisions that 
are estimated to become due within one year.

18. INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

In the financial year just ended, liabilities of 
EUR 598 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,166 thou-
sand) were recognized for expected tax payments. 

The Group’s taxes are described in detail in sec-
tion D 9.

19. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

The current portion of the loans used to finance 
the purchase price of OLDI Online Development 
Inc. (EUR 2,369 thousand), the current portion of 
a loan granted to a former shareholder (EUR 354 
thousand), a loan of Softing IT Networks GmbH 

(EUR 65 thousand) and a short-term utilization of 
a bank line (EUR 2,000 thousand) as of the report-
ing date amounts to EUR 4,788 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 2,660 thousand) and is due for repay-
ment or prolongation.
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20. CURRENT NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

liabilities related to social security 407 346

other tax liabilities primarily (sales and wage tax) 768 1,286

Deferred income 1,379 1,284

Other 109 49

2,663 2,965

21. CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Wages and salaries payable 3,344 3,158

Current variable purchase prices from acquisitions 0 4,269

Other 225 184

3,569 7,611
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D. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME 
Statement

1. REVENUE

Revenue by regions:
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Germany 25,285 30,586

USA 30,718 26,838

other countries 22,705 23,000

78,708 80,424

Revenue by products and services:
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Products 71,861 71,304

Services 6,847 9,120

78,708 80,424

Revenue includes a change of EUR 124 thousand 
(EUR 65 thousand) from long-term construction 
contracts reported using the percentage-of-com-
pletion method. Here, the Group estimates the 
proportion of the total of services to be provided 
that have already been performed by the report-
ing date. 

Revenue from construction contracts of the period 
amounted to EUR 5,036 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 6,144 thousand).

In 2017, two customers exceeded the reve-
nue threshold of 10 % of Group revenue, at 14 % 
and 11 %, respectively. In 2016, two customers 
exceeded the revenue threshold of 10 % of Group 
revenue, at 12 % and 13 %, respectively. 

For detailed information on operating segments, 
we refer to the segment reporting (see chapter E1).

2. OTHER OWN WORk CAPITALIzED

Other own work capitalized concerns costs for/
investments in the development of new software 
products.
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3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

the other operating income comprises the following items:
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Income from exchange differences 506 355

Revenue from the reduction of valuation allowances 15 38

Insurance compensation payment 5 661

Sales commission 0 28

Income from receivables written off 0 15

Recharged costs 85 17

Income from the reduction of the variable purchase price 0 4,067

other income 262 158

873 5,339

4. COST OF MATERIALS

2017
eUR (in thsds.)

2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Purchase of components and products 31,325 30,160

third-party services 922 1,193

32,247 31,353

5. STAFF COSTS

2017
eUR (in thsds.)

2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Current salaries 26,671 27,245

Social security and retirement benefit costs 4,520 4,714

Profit-sharing, royalties 1,615 2,947

Use of company cars by employees 8 3

other temporary workers 217 213

33,031 35,122

The statutory pension scheme in Germany 
is treated as a defined contribution scheme. 

Expenses recognized for the statutory pension 
scheme total EUR 1,439 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 1,473 thousand).
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6. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIzATION AND 
impairment loSSeS

Depreciation and amortization are listed in detail 
in the statement of changes in assets (appendix to 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements). 

No impairment losses or reversals of impairments 
were recognized in 2017.

7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

the other operating expenses are as follows:
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

employee-related costs 303 339

Infrastructure costs 2,889 2,777

Distribution costs 3,526 3,351

Consulting costs 864 906

third-party services 951 775

Capital market costs 296 402

Contributions and fees 126 113

operating costs 552 668

other costs, fire-related 0 28

exchange differences 640 205

other product development expenses 1,388 1,344

Other costs 529 630

12,064 11,538

8. INTEREST INCOME/INTEREST EXPENSE

The financial result comprises interest income and 
interest expense.

the interest expense breaks down as follows:
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Interest from unwinding of discounts on provisions 81 98

Interest on loans 147 137

other interest 7 13

235 248
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9. INCOME TAXES

the income tax expense breaks down as follows:
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Deferred taxes on temporary differences 1,360 –302

Deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards –489 310

tax expense 871 8

tax expense/income financial year 606 1,255

tax expense/income from previous years –1,073 –1

tax expense/income –467 1,254

404 1,262

effective tax rate 35.75 % 18.09 % 

Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differ-
ences between the amounts recognized for finan-
cial reporting purposes and the amounts recog-
nized for tax purposes, and for any differences aris-
ing from uniform measurement and consolidation 

within the Group. Deferred taxes are determined 
based on the applicable country-specific tax rates. 
The underlying domestic tax rate, which has not 
changed compared to the previous year, is deter-
mined as follows:

2017
 %

2016
 %

Corporation tax including solidarity surcharge 15.83 15.83

trade tax rate 12.25 12.25

28.08 28.08

The deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards in 
Germany and abroad were recognized because in 
the Group’s opinion the loss carryforwards are not 
impaired in the amount recognized due to positive 
tax forecasts and a positive market outlook as of 
the balance sheet date.

Of the total tax loss carryforwards in the amount 
of EUR 8,239 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,790 
thousand), EUR 7,981 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 3,532 thousand) was recognized on deferred 
tax assets.

Interest income comprises the following items: 
2017

eUR (in thsds.)
2016

eUR (in thsds.)

Interest income from pension provisions 46 60

other interest 1 3

47 63
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The tax loss carryforwards of the individual com-
panies are as follows:

Dec. 31, 2017
eUR (in thsds.)

Dec. 31, 2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Usable until

Softing AG (trade tax) 3,602 0 Unlimited

Softing AG (corporation tax) 2,649 0 Unlimited

Softing Singapore 1,299 2,940 Unlimited

Softing North America holding (Federal/State) 245 592 Unlimited

Softing Inc. (Federal/State) 186 0 Unlimited

Buxbaum Automation Gmbh 258 258 Unlimited

The current income tax expense is derived as fol-
lows from the expected tax expense. As in the pre-
vious year, the calculation for the Group is based 

on the tax rate applicable for Softing AG, as this 
company is responsible for the main part of the 
Group’s business.

2017
eUR (in thsds.)

2016
eUR (in thsds.)

earnings before taxes 1,130 6,976

Anticipated tax expense (28.08 %) 317 1,959

tax additions and deductions 505 131

Different tax rates 238 279

Deferred taxes, temporary differences, loss carryforwards 95 –894

tax rate change, USA 292 0

taxes, previous years –1,073 –161

Other 30 –52

Current tax expense shown in the income statement 404 1,262

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
allocable to the following items:

2017
eUR (in thsds.)

2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Assets liabilities Assets liabilities

Intangible assets 13 4,070 102 3,599

Pension provision 671 671

(of which recognized directly in equity) (515) (530)

Currency translation (recognized directly in equity) 635 1,248

trade receivables 97 43 1,122 12

other provisions 129 277

Current assets 13 36

Deferred income 3 0

Future tax benefits from loss carryforwards 1,145 656

Gross amount/carrying amount 2,071 4,748 2,864 4,859
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E. OTHER DISCLOSURES

1. SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment reporting aims to furnish information on 
the Group’s material divisions. The activities of the 
Group are segmented in accordance with IFRS 8 
using the management approach. Segmentation 
is based on the Group’s internal reporting and 

organizational structure, taking into account the 
different risks and income structures of each indi-
vidual division. The corporate divisions are shown 
in the following table in accordance with IFRS 8.

Segmentation Industrial Automotive It Networks
holding, other 
consolidation

Total

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

external sales 50,941 57,590 17,406 22,834 10,361 78,708 80,424

Depreciation/amortization 2,495 3,450 1,213 1,322 448 338 328 4,494 5,100

Segment result  
(operating eBIt)

4,244 6,000 –2,889 698 –238 1,117 6,698

Segment result (eBIt) 3,811 4,172 –998 2,990 –469 2,344 7,162

Segment assets 41,248 59,303 18,341 18,616 10,280 10,849 4,969 80,718 82,888

Segment liabilities 8,180 13,638 5,115 5,640 1,244 13,907 16,043 28,446 35,321

Capital expenditure 2,023 1,815 3,068 4,338 259 220 392 5,570 6,545

Segmentation Industrial Automotive
holding, other 
 consolidation

Total

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2017
eUR (in 
thsds.)

2016
eUR (in 
thsds.)

external sales 61,302 57,590 17,406 22,834 78,708 80,424

Depreciation/amortization 2,943 3,450 1,213 1,322 338 328 4,494 5,100

Segment result  
(operating eBIt)

4,006 6,000 –2,889 698 1,117 6,698

Segment result (eBIt) 3,342 4,172 –998 2,990 2,344 7,162

Segment assets 51,528 59,303 18,341 18,616 10,849 4,969 80,718 82,888

Segment liabilities 9,424 13,638 5,115 5,640 13,907 16,043 28,446 35,321

Capital expenditure 2,282 1,815 3,068 4,338 220 392 5,570 6,545

The IT Networks segment remained part of the 
Industrial segment due to its secondary impor-
tant in 2016. The IT Networks segment reached 
the threshold for becoming a separate segment in 
2017 as a result of good revenue performance. The 

segment information according to the new struc-
ture was not yet available in the necessary degree 
of detail in 2016. For purposes of comparability, 
presentation in accordance with the old structure 
is also included. 
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Geographical segments: Revenue Fixed assets Additions to fixed assets

2017
eUR  

(in thsds.)

2016
eUR  

(in thsds.)

2017
eUR  

(in thsds.)

2016
eUR  

(in thsds.)

2017
eUR  

(in thsds.)

2016
eUR  

(in thsds.)

Germany 25,285 30,586 23,547 22,162 5,264 6,271

USA 30,718 26,837 19,990 23,589 132 119

other countries 22,705 23,001 293 262 174 155

total 78,708 80,424 43,830 46,013 5,570 6,545

The column entitled “Other consolidation” com-
prises the business activities of Softing AG’s cen-
tralized units. Their costs are allocated to the 
respective operating segments that caused the 
expenses to be incurred. Due to different technol-
ogies and customer groups, there is no significant 
intersegment revenue.

The key parameters for evaluating and manag-
ing a segment’s results of operations are: earn-
ings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and the oper-
ating EBIT derived from it (EUR 1,117 thousand; 

previous year: EUR 6,698 thousand), adjusted for 
capitalized development costs of EUR 4,600 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 4,512 thousand) and 
their amortization of EUR 2,149 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 2,699 thousand); depreciation and 
amortization from purchase price allocation of 
1,223 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,248 thou-
sand). With the exception of the write-downs, 
other income and expense items are not regu-
larly reviewed at the segment level by the respon-
sible corporate department, given their secondary 
importance to the Group, and thus are not broken 
down by segment.

Segment information is based on the same 
accounting principles as the consolidated financial 
statements.

2. SEGMENT ALLOCATION OF PRODUCTS

Industrial Automation
Products and services for integrating communica-
tion functions in automation systems and devices, 
specifically for standards such as PROFIBUS, PRO-
FINET, EthernetIP, EtherCAT, Powerlink, Modbus, 
CAN, CANopen, DeviceNet, FOUNDATION Field-
bus, (wireless) HART;

Interface cards, integration modules, chip solu-
tions and communications software (stacks) for 
implementing bus links in systems and devices 
used in process and production automation;

Gateways for linking fieldbuses to Ethernet-based 
communication systems and groupwide planning 
and administration systems;

Tools for configuring networks, as well as tool-
kits for integrating configuration functions into 
the engineering systems of automation system 
manufacturers;

Tools and devices for signal and protocol analysis of 
industrial communication networks; and



Consolidated notes

OPC servers, OPC middleware and development 
tools for OPC Clients and Servers (Toolkits);

Diagnostic devices for Ethernet networks in the 
automation industry and for the diagnosis of cop-
per and optical fiber networks in data centers and 
office installations.

Automotive Electronics
Vehicle adapters and data bus interfaces:
Interfaces for CAN, K-Line, LIN, Ethernet and 
FlexRay data bus systems in different form fac-
tors with a variety of PC connections such as USB, 
WLAN, Bluetooth, PCI, PCIexpress, PC/104 and 
PCMCIA. Programming interfaces compliant with 
ISO and other standards as well as customized 
adaptations. Special solutions for development/
testing, production and service.

Diagnostic tools
Diagnostic solutions for development/testing, pro-
duction and service. Editors for diagnostic data. 
Diagnostic servers for the real-time processing of 
diagnostic data based on ISO and customer stan-
dards. Customized and proprietary analytic tools 
for diagnostic data. ODX and OTX solutions play an 
important role in this context.

test Automation
Software interfaces for connecting diagnostic serv-
ers to production systems. Editing and runtime 
systems for test sequences with connections to 

numerous third-party products. Customized test 
stations for development, quality assurance and 
production. Solutions for the flash programming 
of control units. Devices for simulating electronic 
control units and rest bus systems.

Customized Developments
Customer-specific software and hardware devel-
opments for data communication/diagnosis/test 
systems.

Resident engineering
On-site customer support in the form of consulta-
tion, project management and project participa-
tion as well as development activities in the fields 
of data communication, diagnosis, trade fairs and 
test systems.

Measurement technology
Softing measurement technology (SMT) repre-
sents a unique system whose development was 
driven entirely by automotive developments. This 
results in a broad range of applications for test rigs 
or “raw” mobile applications in vehicle testing. 
Application of this comprehensive measurement 
and automation system is not limited to auto-
motive technology at all; indeed, it is well suited 
for applications in any industrial environment.

3. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The statement of cash flows represents the consol-
idated cash flows of the consolidated companies; it 
was determined indirectly. 

The cash and cash equivalents shown in the state-
ment of cash flows comprise cash on hand and 
bank balances.
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4. EARNINGS PER SHARE IAS 33

2017 2016

Consolidated profit eUR (in thsds.) 726 5,715

Minority interest eUR (in thsds.) –16 13

Basic earnings (= diluted earnings) EUR (in thsds.) 742 5,702

Weighted average number of shares

Basic Number 7,342,683 6,959,438

Diluted Number 7,342,683 6,959,438

Basic earnings per share (eUR) 0.10 0.82

Diluted earnings per share (eUR) 0.10 0.82

The change in the number of shares outstanding 
which results from the capital increase in 2017 was 
calculated on a pro-rated basis (to the day).

No options rights exist as of December 31, 2017, 
which could influence diluted earnings per share 
in the future.

5. RELATED PARTIES

Besides the companies included in the consoli-
dated financial statements, the members of the 
Executive Board and of the Supervisory Board are 
considered related parties of the Softing Group as 
defined in IAS 24, both in their function as mem-
bers of corporate boards and, in some cases, as 
shareholders.

We refer to chapters E 10 and 11 for information 
regarding the remuneration of the Supervisory 
Board and the Executive Board.

The Chairman of the Company’s Executive 
Board, Dr. Wolfgang Trier, held 122,221 shares in 

Softing AG as of December 31, 2017 (previous 
year: 112,716).

The Executive Board member Ernst Homolka held 
1,800 shares in Softing AG as of December 31, 
2017 (previous year: 1,800 shares).

The Supervisory Board member, Dr. Klaus Fuchs, 
held 278,820 shares in Softing AG as of December 
31, 2017 (previous year: 278,820).

The Supervisory Board member, Andreas Kratzer, 
held 10,155 shares in Softing AG as of Decem-
ber 31, 2017 (previous year: 10,155).

6. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of the balance sheet date, Softing AG has 
provided EUR 11,712 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 11,712 thousand) in guarantees for liabilities 
related to bank overdraft lines of credit. The prob-
ability of any outflow of funds in connection with 

these guarantees is regarded as remote because 
the creditworthiness of the debtors is ensured. 
The guarantees were provided in connection with 
the loan taken out by operating Group companies 
for the acquisition of OLDI.
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7. OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

As of the balance sheet date, the Company had 
incurred purchase commitments in the amount 
of EUR 3,091 thousand under long-term contracts 
(previous year: EUR 2,995 thousand).

There were also liabilities under long-term rental 
and lease agreements. These liabilities stem pri-
marily from contracts related to buildings, pas-
senger cars and office equipment. The minimum 
amounts of undiscounted future payments as of 
the balance sheet date are as follows:

2017
eUR (in thsds.)

2016
eUR (in thsds.)

< 1 year 1,355 1,453

1–5 years 2,996 2,696

> 5 years 1,270 0

total 5,621 4,149

8. DISCLOSURE OF THE CARRyING 
amountS oF the inDiViDual categorieS 
oF Financial inStrumentS accorDing 
to iFrS 7

Fair Values of Financial instruments
The following table shows both the carrying 
amounts and the fair values of all financial instru-
ments recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements that fall within the scope of IFRS 7. The 
fair values correspond to the carrying amounts 

because, with the exception of cash, the financial 
instruments recognized almost solely comprise pri-
mary current receivables and liabilities. As in the 
previous year, there were no financial instruments 
as of December 31, 2017, for which IFRS 7 is not 
applicable.

eUR (in thsds.)
Carrying 
amount  

Dec. 31, 2015

Amortized 
cost

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss

Fair value 
Dec. 31, 2015

Current financial assets

trade receivables 12,067 12,067 12,067

Receivables from customer-specific construction contracts 760 760 760

Other current financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10,276 10,276 10,276

Non-current financial liabilities

long-term borrowings 4,153 4,153 3,747 3,747

Current financial liabilities

trade payables 4,574 4,574 4,574

Short-term borrowings 4,788 4,788 5,068 5,068

Current financial liabilities 3,569 3,569 3,569
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eUR (in thsds.)
Carrying 
amount 

Dec. 31, 2016

Amortized 
cost

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss

Fair value 
Dec. 31, 2016

Current financial assets

trade receivables 11,742 11,742 11,742

Receivables from customer-specific construction contracts 848 848 848

Other current financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10,869 10,869 10,869

Non-current financial liabilities

long-term borrowings 6,596 6,596 5,941 5,941

Current financial liabilities

trade payables 4,856 4,856 4,856

Short-term borrowings 2,660 2,660 2,722 2,722

Current financial liabilities 7,611 7,611 7,611

For information on the measurement categories 
of financial instruments, please refer to the list of 
classes of financial instruments in B12.

No further disclosures on the fair value have to be 
made pursuant to IFRS 7.29a if the carrying amount 
is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured 
at fair value are allocated to the following levels of 
the fair value hierarchy:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 inputs).

• Observable inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
(Level 2 inputs). 

• Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 
(Level 3 inputs).

The current and non-current purchase price liabili-
ties in the other non-current liabilities and current 
financial liabilities items are assigned to Level 3. 
The fair value of the contingent consideration was 
determined based on the forecast revenue and 
EBIT of the acquisitions adjusted for the likelihood 
of occurrence. A change in input factors within the 
range of alternative assumptions considered pos-
sible does not result in any meaningful change in 
the fair values.
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9. OBJECTIVES AND METHODS OF 
Financial riSK management

Softing AG’s capital management aims first and 
foremost at ensuring that the Company maintains 
a solid equity ratio to support its business activi-
ties. The Group manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments, allowing for changes in eco-
nomic conditions. To maintain or adjust its capital 
structure, the Group may make repayments of cap-
ital to its shareholders or issue new shares. There 
were no changes in the objectives, guidelines and 
procedures as of December 31, 2017, and Decem-
ber 31, 2016.

The Group monitors its capital using the equity 
ratio. But the Executive Board does not define a 
specific target to that end. The equity ratio in the 
financial year was 65 % (previous year: 57 %).

The capital of Softing AG relevant for controlling 
purposes encompasses the subscribed capital, the 
capital reserves, the retained earnings, the equity 
from unrealized gains and losses, treasury shares 
and non-controlling interests. Softing AG funds the 
development of its business to the greatest extent 
possible from its own cash flow.

As an internationally operating company, Softing 
is exposed to a variety of risks in the course of its 
operations. Therefore, the objective of its financial 
risk management is to detect all material financial 
risks early on and to take appropriate measures to 
protect existing and future success potential.

These risks include currency risks resulting from 
activities in different currency regions; default 
risks involving non-fulfillment of contractual obli-
gations by contracting parties; interest rate risks, 
where fluctuations in the market interest rate trig-
ger changes in the fair value of a financial instru-
ment; and interest-related cash flow risks that trig-
ger changes in the future cash flow of a financial 
instrument because of changes in market interest 
rates.

To evaluate and take into account such risks, 
 Softing has defined principles through a central-
ized risk management system that serve to identify 
and evaluate such risks consistently and system-
atically. Continual reporting is used by Softing to 
check compliance with all principles. This enables 
the Company to identify and analyze risks early on.

There are no major concentrations of risk in the 
Group.

Please also see the disclosures on risks and oppor-
tunities in the management report.

Default risks
Softing is exposed to default risks if contractual 
partners fail to meet their obligations. To avoid of 
risks of this nature, Softing enters into contracts 
only with contractual partners that have an excel-
lent credit rating. As of the closing dates of Decem-
ber 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, there was 
no material counterparty credit risk. While the 
Executive Board therefore believes the risk of non-
fulfillment on the part of its contractual partners to 
be very low, it cannot completely exclude the risk 
in the final analysis.

Counterparty credit risks primarily concern trade 
receivables. Valuation allowances are recognized 
to allow for any discernable counterparty credit 
risks in connection with individual financial assets. 
Valuation allowances as of December 31, 2017, 
totaled EUR 398 thousand (previous year: EUR 295 
thousand).

Regardless of any existing collateral, the carrying 
amount of financial assets equals the maximum 
counterparty credit risk if the contractual partners 
fail to meet their payment obligations.
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interest rate risks
Softing is also exposed to interest rate risks. The 
assets subject to interest rate fluctuations essen-
tially concern cash and cash equivalents and secu-
rities classified as current assets. Bank balances 
totaling EUR 10,276 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 10,869 thousand) bear interest of 0.00 % (pre-
vious year: 0.00 %). No material interest rate risks 
result from subsidiaries’ liabilities to banks in the 
amount of EUR 8,942 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 9,256 thousand) because they can be con-
verted into fixed-interest loans at any time.

An increase of the market interest rate by 50 basis 
points would have an impact of EUR 45 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 47 thousand) on interest 
expense relating to the loan.

Foreign currency risk
The Softing Group’s foreign currency risk is lim-
ited to two currencies: USD and RON. The foreign 
currency risk relating to US dollars is hedged natu-
rally, because in the United States and in Singapore 
(where US dollars are the functional currency), 
income and expenses are generated/incurred for 
products. The foreign currency risk associated with 
the Romanian RON is minimal because this cur-
rency is linked to the euro, and the agreements 
with the Romanian subsidiary stipulate euros.

All foreign currency forwards had been settled as 
of the reporting date. The following sensitivities 
apply with regard to USD:

In eUR thsd./USD USD

Closing rate: USD 1.20 1.32
+10 %

1.08
–10 % Difference Difference

Financial assets/liabilities uSD uSD in eur +10 % –10 %

trade receivables 4,584 3,820 3,473 4,244 –347 424

Receivables from affiliated companies 3,188 2,657 2,415 2,952 –242 295

Other current assets 76 63 58 70 –6 7

Cash and cash equivalents 2,509 2,091 1,901 2,323 –190 232

Non-current liabilities to affiliated companies –20,845 –17,371 –15,792 –19,301 1,579 –1,930

Current liabilities to affiliated companies –7,914 –6,595 –5,995 –7,328 600 –733

total –18,402 –15,335 1,395 –1,705

Movements in the USD : EUR exchange rate would 
be reflected mainly in the equity of the Softing 
Group.

liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group might 
not have adequate funds to fulfill its payment 
obligations.

The Group’s liquidity requirements are met primar-
ily through its operating business. Softing AG con-
tinuously monitors the risk of a potential liquidity 
bottleneck using its liquidity planning. The Group’s 
goal is to continue meeting its liquidity require-
ments through its own cash flow.
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The Group possesses sufficient liquidity and 
unused credit lines in the amount of EUR 5,000 
thousand to meet its obligations over the next four 
years in line with its strategic plans. For disclosures 
on maturities, please see section C.

Cash and cash equivalents at year’s end were 
EUR 10,276 thousand (previous year: EUR 10,869 
thousand), accounting for 13 % (previous year: 
13 %) of the Group’s total assets. 

The following table shows the financial liabilities 
of the Group by maturity classes based on the 
remaining life as of the reporting date and based 
on the contractually agreed maturity. The amounts 
shown in the table are not discounted cash flows.

Dec. 31, 2017 (eUR thsd.) Up to 1 year 2–5 years More than 5 years

Non-current financial liabilities

long-term borrowings 4,153

Current financial liabilities

trade payables 4,574

Short-term borrowings 4,788

Dec. 31, 2016 (eUR thsd.) Up to 1 year 2–5 years More than 5 years

Non-current financial liabilities

long-term borrowings 6,596

Current financial liabilities

trade payables 4,856

Short-term borrowings 2,660

10. PERSONNEL

The number of employees (exclusively salaried 
employees) excluding the Executive Board was as 
follows:

2017 2016

As of the balance sheet date 411 435

Annual average 415 430

Marketing & Sales 115 116

Research & Development 253 265

Administration & General 39 39

Management 8 10
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Benefits granted 
eUR (in thsds.)

Dr. Dr. Wolfgang trier 
Chairman of the 
executive Board

ernst homolka 
Member of the  
executive Board

Total

2017 2017 2017 2016

Fixed remuneration 513 220 733 733

Fringe benefits 20 12 32 45

Total 533 232 765 778

one-year variable remuneration 151 38 189 488

Multi-year variable remuneration 379 81 460 619

Share-based payment 0 0 0 586

Total 530 119 649 1,693

Pension expense 11 31 42 42

total remuneration 1,074 382 1,456 2,513

11. EXECUTIVE BOARD

The following persons were members of the Exec-
utive Board of Softing AG in the reporting period:

Dr.-Ing. Dr. rer. oec. Wolfgang Trier, Munich, Ger-
many, Chairman 

Mr. Ernst Homolka, Munich, Germany, Executive 
Board member for Finance and Human Resources

In accordance with the resolution adopted by the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting on May 9, 2012, 
the remuneration of individual members of the 
Executive Board is not disclosed until 2016. Start-
ing in 2017, remuneration of individual members 
is disclosed based on the following table: 

All remuneration components were received in the 
financial year.

The fringe benefits include flat-rate vehicle allow-
ances and the employer contributions to social 
security and contributions to pensions.

The total remuneration must be classified as short-
term in accordance with IAS 24.17.

Furthermore, service cost of EUR 144 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 125 thousand) was recognized.

A D&O insurance with a deductible of 10 % has 
been taken out for the members of the Executive 
Board.

The Executive Board member also holds the Com-
pany’s key central positions.

An agreement with one member of the Executive 
Board gives him the right to terminate his employ-
ment for cause if at least one outside share-
holder or one shareholder group acting in concert 
reaches 1.4 million voting shares through posses-
sion or attribution. If this Executive Board member 
exercises this right to terminate his employment 
for cause, he is entitled to compensation equaling 
approximately two annual salaries.

Pension obligations for former members of the 
Executive Board as of December 31, 2017 totaled 
EUR 2,944 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,060 
thousand). The total remuneration of former mem-
bers of the Executive Board amounted to EUR 168 
thousand (previous year: EUR 168 thousand).
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eUR (in thsds.) Fixed Variable Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Dr. horst Schiessl (chairman) 20 20 24 69 44 89

Dr. Klaus Fuchs 15 15 18 52 33 67

Andreas Kratzer 10 10 12 34 22 44

12. SUPERVISORy BOARD

The following persons were members of the 
Supervisory Board of Softing AG in the 2017 finan-
cial year:

Dr. Horst Schiessl, attorney at law, Munich, Ger-
many (chairman)
Dr. Klaus Fuchs, graduate computer scientist und 
graduate engineer, Helfant, Germany (deputy 
chairman) 
Andreas Kratzer, certified public accountant, 
Zurich, Switzerland

Dr. Schiessl is also a member of the super visory  
board and advisory board of the following 
companies:
Baader Bank AG, Unterschleißheim (chairman)
Dussmann Stiftung & Co. KGaA, Berlin (member of 
the Supervisory Board)
Dussmann Stiftung, Berlin (member of the founda-
tion council)
Dussmann Stiftung & Co. KG, Berlin, Germany 
(member of the advisory board) 
Mittelstandswerk Deutschland AG (chairman)

Dr. Fuchs did not hold any offices on other super-
visory boards. 

Mr. Andreas Kratzer is also a member of the Board 
of Directors of:
SIAT-Swiss Investment & Trade Group AG, Buchs, 
Switzerland (Board of Directors)

Mobil Power AG, Zurich, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)
Lysys AG Baar, Switzerland (Board of Directors) 
Immoselect AG, Baar, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)
Matam Commodity AG, Baar, Switzerland (Board 
of Directors)
Capella Invest AG, Baar, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)
Biotensidon International AG, Baar, Switzerland 
(Board of Directors)
Weinmann Invest AG, Baar, Switzerland (Board of 
Directors)

Each member of the Supervisory Board receives 
a fixed remuneration of EUR 10,000 for each full 
financial year of service on the Supervisory Board. 
In addition, each member receives variable remu-
neration amounting to 0.5 % of Group EBIT before 
variable Supervisory Board remuneration. The 
chairman receives 200 % of the fixed and variable 
amount, the deputy chairman 150 %.

The Supervisory Board member Dr. Fuchs received 
a total fee of EUR 77 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 147 thousand) for providing consulting serv-
ices in connection with the coordination of  Softing 
IT Networks.

Remuneration for the members of the Super visory 
Board in the reporting period totaled EUR 99 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 200 thousand) and is 
comprised as follows:
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13. AUDITOR’S FEES

The following expenditure (including expenses) 
was incurred in the financial year just ended for 

services provided by the auditor, Pricewater house-
Coopers GmbH:

2017
eUR (in thsds.)

2016
eUR (in thsds.)

Audit of annual financial statements 191 119

191 119

Dr. Wolfgang Trier Ernst Homolka

14. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no events after the balance sheet date 
to report.

15. DECLARATION REGARDING THE 
german corporate goVernance coDe 
purSuant to Section 161 german StocK 
corporation act

The Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Sec-
tion 161 German Stock Corporation Act was 
issued by the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board of Softing AG and has been made perma-
nently available to shareholders on the Internet at  
www.softing.com.

Haar, Germany, March 15, 2018

Softing AG

The Executive Board



INDePeNDeNt AUDItoR’S RePoRt

to SoFting ag, haar

report on the auDit oF the 
conSoliDateD Financial StatementS 
anD oF the group management report

Audit Opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments of Softing AG, Haar, and its subsidiaries (the 
Group), which comprise the consolidated state-
ment of financial position as at December 31, 
2017, and the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income, consolidated statement of 
profit or loss, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the financial year from January 1 to Decem-
ber 31, 2017, and notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. In addition, we have audited 
the group management report of Softing AG, 
which is combined with the Company’s manage-
ment report, for the financial year from January 1 
to December 31, 2017. We have not audited the 
content of those parts of the group management 
report listed in the “Other Information” section of 
our auditor’s report in accordance with the Ger-
man legal requirements.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge 
obtained in the audit,

• the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments comply, in all material respects, with the 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pur-
suant to § [Article] 315e Abs. [paragraph] 1 HGB 
[Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] 
and, in compliance with these requirements, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
and financial position of the Group as at Decem-
ber 31, 2017, and of its financial performance for 

the financial year from January 1 to December 
31, 2017, and

• the accompanying group management report 
as a whole provides an appropriate view of the 
Group’s position. In all material respects, this 
group management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements, complies with 
German legal requirements and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks of future 
development. Our audit opinion on the group 
management report does not cover the content 
of those parts of the group management report 
listed in the “Other Information” section of our 
auditor’s report.

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we 
declare that our audit has not led to any reserva-
tions relating to the legal compliance of the consol-
idated financial statements and of the group man-
agement report.

Basis for the Audit Opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and of the group management 
report in accordance with § 317 HGB and the 
EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to sub-
sequently as “EU Audit Regulation”) and in compli-
ance with German Generally Accepted Stand ards 
for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the 
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public 
Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities 
under those requirements and principles are fur-
ther described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial State-
ments and of the Group Management Report” 
section of our auditor’s report. We are indepen-
dent of the group entities in accordance with the 
requirements of European law and German com-
mercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled 
our other German professional responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. In addition, 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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in accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the 
EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not 
provided non-audit services prohibited under Arti-
cle 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions on the consolidated financial state-
ments and on the group management report.

key Audit Matters in the Audit of the 
 consolidated Financial Statements
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
for the financial year from January 1 to Decem-
ber 31, 2017. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our audit 
opinion thereon; we do not provide a separate 
audit opinion on these matters.

In our view, the matters of most significance in our 
audit were as follows:

❶ Accounting for construction contracts with 
customers

❷ Development costs for internally generated 
product developments

❸ Recoverability of goodwill

Our presentation of these key audit matters has 
been structured in each case as follows:

① Matter and issue 
② Audit approach and findings
③ Reference to further information

Hereinafter we present the key audit matters:

❶ Accounting for construction contracts with 
customers
① Matter and issue

Of the revenue reported in Softing AG’s consoli-
dated financial statements EUR 5.0 million are 
attributable to the development of software for 
customers. Provided that the criteria of IAS 11 have 

been met, the revenue is recognized in accord-
ance with the percentage-of-completion method, 
with the estimate of the stage of completion being 
based on the ratio of costs actually incurred in 
relation to the contract to the planned total costs 
(“cost-to-cost method”). In particular, estimating 
the planned total costs and appropriately allocat-
ing personnel expenses to the projects require the 
management to use estimates and assumptions.

Due to the complexity of the accounting, the long-
term nature of the contracts and the resulting 
uncertainties relating to the estimates, this matter 
was of particular significance in the context of our 
audit.

② Audit approach and findings
As part of our audit, we assessed and tested, 
among other things, the processes and controls 
established by the Group in relation to recogniz-
ing revenue from the development of software for 
customers taking into account the stage of comple-
tion. We examined projects on a sample basis to 
establish whether the conditions for using the per-
centage-of-completion method as set out in IAS 11 
were met. Moreover, we evaluated the determi-
nation of the stage of completion of customer-
specific contracts on the basis of the cost-to-cost 
method and the resulting proportion of revenue 
and profit recognized, bearing in mind the prob-
ability of an expected loss to be recognized imme-
diately. In this connection we retraced the calcu-
lation of the planned total costs as well as of the 
costs actually incurred. In addition, we assessed 
the consistency of the methods used to calculate 
the costs incurred. Furthermore, in order to miti-
gate the inherent audit risk in this audit area, we 
ensured that audit procedures were consistently 
carried out throughout the Group. 

In doing so, we were able to satisfy ourselves that 
the estimates applied and the assumptions made 
by management concerning the recognition and 
measurement of revenue in accordance with the 
percentage-of-completion method were suffi-
ciently documented and that the estimates applied 



and the assumptions made by management were 
consistently derived.

③ Reference to further information
The Company’s disclosures on revenue from the 
development of software for customers are con-
tained in sections B.13 and C.8, 9 of the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements.

❷ Development costs for internally generated 
product developments
① Matter and issue

In the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company, an amount of EUR 12.5 million for 
“internally generated intangible assets” is reported 
under the “intangible assets” balance sheet item. 
This amount relates to development costs for 
new products and processes and significant fur-
ther developments (hereinafter “product devel-
opments”), which were capitalized in accordance 
with IAS 38. Development costs include direct 
costs and shared overhead expenditure. The crite-
ria of IAS 38.57 determine whether internally gen-
erated product developments are eligible for cap-
italization – specifically the technical feasibility of 
completing the intangible asset, how the intangi-
ble asset will generate probable future economic 
benefits and the ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the intangible asset 
during its development – and provide considerable 
scope for judgment. The asset is generally amor-
tized over 5 years once the Company begins con-
suming the economic benefits from that asset. 
Capitalized own expenses contributed EUR 4.6 mil-
lion to consolidated profit or loss in the fiscal year. 
This was offset by amortization of internally gener-
ated intangible assets amounting to EUR 2.1 mil-
lion. In our view, this matter was of particular sig-
nificance for our audit because the capitalization 
and amortization of development costs are based 
to a large extent on management estimates and 
assumptions and are therefore subject to corre-
sponding uncertainties. 

② Audit approach and findings
As part of our audit, we evaluated, among other 
things, the capitalization requirements for individ-
ual projects on a sample basis, using the criteria set 
out in IAS 38.57.

We also assessed the methodology used to calcu-
late the costs eligible for capitalization. We deter-
mined that the process for capitalizing develop-
ment costs is appropriately designed and the 
established controls have been properly imple-
mented. We assessed the amount of the capital-
ized development costs and the recoverability of 
the product developments on the basis of appro-
priate evidence. In so doing, we also inspected 
project records in order to satisfy ourselves of 
the respective percentage of completion. In our 
view, the methodology applied by the Company 
for capitalizing product developments is appropri-
ate and the percentage of completion and capi-
talized development costs have been sufficiently 
documented. 

③ Reference to further information
The Company’s disclosures on capitalized develop-
ment costs are contained in sections B.5 and C.3 of 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

❸ Recoverability of goodwill
① Matter and issue

In the consolidated financial statements of the 
Company, goodwill amounting to a total of 
EUR 14.5 million (18 % of total assets and 28 % of 
equity) is reported. Goodwill is tested for impair-
ment by the Company once a year or when there 
are indications of impairment to determine any 
possible need for write-downs. The impairment 
test is carried out at the level of the groups of 
cash-generating units to which the relevant good-
will has been allocated. The carrying amount of 
the relevant goodwill is compared with the cor-
responding recoverable amount in the context of 
the impairment test. The calculation of the recov-
erable amount generally employs the value in use. 

INDePeNDeNt AUDItoR’S RePoRt
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The present value of the future cash flows from the 
respective group of cash-generating units normally 
serves as the basis of valuation. Present values 
are calculated using discounted cash flow mod-
els. For this purpose, the medium-term business 
plan adopted by the Group forms the starting point 
which is extrapolated based on assumptions about 
long-term rates of growth. Expectations relating 
to future market developments and assumptions 
about the development of macroeconomic factors 
are also taken into account. The discount rate used 
is the weighted average cost of capital for the rel-
evant group of cash-generating units. The impair-
ment test determined that no write-downs were 
necessary.

The outcome of this valuation is dependent to a 
large extent on the estimates made by manage-
ment with respect to the future cash inflows for 
the respective group of cash-generating units, the 
discount rate used, the rate of growth and other 
assumptions, and is therefore subject to consider-
able uncertainty. Against this background and due 
to the complex nature of the valuation, this mat-
ter was of particular significance in the context of 
our audit. 

② Audit approach and findings
As part of our audit, we assessed the methodol-
ogy employed for the purposes of performing the 
impairment test, among other things. After match-
ing the future cash inflows used for the calculation 
against the medium-term business plan adopted 
by the Group, we evaluated the appropriateness 
of the calculation especially through reconciliation 
with general and sector-specific market expecta-
tions. Furthermore, we also evaluated the proper 
consideration of the costs for Group functions. In 
the knowledge that even relatively small changes 
in the discount rate applied can have a material 
impact on the value of the entity calculated in this 
way, we also focused our testing in particular on 
the parameters used to determine the discount 
rate applied, and evaluated the valuation model. 

We retraced the sensitivity analyses performed by 
the Company, in order to reflect the uncertainty 
inherent in the projections.

Overall, the measurement inputs and assumptions 
used by management are in line with our expecta-
tions and are also within the ranges considered by 
us to be reasonable.

③ Reference to further information
The Company’s disclosures on impairment test-
ing and goodwill are contained in section B.6 
und C.2 of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Other Information 
The executive directors are responsible for the 
other information. The other information com-
prises the following non-audited parts of the group 
management report:

• the statement on corporate governance pursu-
ant to § 289f HGB and § 315d HGB included in 
the group management report

• the corporate governance report pursuant to 
No. 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance 
Codex

The other information comprises further the 
remaining parts of the annual report – excluding 
cross-references to external information – with 
the exception of the audited consolidated finan-
cial statements, the audited group management 
report and our auditor’s report.  

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the group management report 
do not cover the other information, and conse-
quently we do not express an audit opinion or any 
other form of assurance conclusion thereon.



In connection with our audit, our responsibility is 
to read the other information and, in so doing, to 
consider whether the other information

• is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, with the group management 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

• otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors  
and the Supervisory Board for the  Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Group 
 Management Report
The executive directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments that comply, in all material respects, with 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pur-
suant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB and that the consol-
idated financial statements, in compliance with 
these requirements, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial 
performance of the Group. In addition the execu-
tive directors are responsible for such internal con-
trol as they have determined necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the executive directors are responsible for assess-
ing the Group’s ability to continue as a going con-
cern. They also have the responsibility for disclos-
ing, as applicable, matters related to going con-
cern. In addition, they are responsible for financial 
reporting based on the going concern basis of 
accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or there is no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the executive directors are respon-
sible for the preparation of the group manage-
ment report that, as a whole, provides an appro-
priate view of the Group’s position and is, in all 
material respects, consistent with the consoli-
dated financial statements, complies with German 
legal requirements, and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development. In 
addition, the executive directors are responsible 
for such arrangements and measures (systems) 
as they have considered necessary to enable the 
preparation of a group management report that 
is in accordance with the applicable German legal 
requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient 
appropriate evidence for the assertions in the 
group management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for oversee-
ing the Group’s financial reporting process for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the group management report.]

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and of the 
Group Management Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and whether 
the group management report as a whole provides 
an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, 
in all material respects, is consistent with the con-
solidated financial statements and the knowledge 
obtained in the audit, complies with the German 
legal requirements and appropriately presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development, as 
well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our audit opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the group management report.

INDePeNDeNt AUDItoR’S RePoRt
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit 
Regu lation and in compliance with German Gen-
erally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement 
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschafts-
prüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstate-
ment. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial state-
ments and this group management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material mis-
statement of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the group management report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and per-
form audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opin-
ions. The risk of not detecting a material mis-
statement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrep-
resentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control rel-
evant to the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of arrangements and measures 
(systems) relevant to the audit of the group man-
agement report in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an audit 
opinion on the effectiveness of these systems. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
 policies used by the executive directors and 
the reasonableness of estimates made by the 
execu tive directors and related disclosures. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the execu-
tive directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast sig-
nificant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a mate-
rial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in the auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments and in the group management report or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to be able to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the con-
solidated financial statements present the under-
lying transactions and events in a manner that 
the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and financial performance of the Group 
in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU 
and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express 
audit opinions on the consolidated financial state-
ments and on the group management report. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervi-
sion and performance of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinions. 



• Evaluate the consistency of the group manage-
ment report with the consolidated financial 
statements, its conformity with German law, 
and the view of the Group’s position it provides. 

• Perform audit procedures on the prospective 
information presented by the executive direc-
tors in the group management report. On the 
basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we 
evaluate, in particular, the significant assump-
tions used by the executive directors as a basis 
for the prospective information, and evaluate 
the proper derivation of the prospective infor-
mation from these assumptions. We do not 
express a separate audit opinion on the prospec-
tive information and on the assumptions used 
as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk 
that future events will differ materially from the 
prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with gov-
ernance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and signif-
icant audit findings, including any significant defi-
ciencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance 
with a statement that we have complied with the 
relevant independence requirements, and com-
municate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, the 
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the cur-
rent period and are therefore the key audit mat-
ters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter.

other legal anD regulatory 
REqUIREMENTS

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of 
the EU Audit Regulation 
We were elected as group auditor by the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting on May 3, 2017. We were 
engaged by the Supervisory Board on October 
27, 2017. We have been the group auditor of the 
 Softing AG, Haar, without interruption since the 
financial year 2012.

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in 
this auditor’s report are consistent with the addi-
tional report to the audit committee pursuant to 
Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form 
audit report).

german public auDitor reSponSible 
For the engagement

The German Public Auditor responsible for the 
engagement is Stefano Mulas.

INDePeNDeNt AUDItoR’S RePoRt
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Report of the Supervisory Board
for Financial Year 2017

The Supervisory Board of Softing AG carried out 
its duties as provided by law and the Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation in financial year 2017. The 
Supervisory Board regularly advised the Execu tive 
Board in matters of management and diligently 
monitored its actions. The Supervisory Board was 
informed regularly about the situation of Softing 
AG and the Group and monitored and accompa-
nied the work of the Executive Board as well as 
compliance with applicable legal provisions and 
the Company’s internal guidelines. The Executive 
Board informed the Supervisory Board in writ-
ing and orally about the business policies, funda-
mental questions of future business activities, the 
economic situation and future strategic develop-
ment, the risk situation and risk management as 
well as significant business transactions, and dis-
cussed these matters with the Supervisory Board. 
The Supervisory Board was involved in decisions of 
material significance at all times.  

A total of 6 Supervisory Board meetings were held 
in the 2017 financial year: 
on March 16, May 3, June 7, July 20, October 27 
and December 18. 

Attendance record of Supervisory Board members

Dr. horst Schiessl 6/6

Dr. Klaus Fuchs 6/6

Andreas Kratzer 6/6

Attendance record of executive Board members

Dr. Wolfgang trier 6/6

ernst homolka 6/6

The regular deliberations during Supervisory Board 
meetings and between the Executive Board and 
the Supervisory Board focused on the organiza-
tional and strategic development and orientation 

of the Group, the positioning and financial devel-
opment of Softing AG, and significant business 
events for the Company. Between meetings, the 
Supervisory Board was also informed of plans and 
developments that were of particular importance. 
The Supervisory Board thoroughly reviewed, dis-
cussed and approved all matters which require 
approval under legal provisions and the Articles of 
Incorporation or the Rules of Procedure.

Furthermore, in regular discussions with the Exec-
utive Board, the chairman of the Supervisory 
Board obtained information about important deci-
sions and business transactions of special signifi-
cance. He also held separate discussions with the 
Executive Board on strategy to explore the per-
spectives for and future alignment of each individ-
ual business.

Our deliberations and reviews focused on the 
entire accounting system of Softing AG and the 
Group, the monitoring of the internal control sys-
tem as well as the effectiveness of the internal 
auditing and risk management system. 

main FocuS oF the meetingS

At the Supervisory Board meeting on March 16, 
2017, the Supervisory Board dealt with the Com-
pany’s performance in the 2016 financial year and 
the first results for 2017. Another key item on the 
agenda at the Supervisory Board meeting was the 
adoption of the annual financial statements and 
the approval of the consolidated financial state-
ments, both as of December 31, 2016, after the 
auditor, who was present, had reported on the 
completed audit and extensively answered ques-
tions by the Supervisory Board. The Super visory 
Board concurred with the Executive Board’s pro-
posal for the appropriation of profits. At this 



meeting, the Supervisory Board also carried out 
the efficiency review recommended by the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code. The Supervisory 
Board came to the conclusion that its work was 
efficient. It also approved the Agenda for the 2017 
General Shareholders’ Meeting.

In the Supervisory Board meeting on May 3, 2017 
after the General Shareholders’ Meeting there 
was a recapitulation of the General Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting and a report of the Executive Board 
on the status of and outlook on operations and 
the financial situation. The Executive Board also 
reported on planned acquisitions and presented 
the risk report as of March 31, 2017.

At the meetings held on June 7, 2017, the Super-
visory Board approved the cash capital increases 
and the required amendments of the Articles of 
Incorporation

On June 20, 2017, the Executive Board presented 
data and background information on the business 
figures for the first half-year and the financial plan-
ning at the Supervisory Board meeting. The Super-
visory Board obtained a detailed report from the 
Executive Board on the development of business 
in the past first months. The possibility of future 
acquisitions was also discussed.

At the meeting held on October 27, 2017, the 
Executive Board presented the report on the finan-
cial results of the third quarter and the risk report 
as of September 30.  

At the Supervisory Board meeting held on Decem-
ber 18, 2017, the Executive Board presented to 
the Supervisory Board a first estimate of the 2017 
annual results, its business plan for 2018 and its 

multi-year planning. After careful review, the 
Supervisory Board approved the two plans. In this 
meeting, the Supervisory Board also addressed the 
recommendations of the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code and the topic of diversity in detail. 
The Supervisory Board adopted the resolution 
required in this context. It approved the Declara-
tion of Compliance with the German Corporate 
Governance Code, which it had prepared jointly 
with the Executive Board; it is permanently avail-
able to the public at the Company’s website. The 
annual review of the remuneration system was 
carried out, and the sale of Automotive Commu-
nications Kirchentellinsfurt was approved. The 
Super visory Board renewed the director’s contract 
of Mr. Homolka, which was set to expire in April 
2018, for another five years until April 30, 2023.

All members of the Supervisory Board attended all 
Supervisory Board meetings in 2017. There was no 
conflict of interest of members of the Supervisory 
Board in the financial year just ended. The inde-
pendence of the financial expert on the Super-
visory Board was monitored on an ongoing basis 
and is assured. 

compoSition oF the SuperViSory 
boarD anD the executiVe boarD

There were no personnel changes on the Super-
visory Board in the 2017 financial year. In the 
reporting year, the Supervisory Board was again 
comprise of Dr. Horst Schiessl (Chairman), Dr. Klaus 
Fuchs (Deputy Chairman) and Mr. Andreas Kratzer. 
The Supervisory Board did not establish any com-
mittees, given its size. Instead, the full Supervisory 
Board was responsible for all tasks and decisions.

RePoRt oF the SUPeRVISoRy BoARD
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annual Financial StatementS anD 
conSoliDateD Financial StatementS

The annual financial statements of Softing AG were 
prepared in accordance with the German Commer-
cial Code and the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report were prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRSs). The annual financial state-
ments and the management report of  Softing 
AG, and the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report as of Decem-
ber 31, 2017, were audited as required by law by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft, Munich, Germany, the auditors 
appointed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 
The auditors issued an unqualified auditor’s opin-
ion each for the annual financial statements and 
the consolidated financial statements. The audi-
tors performed an audit in accordance with Sec-
tion 317 para 4 German Commercial Code and 
came to the conclusion that the Executive Board 
established a monitoring system which fulfills the 
legal requirements for the early detection of risks 
jeopardizing the Company’s existence as a going 
concern and that the Executive Board took appro-
priate measures to detect developments at an 
early stage and avert risks.

The auditors stated their independence vis-à-vis 
the Supervisory Board as required by the German 
Corporate Governance Code and disclosed the 
audit and consulting fees received in the financial 
year. 

The annual financial statements and the audit 
reports of the auditors were made available in 
time to all members of the Supervisory Board. 
At its financials meeting on March 15, 2017, the 
Supervisory Board examined the annual financial 

statements and the management report of Softing 
AG as well as the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report presented by 
the Executive Board including the audit report pre-
pared by the auditors of the financial statements. 
The auditors and the Executive Board participated 
in the meeting.

The auditors reported on their audit in general as 
well as on individual focal points and the significant 
results of their audit. They answered the questions 
raised by the members of the Supervisory Board 
in detail. The Supervisory Board approved the 
result of the audit. There was no reason to raise 
any objections based on the final result of this 
examination. 

The Supervisory Board approved the annual finan-
cial statements and the consolidated financial 
statements for 2017 at its meeting on March 15, 
2018. The annual financial statements are there-
fore formally adopted. The Supervisory Board 
agreed with the appropriation of the net retained 
profits proposed by the Executive Board.

thanK you

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the 
Executive Board and all employees for their 
extraordinary efforts and their achievements in the 
past financial year.

Haar, Germany, March 15, 2017

Dr. Horst Schiessl

Chairman



CoRPoRAte GoVeRNANCe

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
of Softing AG support many suggestions and rules 
of the German Corporate Governance Code and 
declare that they were and will be in compliance 
in the future with the recommendations regard-
ing conduct contained in the Code’s current and 
applicable version in the 2017 financial year, taking 
into account the exceptions and comments listed 
below. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
issued the Declaration of Compliance in December 
2017. Below, the Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board disclose and explain any deviations 
from the Code. You can download the full text of 
the Code from the Investor Relations section of our 
website at www.softing.com. 

1. Softing AG (hereinafter: the Company) will com-
ply with the recommendations of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code, as amended on Febru-
ary 7, 2017, with the following exceptions:

a. the executive Board’s duties to inform and 
report to the Supervisory Board are not speci-
fied in greater detail (Section 3.4 para 1 sen-
tence 3 of the Code).
The Supervisory Board has not specified the 
Executive Board’s duties to inform and report 
in greater detail because the Executive Board 
is already legally obligated to regularly inform 
the Supervisory Board about all material busi-
ness transactions without delay. In addition, 
the Supervisory Board has not had any reason 
to find fault with the Executive Board’s infor-
mation policy to date. 

b. the Company currently has not agreed a 
deductible for the D&o insurance taken out 
on behalf of the members of its Supervisory 
Board (Section 3.8 para 3 of the Code).
The Company does not believe that such a 
deductible could enhance the motivation 
and responsibility of the members of the 

Com pany’s Supervisory Board in carrying out 
their duties.

c. the Company does not maintain Declarations 
of Compliance with the German Corporate 
Governance Code at its website for five years 
(Section 3.10 sentence 3 of the Code).
It does not believe that it is necessary to store 
non-current Declarations of Compliance with 
the German Corporate Governance Code on 
its website for five years. Such postings do not 
offer new information relevant to the capital 
market.

d. No consideration was given to the relation-
ship between the remuneration of senior 
management and the staff overall, when 
determining the remuneration for the execu-
tive Board (Section 4.2.2 para 2 sentence 3 of 
the Code)
Section 4.2.2 para 2 sentence 3 of the Code 
recommends that the Supervisory Board con-
sider the relationship between the remunera-
tion of the Executive Board and that of senior 
management and the relevant staff overall, 
particularly in terms of its development over 
time. When the current director’s contracts 
of the Executive Board members were con-
cluded, the Supervisory Board ensured – in 
compliance with the requirements of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act – that the overall 
remuneration appropriately reflects the tasks 
and performance of the respective Executive 
Board member and does not exceed what is 
a customary level of remuneration. Using the 
customary calculation method, the determi-
nation of the Executive Board’s remuneration 
was oriented on the Company’s scope of busi-
ness, its economic and financial position and 
the structure of the Executive Board remu-
neration in place at comparable companies. 
Furthermore, consideration was given to the 
individual tasks and scope of responsibilities 
of the respective Executive Board member. 

Corporate Governance Report



99

To the extent that the Code, as amended, 
specifies reviewing the vertical appropriate-
ness of Executive Board remuneration, which 
is required by the German Stock Corporation 
Act, and provides a more detailed definition 
of both the peer groups relevant for compari-
son and the time period to which such a com-
parison applies, the Company as a precaution 
declares that it deviates from the Code. When 
reviewing vertical appropriateness, the Super-
visory Board did not distinguish between the 
peer groups of the Code recommendation and 
did not collect any data regarding the develop-
ment over time of the wage and salary struc-
ture, either. 

e. Variable remuneration components with a 
multiple-year, forward-looking assessment 
basis (Section 4.2.3 para 2 sent. 3 of the Code) 
Executive Board remuneration already 
includes a multiple-year assessment basis. 
However, this multiple-year assessment basis 
does not have essentially forward-looking 
characteristics. The Company believes that 
additional, essentially forward-looking char-
acteristics do not currently represent addi-
tional incentives for the Executive Board. The 
Supervisory Board and the Executive Board 
will, however, discuss a change in the assess-
ment basis for variable remuneration during 
the next year.

f. Diversity in the executive Board (Section 5.1.2 
para 1 sent. 2 of the Code)
When appointing the members of the Execu-
tive Board, the Supervisory Board cannot also 
respect diversity because the Company cur-
rently has only two Executive Board members. 
Given that the Executive Board comprises 
just two members – a number the Company 
believes to be adequate and whose positions 
will be filled for the foreseeable future – the 
recommendations in the Code to aim for diver-
sity do not appear feasible for the time being. 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board does not 
consider it appropriate to select Executive 
Board members based on criteria such as ori-
entation or race, but instead to rely on person-
ality and expertise only.

g. the Supervisory Board has not set up any 
committees (Sections 5.3.1, 5.3.2, 5.3.3 of the 
Code).
Given the size of the Supervisory Board (three 
members), setting up committees is not con-
sidered necessary. 

h. No age limit has been specified for members 
of the executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board (Section 5.1.2 para 2 sent. 3 and Sec-
tion 5.4.1 para 2 of the Code).
A specific age limit could be an undesired cri-
terion to exclude qualified members of the 
Executive Board or the Supervisory Board.

i. Specification of concrete objectives regarding 
the composition of the Supervisory Board and 
preparation of a profile of skills and expertise 
(Section 5.4.1 para 2, 3 and 4 of the Code).
The Company’s Supervisory Board will not 
specify any concrete objectives regarding its 
composition, nor has it prepared a profile of 
skills and expertise for the entire Supervisory 
Board. Up to now, the Supervisory Board has 
exclusively based its proposals for the nom-
ination of Supervisory Board members on 
the suitability of the male and female candi-
dates with the aim of creating a Supervisory 
Board whose members as a group possess 
the knowledge, skills and professional experi-
ence required to properly complete its tasks. 
The Supervisory Board firmly believes that this 
approach works, which is why it does not see 
any need to change this practice. In particular, 
the Company does not intend to implement 
the recommendation to set a regular limit 
of length of membership because as a rule, 
the Company wishes to have access to the 
expertise of experienced Supervisory Board 
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members as well. The Supervisory Board does 
not consider a predetermined limit for the 
maximum period of service appropriate, since 
the term of office for Supervisory Board mem-
bers stipulated in the law and Articles of Incor-
poration provide for a reasonable period for 
Supervisory Board mandates. Since the Super-
visory Board accordingly does not set specific 
targets regarding its composition and does 
not prepare a profile of skills and expertise, 
either, the recommendations in Section 5.4.1 
para 3 can not be followed. For this reason, 
the Company also cannot follow the recom-
mendations in Section 5.4.1 para 4, according 
to which proposals by the Supervisory Board 
to the General Meeting shall take these tar-
gets into account, while simultaneously aim-
ing at fulfilling the overall profile of required 
skills and expertise of the Supervisory Board. 
The implementation status can therefore not 
be published in the Corporate Governance 
Report, either. 

j. Performance-related remuneration shall be 
oriented toward sustainable growth of the 
enterprise (Section 5.4.6 para 2 sent. 2 of the 
Code)
In addition to fixed remuneration, the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board also receive 
performance-related remuneration based on 
consolidated EBIT before taking into account 
the Supervisory Board’s variable remunera-
tion. The Company’s Articles of Incorpora-
tion thus do not expressly require orienta-
tion toward sustainable growth of the enter-
prise. The Company continues to believe that 
basing performance-related remuneration 
on consoli dated EBIT of the respective finan-
cial year is a sensible approach, because due 
to the nature of its business, deliberate defer-
rals of expenses and income are hardly pos-
sible. Consolidated EBIT is a key performance 
indicator. Furthermore, no generally accepted 

model for basing the remuneration of Super-
visory Board members on a company’s sus-
tainable development has established itself 
in the capital markets to date. For the time 
being, the Company will continue to monitor 
the situation.

k. the Supervisory Board does not discuss quar-
terly or half-yearly financial reports with the 
executive Board prior to publication (Section 
7.1.2 sent. 2 of the Code).
The Company believes that a separate discus-
sion of the reports is not necessary because 
the Supervisory Board is informed regularly of 
the business transactions.

Since the publication of its most recent Declaration 
of Compliance in December 2015, Softing AG has 
generally been in compliance with the recommen-
dations contained in the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code as amended on February 7, 2017. The 
Company has not observed the following recom-
mendations: Section 3.4 para 1 sentence 3; Sec-
tion 3.8 para 3; Section 3.10, sentence 3; Section 
4.1.3 sentence 2; Section 4.2.2 para 2 sentence 3; 
Section 4.2.3 para 2 sentence 3; Section 5.1.2 
para 1 sentence 2; Section 5.3.1; Section 5.3.2; 
Section 5.3.3; Section 5.1.2 para 2 sentence 3; Sec-
tion 5.4.1 paras 2, 3 and 4; Section 5.4.6 para 2 
sentence 2; and Section 7.1.2 sentence 2.

Please see the explanations under no. 1 for the 
reasons for not observing the recommendations 
of the Code stated under no. 2.

Remuneration for the active members of the 
Supervisory Board in the 2017 financial year is pre-
sented in the notes of the 2017 annual report.  

Disclosures regarding directors’ dealings pursu-
ant to Section 15a German Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG) are published in the Investor Relations 
section of our website at www.softing.com.



CORPORATE BOARDS AND DIRECTORS’ HOLDINGS

Boards Shares Options

Sep. 30, 2017
Number

Dec. 31, 2017
Number

Sep. 30, 2017
Number

Dec. 31, 2017
Number

Supervisory Board

Dr. Horst Schiessl (chairman), attorney at law, Munich – – – –

Dr. Klaus Fuchs (member), graduate computer scientist  
and graduate engineer, Helfant

278,820 278,820 – –

Andreas Kratzer (member), certified public accountant, Zurich,  
Switzerland

10,155 10,155 – –

Executive Board

Dr.-Ing. Dr. rer. oec. Wolfgang Trier, Munich 122,221 122,221 – –

Ernst Homolka, Munich  1,800 1,800 – –

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

March 29, 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements / Annual Report 2017

May 09, 2018 Interim Management Statement Q1/3M 2018

May 09, 2018 General Shareholders’ Meeting 2018

August 14, 2018 Half-yearly Report Q2/6M 2018

November 15, 2018 Interim Management Statement Q3/9M 2018
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